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The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust

An nuAl  RepoRt  An d Accounts  2012 /13

presented to parliament pursuant to schedule 7, paragraph 25(4)  
of the national Health service Act 2006



RoyaL viSiT 
our patron, Her Majesty 

the Queen, graced us with 
her presence in February 

2013 to carry out the 
official opening of our 

new £3 million MRI scanner 
suite. during the visit, Her 

Majesty spoke to staff 
and patients and signed 
a commemorative photo 

for display in the new 
unit adjacent to the X-ray 

department.



the hospital 
staff were so 
thorough and 

reassuring, I am 
so pleased that 
I went there. 
I don’t think 
I could have 

gone anywhere 
better.
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This year 

2,291 
babies were  
born here

w H aT  w E ’ R E  G o o d  aT

Trauma care: our trauma care is amongst the best in europe. trauma patients 
here are twice as likely to survive.

orthopaedic care: the national Hip Fracture database named the QeH as one 
of the best trusts for hip replacements.

Knee surgery: the influential dr Foster Hospital Guide named the QeH as the 
best hospital in the country, outside of the south-west of england, for knee 
replacements.

value for money: For the fourth year in succession healthcare data 
benchmarking group cHKs named the QeH as one of the top 40 ‘best 
performing’ hospitals in the country in terms of value for money.

Catering: the annual patient environment Action team (peAt) survey, 
published by the nHs Health and social care Information centre in July 2012, 
rated our catering as “excellent” – and amongst the best of any nHs hospital. In 
addition, the Food standards Agency gave us a five-star rating for food hygiene.

2 0 12 /13  FaC T S  
&  F i G u R E S

we have 500 beds

during the year we 
handled 270,935 outpatient 
appointments

we had 35,913 in-patients

we carried out 33,353 day 
case procedures

2,291 babies were born here

we employed 1,176 nurses 
and midwives 

we also employed 205 
consultants and doctors

in total we have 2,659 staff

our Emergency department  
dealt with 55,636 cases, 
which averages around  
1,070 patients a week

our income in 2012/13  
was £167.38 million

we ended the year with a 
trading deficit of £865,000

We employed 

1,176 
nurses and  
midwives

We carried out 

33,353  
day case  

procedures

‘At a glance’ summary
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in the past year we have been preparing for major 
changes in the provision of healthcare brought about 
by the Health and Social Care act 2012, said to be the 
biggest change in the NHS since its foundation  
in 1948. 

this has involved working in close partnership with our 
colleagues in other nHs acute trusts, the mental health 
trust, the ambulance trust and, very significantly, with 
Gp partners in new clinical commissioning Groups 
(ccGs) in West norfolk, north cambridgeshire and south 
lincolnshire. the new Gp-led ccGs will determine the 
shape of local health services by allocating funds for the 
services most needed by their patients in their areas.

All nHs organisations have been tasked with making 
year-on-year efficiency savings while at the same time 
improving further the quality and availability of healthcare. 
For the Queen elizabeth Hospital this has been a major 
task involving staff throughout the trust. It is a credit 
to their commitment and passion for providing the best 
possible care that they have helped deliver these savings 
at the same time as they are carrying out the ‘day’ job – 
providing high quality care for our patients.

In line with national plans to centralise some key services 
and so improve efficiency and cost-effectiveness, the 
trust was involved this year in a major reorganisation 
of pathology services across the east of england. this 
saw many of our laboratory staff transferred to the 
employment of the norfolk and norwich university 
Hospitals nHs Foundation trust, along with the 

community-based work they had traditionally undertaken 
for Gps. We have also been key participants in the setting 
up of a new regional trauma network. emergency patients 
with severe injuries requiring specialist treatment are 
transferred to Regional trauma centres – which for our 
patients is Addenbrooke’s Hospital in cambridge. 

the quality of our services and our financial position 
are under constant scrutiny and review by a variety of 
regulatory bodies, notably Monitor and the care Quality 
commission. Inspections of our business and healthcare 
methods have identified a great deal that is excellent 
about this trust. However, we were found to be in 
‘significant breach’ of our authorisation as a Foundation 
trust by Monitor in January 2012, principally as a result of 
issues around our financial planning. the Board therefore 
meets Monitor on a monthly basis to review finance and 
performance and is working hard to deliver financial 
stability.

the cQc identified minor concerns in some areas of 
our patient records and immediate steps were taken to 
correct the issues. We are delighted to report that at 
an unannounced follow-up inspection in March 2013, 
the cQc found that all the standards previously raising 
concern are now being met. 

2012/13 proved to be a testing year at a time of major 
change in the nHs. We are very grateful for the hard work 
of our staff in delivering high quality healthcare, and for 
the support of our patients and community throughout 
this period.

chair and chief executive’s statement

patricia Wright
Chief Executive

Kate Gordon, cB
Chair
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contents

Directors’ report
About us: good care, honesty and prompt service
w H o  w E  a R E
the Queen elizabeth Hospital King’s lynn nHs Foundation 
trust (QeH) provides healthcare services at the Queen 
elizabeth Hospital, a 500-bed acute hospital which opened 
in 1980 and is located two miles outside King’s lynn town 
centre.

We provide healthcare to more than 240,000 people 
in West norfolk, north-east cambridgeshire, south 
lincolnshire and part of Breckland via the hospital and 
a number of outreach services at community hospitals 
and medical centres in our area.  In addition, the local 
population in norfolk can virtually double during the 
summer months, adding to demands on our accident and 
emergency services in particular.

w H aT  w E  d o
We have a great tradition of leading the way in many 
areas of healthcare which means we’re a top regional 
nHs hospital with an international reputation for quality 
healthcare. 

What’s the evidence? We are recognised as one of the 
safest hospitals in europe for our high standard and success 
rate in intensive care. our critical care ‘outcomes’ (in 
other words, did the patients get better or not) show that 
our mortality rate is 50% lower than that of most other 
nHs trusts. this means that patients with life-threatening 
conditions are twice as likely to survive if they are treated at 
the Queen elizabeth Hospital.

our success in other areas of healthcare has consistently 
placed us within the top 40 nHs hospitals in the 
country for our high standard of care (cHKs 
top Hospital awards).

In addition to trauma care we are 
noted nationally for the high 
quality of our orthopaedic, 
maternity and stroke care. our 
Haematology team is respected 
internationally for its world-class 
standards and our critical care 
consultants have an international 
reputation for inventing 
medical devices that are now in 
production, saving lives in critical 
care around the world.

We’re also the focus of attention for other reasons: we 
were honoured this year by a visit from our patron, Her 
Majesty the Queen, who formally opened our new MRI 
scanner suite. More about this later.

We are visited regularly by the care Quality commission 
whose inspectors not only examine our buildings, 
our services and the way we run them – they also ask 
patients for their views. Here’s an extract from a report 
on their visit in August 2012: “one person said, “I’ve no 
complaints about the care”, and another described staff 
as, "wonderful." Most people seemed to have a good 
understanding of their condition and told us about their 
treatment in a way that suggested there had been good 
consultation with medical staff and some involvement with 
their treatment choices.”

However, we recognise  there will always be room for 
improvement and the cQc visit identified that we needed 
to become more efficient in some areas of administration 
– ensuring all medical notes are properly maintained and 
documenting that we have involved patients in discussions 
concerning their care.

As with most other nHs Foundation trusts, 2012/13 
has been particularly challenging financially. We have to 
ensure we provide the health services demanded by our 
commissioners while at the same time working constantly 
to improve our efficiency in order to make our funding 
stretch ever further. the chart below shows where our 
money comes from. In the following pages we’ll show how 
it has been spent on behalf of our patients.

 Elective income  

 Non elective income  

A & E income  

 Outpatient income  

Private patient  
income  

 Other NHS clinical 
income 

 Education and training  

 Charitable donations  Other 
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we have worked closely as a team across the Trust, involving staff at all 
levels, to pinpoint the values that summarise our approach to patient care.

As part of our work during 2012/13 to update the trust’s wider strategy, the Board 
considered and developed a set of Values through a series of workshops.  the views 
of the new trust clinical directors were sought as part of this process.  

In parallel, during 2012/13, staff, governor and user engagement has also been 
underway to involve the wider workforce in the refresh of the trust values, and the 
resulting behaviours that everyone should expect in support of the values.  the aim 
is for these behaviours to be explicitly linked to the trust recruitment, induction and 
appraisal systems, and to underpin the behaviours of everyone in the organisation.  
 
the new trust Values to underpin our drive to deliver high quality and highly 
accessible services for our patients are set out below:

The QEH is an organisation where:

l We are dedicated to providing safe, quality and individualised care.

l We treat all people with respect, kindness and compassion.

l We display courage in our actions.

l We innovate and embrace new technologies.

l We value all staff equally and see teamwork as the basis of high quality care.

l We are open and honest in our relationships with patients, families and 
colleagues.

l We listen to learn.

our values
“I attended the 

dermatology 

department with my 

father-in-law, who is 

95 years old and has 

dementia, for a minor 

procedure. the care 

and consideration 

given to him was 

exceptional. I was 

very impressed in the 

way the consultant 

explained the 

procedure and 

probable cancer with 

dignity and respect. 

thank you  

for excellent care.”
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our vision for the future
T H i S  i S  w H E R E  w E  a R E  G o i N G

Geographically, we hold a key position, providing 
acute hospital care in an area that is part urban, 
largely rural and close to major transport arteries 
linking the east coast ports with industrial areas 
of the Midlands and north. our local population 
is varied and cosmopolitan, mixing families deeply 
rooted for generations in norfolk with more recent 
arrivals. But it also includes large numbers of older 
people who have retired to the seaside towns and 
villages of West and north norfolk. 

We have seen a major influx in recent years of 
younger families, adding a new vibrancy to the area. 
this includes families from overseas who are attracted 
here by work but find the friendly atmosphere and 
relaxed outdoor lifestyle makes West norfolk an ideal 
place to settle and raise children. this is reflected in 
our staff at the hospital, where we have more than 50 
nationalities represented. 

Altogether, we have a diverse population with varied 
needs. our challenge is to plan for their future 
healthcare in a way that fully meets their needs and 
expectations. to do this we have to look ahead five, 
ten and 15 years at a time.

o u R  a i M S

our immediate aim is to continue to be the preferred 
hospital for local people, providing easily-available 
emergency and specialist services at our main hospital 
and outreach clinics and surgeries. A vital link in our 
planning process is the continuing influence of our 
Foundation trust members and the public, via the 
governors who represent their interests.

our pledge to Foundation trust members and all 
other patients in our area is this:

l We will listen to our Foundation trust members 
and Governors before determining our aims and 
aspirations for the future.

l We will plan our services in partnership with Gps 
and work with our partners to provide a seamless 
service that meets the needs and demands of our 
local population. 

l We will invest in our hospital and find ways of 
improving our efficiency still further.

l We will aim to meet all national performance 
targets set for the nHs.

l We will strive to develop our services as an asset  
to the local area.

cAse study
NoaH patients go home two-by-two

A joint scheme run by the QeH and norfolk 
community Health and care to help patients avoid 
an overnight hospital stay following surgery was 
hailed a success. 

the noAH project – it stands for ‘no one At Home’ 
– assists patients who have no carer at home to look 
after them while they are recuperating from the 
effect of anaesthetic following surgery.
Arrangements can be made for them, where 
suitable, to have a healthcare assistant accompany 
them home and remain with them. this means that 
more patients can now opt for day surgery which 
frees-up beds for more seriously ill patients.

11
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We continue to aim to be a centre of excellence. Ideas developed by our staff, new 
services introduced over the year and investment in new technology all have one 
aim: to ensure we provide a top-quality health service that’s available to patients 
when they need it.

Here are some of the highlights and improvements we made during the 
year:

a p R i L  2 0 12
l Matron lynda stockwell and sister leanne Allen were praised by the Royal 

college of nursing, via nursing standard magazine, for their ground-breaking 
work in setting up a telephone follow-up ‘friendly ear’ service for women who 
have concerns following hysterectomy. details of their work, which helps avoid 
readmissions, were later published in a national leaflet.

l the QeH threw its full support into a regional campaign to eradicate all avoidable 
grade 2 – 4 pressure ulcers, sometimes known as bed-sores.

l A new nurse-led service for women suffering the misery of an overactive bladder 
was set-up at the QeH. percutaneous tibial nerve stimulation (ptns) treatment 
was previously only available in norwich and now saves female patients from 
having to make an 85-mile round trip for help. 

M ay
l For the fourth year in succession the QeH was named as one of the uK’s top 40 

hospitals for patient safety, quality of care and quality of data. the award was 
made by data benchmarking Group cHKs.

l the two giant six-tonne ‘super magnets’ to power the trust’s new MRI scanners 
were craned over the hospital roof and lowered into the courtyard site of the £3 
million MRI suite.

l the hospital’s ‘front of house’ volunteers manning the main reception desk, took 
the Bronze Award in the West norfolk disability Forum opportunity Awards for 
the “quiet, calm and dignified way” they deal with hospital visitors.

cAse study
QEH inventions are saving  
lives around the world

When they are not busy saving 
lives, a team of QeH critical 
care consultants are likely to 
be dreaming-up yet another 
device that will help to save lives 
in operating theatres and on 
hospital wards around the world.

the award-winning team have 
already seen some of their medical 
devices go into commercial 
production and their hospital 
office doubles-up as an inventors’ 
laboratory.

during the year the team unveiled 
one of their latest production 
line successes, the endo-tracheal 
tube. this has already enabled 
respiratory infections to be 
reduced to less than 2% in critical 
care at the QeH, compared to 10-
20% in other hospitals. Around 
the world, mortality rates from 
respiratory infections in high 
dependency units are typically 
30%.

Infections arise when patients 
are on a ventilator, lying prone 
for five days or more. droplets 
of liquid from the stomach can 
seep back into the lungs via the 
plastic tracheal tube used with 
the ventilator and cause an 
infection. the new device captures 
this liquid in a reservoir in a 
pressurised cuff, from where it can 
be siphoned-off by nursing staff.

our achievements over the past year

photo courtesy of the eastern daily press
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J u N E
l the QeH was listed as having a mortality rate of around 

50% lower than the national average, meaning that 
patients in critical care with a life-threatening condition 
are twice as likely to survive here.

l Work was completed on a new obstetric theatre for the 
central delivery suite, providing improved facilities for 
dealing with complex births.

l outreach gynaecology services were launched at st 
George’s Medical centre, littleport.

l our Radiology team was granted accreditation to the 
Imaging services Accreditation scheme in view of the 
high standard and quality of their work – only the second 
hospital in the east of england ever to have done so.

J u Ly
l More patients have been offered day surgery, which 

helps them – in line with their wishes - avoid an overnight 
hospital stay. It also frees-up hospital beds for more 
seriously ill patients.

l More local people were encouraged to become organ 
donors via a media campaign during transplant Week. 
staff who have received or donated organs (such as a 
kidney) were interviewed.

l QeH tissue Viability nurses were voted top by their peers 
from across the nHs Midlands and east region for their 
work on reducing pressure ulcers.

au G u S T
l the QeH was awarded a Gold Medal for recruiting the 

highest number of patients to take part in a national 
study of patients with severe sepsis. the aim of the study 
is to improve recovery outcomes for patients. Work 
carried out here could help to improve the health of 
patients across the country.

l Investing in our staff at all levels is one of our priorities. 
they will be running the nHs of the future so we want 
them to be the best. our apprenticeship scheme and our 
work in helping young people with learning disabilities 
onto the employment ladder were both praised.

S E p T E M B E R
l A major improvement programme began on the hospital 

car park to create more spaces.
l security for patients and staff was improved still further 

with the opening of a police office on site.
l A national survey of cancer patients revealed they had 

voted the QeH into the top 20% of trusts for nine 
different aspects of patient care. However, they felt 
that the trust fell short of expectations for the amount 
of information available regarding choice of treatment, 
follow-on support groups and entitlement to free 
prescriptions.

l A £400,000 upgrade was completed for the neonatal 
Intensive care unit (nIcu). Funding included £150,000 

raised in an appeal in conjunction with the lynn news 
and its readers.

o C T o B E R
l the critical care unit was highlighted as one of the best 

in europe.
l QeH critical care consultants triumphed yet again at 

the Health enterprise east awards event with their latest 
invention – specialist chest drain forceps. When these 
go into commercial production they will be used in 
operating theatres around the world to help save lives.

l Maternity care at the QeH is amongst the safest in the 
country. For the second year in succession our maternity 
team scored 100% in the clinical negligence scheme 
for trusts (cnst), an nHs insurance assessment of safety 
standards.

N ov E M B E R
l our new transport incubator, purchased with £32,000 

raised by readers of the lynn news and other fundraisers, 
was officially unveiled on World prematurity day – 17 
november.

l We achieved 190 tonnes of recycled waste over the 
previous 12 months. our income-generation and costs 
saved by not sending waste to landfill resulted in a saving 
of £185 a tonne for the trust.

l A pink dot system was introduced to identify patients 
potentially at risk from developing pressure ulcers, 
sometimes known as bed sores.

l A new £840,000 extension to the chemotherapy Room 
at the Macmillan centre was officially ‘topped out’ to 
signify completion of the main structure.

d E C E M B E R
l car park improvements commenced with the moving of 

the earth bank adjacent to the A149 by-pass, to create 
170 additional parking spaces. With additional work in 
other areas, this has led to the creation of more than 200 
spaces during the year under review.

l A new 44-bed elective care unit was opened on the 
former denver and elm wards.

J a N ua Ry  2 0 13
l A treatment and Investigation unit to deal with minor 

procedures and complex treatments, transferred to 
Marham ward to allow an expansion of work – dealing 
with up to 75 patients a week.

l the success of project search, which offers college 
of West Anglia students with learning difficulties  job 
opportunities within the hospital, was marked by the 
presentation of an award by the Mayor of King’s lynn 
and West norfolk, cllr. Geoffrey Wareham.

our achievements over the past year
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cAse study
Royal event for new unit

Increasing demand for diagnostic 
services is being met by our new 
MRI unit which was officially 
opened on 5 February by Her 
Majesty the Queen.

the £3 million unit was 
constructed in a former 
courtyard area between 
Radiology and the pharmacy. 
the two new scanners, both 
of which contain powerful six-
tonne magnets, replace the 
former single scanner which had 
reached the end of its useful 
working life.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging 
uses strong magnetic fields and 
radio waves to produce detailed 
images of the inside of the body. 
these help with the diagnosis 
of conditions affecting organs, 
tissue and bone.

F E B R ua Ry
l the trust was publicly praised by the Hospital liaison committee for Jehovah’s 

Witnesses for its pioneering work and enlightened attitude in treating patients 
who refuse blood products for religious or other reasons.

l QeH catering was featured in the BBc one television series ‘operation Hospital 
Food’, with celebrity chefs James Martin and Galton Blackiston. Galton’s verdict 
on our food? “It’s very good. It really is!”

M a R C H
l the second annual ‘shining stars’ awards were launched to recognise staff for 

their effort and hard work in caring for patients. 
l QeH chief executive patricia Wright joined the 40-strong ranks of hospital ‘Meal 

Mates’ to assist with patient nutrition on wards at meal times.

cAse study
our Chief Exec takes to the wards

one of our main concerns continues to be nutrition and 
hydration. Food and drink play a vital role in recovery, so 
we ensure our in-patients have protected mealtimes on 
the wards. this means that all other activity must cease 
– even doctors’ ward rounds – while patients take their 
meals.

our innovative ‘Meal Mates’ scheme, under which all staff 
are able to volunteer to help with serving meals on wards 
and assisting patients to eat, has been a huge success.

staff who volunteer to help patients with feeding 
difficulties give up part of their own meal break to help 
out – and this includes chief executive patricia Wright 
when other duties permit.

14

HM the Queen is shown round the MRI scanner control room by consultant 
radiologist dr dan Rose
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cAse study
Car parking

In recent years the trust has seen a rise in the number of 
complaints relating to car parking difficulties. It has long 
been recognised that improvements were needed to the 
car parking arrangements. discussions with our planning 
authority, the Borough council of King’s lynn and West 
norfolk, led to a rationalisation of existing spaces, plus 
provision of an additional parking area, which increased 
our overall number of spaces by around 200. spaces closer 
to the hospital buildings have been identified by blue 
marking and are reserved just for patients and public.

Monitoring of the parking situation has revealed that 
spaces are now available for visitors and patients even at 
the busiest times. the current number of spaces – 1400 
– is considered to be adequate for our needs for the 
immediate future.

 

continuing problems with exiting the car park onto 
Gayton Road during the evening peak time have led 
to the trust’s participation in borough council-led 
improvements to the traffic flow in the immediate 
vicinity of the hospital. this has involved removal of 
fencing and hedging along the hospital frontage onto 
Gayton Road and the A149 to allow an additional slip 
road to be created onto the A149 for traffic heading 
towards Hunstanton and Fakenham.

Remaining issues to be resolved over coming months 
relate to the car park payment system. A ‘pay on exit’ 
barrier system would be the ideal solution although the 
present car park configuration does not lend itself to 
this option without considerable investment. A number 
of alternative options for future management of the car 
park remain under review.

counter Fraud provision is provided by ceAc, an nHs 
consortium that also provides the trust with Internal Audit 
services. this provides a route, independent of the trust’s 
line management, for staff and patients to raise any areas 
of concern they may have in relation to the activities of 
their colleagues, patients or contractors.

the continuing financial challenge facing the economy 
and trust make it imperative that staff take responsibility 
for ‘safeguarding’ the public purse, and reporting issues 
that may be fraudulent in a prompt fashion will assist in 
achieving this. 

the lcFs officer undertakes promotional work across the 
trust and is regularly on site where his visible presence 
assists in deterring and identifying fraudulent activity. He 
is a regular attendee at Audit committees and has direct 
access to the Board of directors through the executive 
sponsor, david stonehouse, the director of Resources. 

during the year under report there has been no financially 
significant fraudulent activity identified and the trust 
management team remains committed to ensuring 
concerns raised are investigated in a professional and timely 
manner. 

local counter Fraud service
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during 2012/13 we employed full and part-time staff as follows:

l Medical and dental                                                 341
l administration and estates                                      463
l Healthcare assistants and other support staff       350
l Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff          804
l Scientific, therapeutic and technical                        348
l other 353

our staff

S Ta F F  S u R v E y
the staff opinion survey results for 2012 returned another positive set of findings when 
considered in the context of another challenging year for the nHs. this was the tenth year 
of the survey and we saw the previous 38 areas of questioning reduce to 28, thus making 
direct comparative findings a little difficult in some areas. A total of 446 staff participated in 
the survey, a return rate of 54%, which was a decrease of 8% on the previous year. the trust 
continues to feature highly amongst the best 20% of trusts in seven of the 28 available areas:

The five best ranking Trusts scores were:
1. staff motivation at work
2. staff receiving health and safety training in the last 12 months
3. staff saying hand washing materials are always available
4. staff job satisfaction
5. staff feeling pressure in the last three months to attend work when feeling unwell

Notable areas where staff experience has deteriorated include:
1. staff suffering work related stress in the last 12 months
2. staff working extra hours
3. staff recommendation of the trust as a place to work or receive treatment.

Notable areas where staff experience has improved are:
1. staff able to contribute towards improvements at work
2. staff appraised in last 12 months.

In addition, we are encouraged by an improvement to last year’s response in respect of 
staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and patient care they are able to provide. 
overall we have returned another solid set of results for 2012 whilst highlighting 
several areas in which to concentrate our efforts to achieve continued improvement.    

We have now established a multi-disciplinary working group – comprising of senior 
nursing staff/management, HR, Finance and communications – tasked with devising 
and implementing a number of strategies to continually attract registered nursing 
staff to the trust to meet traditional 'turnover' levels. these have included targeted 
recruitment campaigns, recruitment fairs and high profile local and national advertising 
campaigns via a range of media. on a longer term basis the trust will be optimising the 
student 'supply chain' and strengthening its links with local schools and colleges.

cAse study
September 2012

QeH Associate practitioner in 
transfusion, donna Knight - the 
first person ever to be appointed 
to that role in the uK – received 
an award at the British Blood 
transfusion society’s annual 
meeting for her work on the use 
of emergency o negative blood.
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overall 2 0 12 2 0 11 Trust improvement/deterioration

Response rate tRust 
 
 

54%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

50%

tRust 
 
 

62%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

54%

 

lower response rate than last year. 446 

QeH staff took part in this year’s survey

Top 4 ranking scores 2 0 12 2 0 11 Trust improvement/deterioration

 

KF25 staff motivation at work

(scale of 1 to 5 - higher the better)

tRust 
 
 

3.95

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

 
3.84

tRust 
 
 

3.95

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

3.82

 

Minimal change. still within the best 

20% of trusts

 

KF10 percentage of staff receiving health and 

safety training in last 12 months

tRust 
 
 

85%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

74%

tRust 
 
 

86%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

81%

 

Minimal change. still within the best 

20% of trusts

 

KF12 percentage of staff saying hand washing 

materials are always available

tRust 
 
 

69%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

60%

tRust 
 
 

75%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

66%

 

slight deterioration but still remaining 

within the best 20% of trusts

 

KF23 staff job satisfaction  

(scale of 1 to 5)

tRust 
 
 

3.67

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

 
3.58

tRust 
 
 

3.63

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

 
3.47

 

slight increase. still remaining within 

the best 20% of trusts

Bottom 4 ranking scores 2 0 12 2 0 11 Trust improvement/deterioration

 

KF17 percentage of staff experiencing physical 

violence from staff in last 12 months 

tRust 
 
 

4%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

3%

tRust 
 

under 
1%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

1%

deterioration. now within the worst 

20% of trusts. Figures reflect improved 

reporting.

KF13 percentage of staff witnessing  potentially 

harmful errors, near misses or incidents in last 

month

tRust 
 
 

38%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

34%

tRust 
 
 

36%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

34%

 

Minimal change. still within the worst 

20% of trusts

KF16 percentage of staff experiencing physical 

violence from patients, relatives or the public in 

last 12 months

tRust 
 
 

17%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

15%

tRust 
 
 

8%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

8%

deterioration. now worse than 

average.Figures reflect rise in older 

patients without capacity.

 

KF28 percentage of staff experiencing 

discrimination at work in last 12 months

tRust 
 
 

13%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe 

11%

tRust 
 
 

11%

nAtIonAl 
AVeRAGe  

13%

 

slight change. Remaining within the 

‘worst than average’ group

Ranking description
Key Finding areas 

2 0 12
Key Finding areas 

2 0 11 Comments

Best 20% 7 areas 21 areas excludes ‘overall staff engagement’

Better than average 9 areas 9 areas

Average 5 areas 4 areas

Worse than average 5 areas 3 areas

Worst 20% 2 areas 1 areas

ToTaL 28 areas 38 areas

S Ta F F  S u R v E y  2 0 12  R E S u LT S

S u M M a Ry  v i E w
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equal opportunities and disabled policy 
equality and diversity is central to the nHs constitution and the equalities agenda is at the heart 
of all we do both as an employer and service provider.

our aim is to have a skilled workforce which feels valued and respected. As a service provider it 
is imperative that we strive to provide equality of access, equality of experience and equality of 
outcome for the population we serve. 

We take an equally inclusive view of disability. We display the disability symbol to show that 
we have made five commitments regarding recruitment, training, retention, consultation and 
disability awareness.

Health & safety/occupational Health
the greatest asset we have, as a trust, continues to be our staff who at all levels throughout 
the organisation demonstrate their commitment to the welfare of our patients. looking after 
our staff and making sure they remain – quite literally – fit for purpose, is the role of our 
occupational Health team.

occupational Health is held in high regard throughout the trust for the valuable practical 
support and advice given to the overall hospital team. this led to occupational Health being 
selected as co-winners of the ‘shining stars’ staff award in 2012 for ‘Best support team’.

throughout the year staff from occupational Health took part in a number of projects and 
campaigns to ensure staff remain healthy.
these included:
l A trust-wide immunisation programme to protect staff from influenza.  

Altogether 43.5% of staff took advantage of the free flu jab.
l Health promotion campaigns to improve general health and wellbeing  

including alcohol awareness, back care, men’s health, mental health and hydration.
l providing a Health trainer for staff to allow one-to-one sessions to tackle weight, 

smoking, alcohol and to encourage general exercise.
l providing an on-site ‘tone Zone’ gym facility, available to all staff.

l offering training and support for manual handling, back care and  
   other health and safety issues.
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sickness absence data
the trust is committed to the prompt recording and swift 
and effective management of sickness absence. central 
to this is the electronic staff Record (esR) which is used 
to collect absence details as and when they happen. on a 
regular, scheduled cycle, a wide range of detailed reports 
are produced, the data from which forms the basis of our 
‘absence management’ approach. 
 
HR Business partners, occupational Health specialists, line 
Managers and staff side Representatives work closely to 
establish individual action plans for those staff that ‘trigger’ 
key indicators. the ‘top 50’ of those staff are the subject of 

focused remedial plans reviewed on a regular basis.  
In addition, the trust is committed to ‘absence prevention’ 
and has introduced a range of Health & Wellbeing 
initiatives to support staff in maintaining a healthy lifestyle 
and regular attendance at work. these have included a 
successful flu vaccination campaign, smoking cessation 
support and social groups for walking, running and 
dancing.
 
the reasons for absence remain many and varied, with 
greater insight now available via a developing list of 
absence ‘descriptors’ on the esR system. 

Reason for sickness

% of overall 
sickness  

March 2013

No. of overall 
episodes  

March 2012 to 
March 2013

% of overall 
sickness  

March 2012

No. of overall 
episodes  

March 2011 to 
March 2012

Musculo-skeletal 19.79 456 20.31  442

Anxiety/stress/depression 15.47 193 13.62  185

d & V   9.09 1079 10.41 1153

colds/coughs/Flu   6.99 891 6.64   740

Injury/Fracture   5.21 100 5.71   107

chest/Respiratory   4.47 252 4.68   210

Genitourinary & Gynae   3.65 147 3.47   135

cancer   3.50  14 3.67     20

ear/nose/throat   3.44 253 3.87   248

Heart/cardiac/circulatory   3.35  41 0.69     23

Absence management continues to be a key workforce 
performance indicator and as such is reviewed and 
monitored at department/Group and Board level on a 
regular basis. We seek further improvement upon the 
average monthly sickness absence figure of 4.5% returned 
during 2012/13. (comparative 2011/12 figure: 4.51%)
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partnerships – the way forward
during 2012/13 we have continued to build sound 
relationships with our healthcare partners at a local level, as 
well as ensuring that the trust is linked to national forums 
where it supports the development of high quality care in a 
rural setting.

A priority area for the year was working closely with Gp 
and management colleagues from the recently established 
West norfolk clinical commissioning Group, which was 
appointed the main commissioner of health care for the 
QeHKl from April 2013.  

In particular, our co-working to improve the delivery of 
high quality healthcare was demonstrated through the 
establishment of a new unscheduled care Board to help 
plan and deliver emergency care, and the agreement 
of new care pathways to speed up access to specialist 
treatment. the development of closer relationships between 
the hospital consultants and local Gps is a key priority for 
the next year.

In addition, relationships were developed with the 
equivalent newly established clinical commissioning 
Groups for Wisbech, Isle of ely, and south lincolnshire, 
where discussions focused on how to develop local, 
easily accessible care for more routine appointments and 
procedures. this is demonstrated by the outreach services 
provided at the north cambridgeshire Hospital, Wisbech 
and the growing range of services provided at the st 
Georges Medical practice in littleport. 

during the year we commenced a new partnership 
with the Fakenham Medical practice. Across Fakenham 
and littleport, we now provide a growing range of 
local clinical services including ophthalmology, General 
surgery, urology, Gynaecology, Rheumatology, Audiology, 
Midwifery, and Gastroenterology.

no acute hospital provides integrated care on its own and 
we continue to work closely with many organisations:

l on site, the east of england Ambulance service and  
the norfolk and suffolk nHs Foundation trust have  
co-located services.  

l Across West norfolk, and within the hospital, we work 
in partnership with the norfolk community Health and 
care nHs trust to seek to improve care pathways, and 
a well-coordinated discharge for those patients needing 
on-going care in the community. For the future we have 
extended our joint Rapid Assessment and treatment 
service to work over weekends in support of arranging 
therapy and care for patients at home, and developed 
closer working relationships with swaffham community 
Hospital.  

Robust professional links are maintained with regional 
centres responsible for the specialist care of some of our 
cancer, neuro and heart patients – for example, the norfolk 
and norwich university Hospitals nHs Foundation trust, 
cambridge university Hospitals nHs Foundation trust and 
papworth Hospital nHs Foundation trust.  

our stroke service is part of a wider eastern network to 
ensure the best rapid care for patients, and during 2012/13 
the Queen elizabeth Hospital King’s lynn nHs Foundation 
trust, the norfolk and norwich university Hospitals nHs 
Foundation trust and the James paget university Hospitals 
nHs Foundation trust successfully developed the eastern 
pathology Alliance to tender for, and retain, the provision 
of pathology within the county. similarly, we have now 
developed integrated vascular specialist services with the 
norfolk and norwich and cambridge hospitals.

during the year the newly established Academic Health 
science network took shape, with a norfolk network of 
health and academic partners including the university 
of east Anglia, norfolk and norwich and James paget 
hospitals, nHs norfolk and suffolk and the QeH. this forum 
is developing best clinical practice for the local area.

At a local level we continue to work closely with the 
Borough council of King’s lynn and West norfolk, in 
particular relating to the hospital site and the longer 
term strategic development of services for the local area.  
We also have strong links with norfolk county council, 
particularly through the social services teams based on site 
at the QeH, who support patients’ onward-care needs.
our wider partnership and support was demonstrated at 
the newly established shining stars staff awards ceremony, 
to recognise the many individual and team achievements in 
providing high quality care within this trust. these awards 
were sponsored by many local companies, suppliers and  
media.

Finally, in recognition that health care services are 
increasingly complex, we have begun to develop a range 
of partnerships with local and national voluntary or private 
organisations, where together, we can provide an enhanced 
service. this approach will continue in the future, with the 
anticipation of new contracts that cover a care pathway, 
rather than a single acute episode of care.
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cAse study
Macmillan project was a real community 
effort

We are privileged to enjoy good professional 
relationships with a number of ‘household 
name’ charities and healthcare providers. 
our links with Macmillan cancer support 
for example, extend back many years. staff 
from the QeH and Macmillan jointly run our 
Macmillan centre which, during the year, 
underwent an £840,000 building extension 
and overall refurbishment. this was jointly 
funded by Macmillan cancer support, the 
trust and hospital charitable funds.

the 45m² extension has allowed more space 
for the nine ‘chairs’ – treatment stations – in 
the chemotherapy suite, with the potential to 
increase to 12 chairs. the new chemo chairs 
include two paid-for by listeners to local radio 
station KlFM, who raised funds during a 
‘charity of the Month’ appeal.

Building work continued throughout the 
winter and the enhanced unit was officially 
opened by Macmillan chief executive ciaran 
devane on 27 April.

Former chemotherapy 
patient lilla Wilmerson 
returned to the 
Macmillan centre  
to ‘top out’ the new 
building extension, 
marking completion  
of the main structure, 
in november 2012.  
she was assisted by 
deputy chief executive 
Mark Henry.



social and community links
during the year the trust took part in a number of joint initiatives to foster 
links with our local community. these included successful schools careers 
fairs aimed at years five and six and a continuation of our highly successful 
collaboration with the college of West Anglia and Remploy on ‘project 
search.’ this initiative offers young people with learning difficulties 
an opportunity to gain experience of the workplace by offering them 
meaningful jobs on a rotational basis.

staff from our Human Resources team visited local schools to take part in 
careers fairs and promotional events, and local schools were invited to the 
hospital to allow our potential employees of tomorrow to see some of the 
wide variety of possible careers on offer.

cAse study
Students cross the bridge to employment

“Absolutely fantastic!” that’s the verdict of 21-year 
old Jason Brown on project search, the joint initiative 
between the college of West Anglia, the Queen 
elizabeth Hospital and Remploy that trained  and helped 
him secure a job as a hospital porter. 

project search acts as a ‘bridge to employment’ for 
students with learning difficulties and helps them 
combine studies with a rotational work placement, 
hopefully leading to full-time employment. the scheme 
has proved so successful in West norfolk that it received 
an award for placing up to 70% of students in paid 
employment.

chair of the QeH Board of directors, Kate Gordon, 
said: “one of the most important things we are doing 
is trying to ensure that the hospital in King’s lynn is not 
just a hospital where people come for their sickness 
problems but is a great asset for the whole community.  
our young colleagues have come here learning about life 
skills and finding out what it’s like in a hospital.”

Mark Reavell from the college of West Anglia said: 
“We are very proud of this partnership. our Foundation 
students have found it very difficult to get work 
experience and to be able to move into the workplace. 
project search has given that worthwhile opportunity 
to a range of students to benefit greatly from the 
experience they have had.”

 

last word from Jason Brown, who said: “this scheme 
has been a great help. I really love working and this has 
helped to boost my confidence and independence. It’s a 
good start in life.”

Jason Brown and Kayleigh Bell, two of our successful 
project search students with an award presented by the 
Mayor of King’s lynn and West norfolk

22

2 012 / 13  A n n uA l  R e p o R t  A n d Ac c o u n t s  l  d i R e c t o R s’  R e p o R t

local school pupils tried some ‘hands on’ activities 
during careers visits to the hospital
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one of our continuing challenges is to match our services 
to the needs of our population. For some years now the 
balance of the population in West norfolk has tended to 
shift steadily towards older, retired people, many of whom 
have moved to norfolk as a retirement area.

the effect on our services has been to place heavy 
demand on all areas related to the treatment of patients 
with long-term conditions who may, in addition, develop 
acute conditions requiring hospital admission. this gives 
us additional pressures of treating patients with extremely 
complex conditions, knowing that they will almost certainly 
need continuing care once they have been discharged from 
hospital.

the discharge process in recent years has led to pressure 
on our health and social care colleagues in the community 
who are obliged to arrange continuing care packages for 
the patients. their difficulties may be compounded by the 
fact that many older patients have no active, younger family 
close by to keep an eye on them while they recuperate at 
home. this can delay discharge arrangements or necessitate 
space being found temporarily in a residential home, if 
there are vacancies. to address this problem, and to assist 
with the steady flow of patients through the hospital until 
they are fit for discharge, a number of initiatives have been 
trialled.

during the year we formed a specialist discharge planning 
team and appointed emma coulson as manager and 
co-ordinator. nursing and administration staff are led by 
sandra Roberts, plus four senior nursing staff, a team of 
four ward liaison staff and three operations clerks. At any 
one time they will be arranging the discharge of upwards of 
60 patients.

However, despite the best efforts of our medical, nursing 
and administration teams and our forward planning,  there 
are often unknown factors that can impede progress. the 
extraordinarily-long winter of 2012/13, for example, put 
further pressure on our services to the extent that the 
hospital was running at full capacity for much of the winter 
and early spring.

pressures caused by the long winter and higher than 
predicted admissions also impeded our longer-term plans 
for a dedicated elective care unit. the unit was opened in 

december on the combined denver and elm wards, with 
the intention of ring-fencing elective care beds for patients 
admitted for non-emergency operations. the sheer volume 
of emergency patients over the winter, many of them very 
seriously ill, meant that reserving these beds for non-urgent 
cases was not always feasible.

T H E  o T H E R  d i M E N S i o N S
Having good nursing and medical therapies is only part of 
the recovery process for our patients. We also help to build 
them up physically with good, home-cooked food from our 
award-winning in-house catering team.

In the autumn of 2012, the QeH was one of a handful 
of nHs trusts to take part in filming for the BBc one tV 
series ‘operation Hospital Food’, which was broadcast in 
February. celebrity chef Galton Blackiston of Morston Hall, 
declared our food was “really, really good” and assisted our 
team in progressing improvements to dining facilities and 
also adding to our vegetarian menu.

QeH Head chef stewart nimmo said:“Food is really 
important to patients when they are recovering. All our 
meals have to be checked thoroughly by a dietician for 
nutritional values. patients on the mend need quite a high 
calorie intake to help build them up. 

“our collaboration with Galton Blackiston was useful in 
developing some alternative vegetarian dishes. I think 
it’s fair to say that we learned from Galton – but he also 
learned from us; in particular that catering for patients is 
more complex than most people realise.”

our patients

Galton Blackiston and QeH Head 
chef stewart nimmo
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“the nurses and 

ward staff were 

fantastic when I 

had to be admitted 

onto denver ward 

for surgery last 

week. I was on the 

emergency operation 

list due to a missed 

miscarriage. I could 

not have asked for 

better care. they 

were thoughtful 

and considerate to 

both myself and my 

partner at a time 

which was most 

awful for us both.”

added to therapies and catering care  
there is a third dimension 
 – spiritual care.
our chaplaincy forms a key part of 
the hospital team. the four chaplains 
provide an inter-faith presence on the 
wards, supported by volunteers and 
visiting representatives from some of 
the many faith groups represented in 
our patient and staff ‘community’. 

In their own words, this is what the 
chaplains offer patients, visitors and staff:

“Being a hopeful presence for the whole  
QeH community.”

“on-going support for patients and their loved ones at times of 
difficulty, anxiety, disappointment, loss and bereavement - but also  
to share times of joy, hope and recovery”.

“Increasing time spent with the support of colleagues across the whole 
spectrum of staff and volunteers.”

“encouraging colleagues to smile - even when we just need to grin and 
bear it!”

the chaplains also lend their expertise and calm reassurance in more formal ways. 
during the year, amongst many other round-the-clock duties, they: 
l continued participation in palliative care Multi-disciplinary teams
l Were represented on the ethics and organ donation committees 
l undertook further development of spiritual care training for nursing staff 
l launched 'come & sing' – a spiritual well-being initiative for staff. 

paT i E N T  F E E d B aC K
We love to hear positive comments from our patients because it tells us they have 
had a good experience and that we have looked after them to their satisfaction 
during their treatment.

negative comments from patients or their families are comparatively rare and 
sometimes reflect the family stress associated with an un-planned hospital stay. 
their honesty is appreciated because it helps us to find ways of improving any 
aspects of our overall care that may not be up to expected standards.

what could have been improved?
“nurses’ selfish attitudes”
“Honesty with patients and their family.” 
“not blaming the other shift.” 
“Be more observant with patients that can’t weight-bear. 
“not to leave them struggling until they fall.”
“Falls not being logged.” 
“sisters to observe more what is going on in their wards. they seem completely 
unaware.” 
“I found the nurses rude.” 
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since security officers were introduced in February 2012, 
they have dealt with more than 550 incidents ranging from 
anti-social behaviour, intruders and aggressive people, to 
illegal drug use and missing patients.

Additional benefits have also arisen from the opening of 
a police office based in the main entrance. A snapshot of 
police data for the period February 2012 to March 2013, 
compared to the same period in 2011-12, shows that:

l antisocial behaviour is down by 71.8% since the 
introduction of security

l violence has been reduced by 18.2%          
l Missing patient calls to police were down by 12.4%

since July 2012 norfolk police have not been called upon to 
deal with any incidents within the hospital, since these are 
now all managed by the trust’s security staff.

H E a LT H  a N d  S a F E T y
the trust has experienced a successful year with regards to 
Health & safety management. there has been an increase 
in the % compliance of local H&s audits now achieving an 
average score of over 90%. there has been a perceived 
reduction in violence and aggression incidents on staff, 
fewer needlestick injuries, fewer manual handling incidents 
and a reduction in slips, trips and falls.

security
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security was boosted still further during the autumn with the 
opening of a police office near the hospital‘s main entrance
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the trust has involved patients and the public in a number of ways during the year. these 
included public consultation on the first draft of the patient and carer experience strategy. In 
addition trust Governors and staff have contributed to and/or participated in:
l West norfolk older people’s Forum
l General practice patient participation Groups in north and West norfolk
l West norfolk Maternity services liaison committee
l Visits by members of norfolk lInk (local Involvement network)
l Foundation trust members’ focus groups and workshops on a range of topics including 

car parking, improving the inpatient experience, improving the outpatient experience and 
providing better information about the process of discharge from inpatient care.

the first ‘shining stars’ Awards were made in conjunction with the lynn news and KlFM in 
which members of the public and patients were able to nominate a team, individual member of 
staff or volunteers for outstanding service.

open events and visits for patients and their carers to attend included:
l the endoscopy suite
l Information day on Irritable Bowel syndrome
l dignity day
l nine Board meetings were held in public

the trust continues to develop and monitor its sustainable development plan and is committed 
to becoming more energy efficient. emphasis during the current year has been on improving 
energy management and development of a new combined heat and power plant.
We continue to re-cycle, where possible, all waste generated throughout the trust to minimise 
the amount being sent to landfill. Arrangements for collection and disposal of waste have been 
further improved during the year with the introduction of colour-coded waste disposal bags and 
plans for a new secure confidential waste bin system. 

27th March 2012
The Duke’s Head Hotel, King’s Lynn

Involving patients and public 

environment and sustainability
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during the year the trust received 556 formal complaints 
(compared to 516 in 2011/12) and dealt with 70% of them 
within the target timescale of 25 working days. of these 
91.5% were resolved locally following a first response.
 
Aspects of Medical and nursing care were the most cited 
issues, while lack of communication, poor staff attitude and 
lack of treatment or examination are identified as the most 
reported subjects. the trust is currently developing values 
and behaviours standards. once these are established, 
customer care workshops will be mandatory for all staff 
and the focus will be on listening, communication, manner 
and attitude.

complaints received by the trust are handled in accordance 
with the principles of Good complaints Handling guidance, 
which was published by the parliamentary Health service 
ombudsman on 28 november 2008, and which the trust 
has adopted.
 
during the year 1,162 patients or their relatives wrote 

letters of thanks to the chief executive, complimenting the 
trust for the good care patients received and praising staff 
for their high levels of professionalism. 
 
the Board of directors receive regular updates on 
complaints and compliments.  In particular, the Board is 
briefed on examples of individual patient’s experiences 
or issues generated as a result of their care whilst with 
the trust. our pAls (patient Advise and liaison service) 
team acts on behalf of patients and their families, when 
requested, and has been able to resolve a large variety of 
issues during the year, leading to positive outcomes.
 
At all times the Board studies the causes and outcomes 
of these patient issues with a view to finding ways in 
which the trust may improve its performance. Where 
there has been room for improvement, immediate action 
is authorised so that we learn from any negative patient 
experiences and strive to ensure that performance is 
corrected in these areas.

compliments and complaints
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Governance
Monitor expects Foundation trusts to be well-governed and has published a 
code of Governance which provides guidance on best practice. Foundation 
trusts are required to report whether they comply with each of the 
provisions of the code of Governance or, where appropriate, to explain why 
the trust has departed from the code.  

At 31st March 2013, the Board of directors declares compliance with the 
provisions of Monitor’s code of Governance.

29
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The Board of directors has, during 2012/13, met 
in public on nine occasions. The Board also meets 
in private where its debate considers issues which 
are commercially sensitive. The Board also meets in 
workshop settings to undertake strategic planning 
and development activities.

the Board of directors has a clear process in place in 
accordance with Monitor’s code of Governance to ensure 
that the Board reviews its skills, experience and attributes 
against the strategic requirements of the business and the 
legal and regulatory framework.  the Board and Governors’ 
council uses this skills analysis for succession planning 
purposes.  the Board judges that at 31st March 2013, 
the Board is complete, there being no current vacancies, 
and that directors’ skills are balanced and appropriate for 
the delivery of the statutory duties of the Board and the 
trust’s strategy, in accordance with Monitor’s code of 
Governance. 

T H E  R o L E  o F  T H E  B oa R d  o F  d i R E C T o R S   
the Board of directors has a dual role; leadership and 
control. It has collective responsibility for setting the 
strategic direction of the organisation and for overseeing 
and ensuring the delivery of its strategy and the 
performance of the organisation.

Some of the responsibilities of the Board of directors
to ensure that the trust meets its statutory duties and 
complies with its terms of authorisation and its constitution. 

to ensure that the organisation’s policy framework is 
developed in accordance with the rights, pledges and 
responsibilities contained in the nHs constitution. 

to provide leadership for the organisation in respect of 
agreed organisational values and standards of conduct, in 
accordance with accepted standards of behaviour in public 
life, which include the principles of selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, openness, honesty and leadership (nolan). 

to establish a robust performance management 
framework and support the executive team in meeting 
the organisation’s performance targets; monitoring the 
performance of the trust and ensuring that the executive 
directors manage the trust within the resources available, 
in such a way as to: 
l	ensure the quality and safety of healthcare services; 
l plan for continuous improvement; 
l protect the health and safety of trust employees and all 

others to whom the trust owes a duty of care; 
l utilise trust resources efficiently and effectively; 
l promote the prevention and control of Healthcare 

Associated Infection; 
l comply with all relevant regulatory, legal and code of 

conduct requirements; 
l Maintain high standards of ethical behaviour, corporate 

governance and personal conduct in the business of the 
trust; 

l Maintain the high reputation of the trust both with 
reference to local stakeholders and the wider community; 

l to engage, as appropriate, with the Governors’ council, 
in accordance with the statutory and regulatory 
framework and the trust’s ‘Working together’ strategy. 

T H E  C o N S T i T u T i o N
the trust’s constitution sets out the governance rules for 
the organisation. the trust’s constitution is published on 
the trust’s website in the corporate Governance section.  
the Board confirms that in 2012 – 13, the trust operated in 
accordance with its constitution.

T H E  C H a i R  a N d  S E N i o R  i N d E p E N d E N T 
d i R E C T o R
In a Foundation trust, the chair heads both the Board of 
directors and the Governors’ council. the Queen elizabeth 
Board has also appointed a senior Independent director 
who has particular duties regarding working with the 
Governors’ council and Board of directors to address any 
issues where it is inappropriate for the chair to do so.

As at 31st March 2013, the Board of directors was made up 
of the chair, five non-executive directors and five executive 
directors.  the five executive board positions at 31st March 
were: the chief executive; the director of Resources; the 
lead for patient safety & Medical director; the director of 
patient experience & lead for nursing and non-Medical 
professionals, and the director of clinical services. the 
meetings of the Board of directors have also been 
supported by the director of planning and performance and 
the director of strategy and transformation.

the chair has no other significant commitments which have 
an adverse impact on her role as chair of the Foundation 
trust. 

i N d E p E N d E N C E  o F  T H E  N o N - E x E C u T i v E 
d i R E C T o R S 
the independence of the non-executive directors has been 
assessed against the criteria set out in Monitor’s code of 
Governance and all non-executive directors have been 
determined to be independent in character and judgement.  
no relationships or circumstances have been identified, 
which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, 
directors’ judgement.

All directors are required to complete and keep up to date 
their declarations of Interest, which are recorded in the 
Register of directors’ Interest. For a copy of the register 
contact the company secretary on 01553 613614.

the Board of directors
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Kate Gordon CB Non-Executive director
cHAIR

Kate joined the Board of the Queen elizabeth Hospital in January 2006 from West norfolk 
primary care trust. she was appointed chair of the trust Board in october 2007 and currently 
chairs both the Board of directors of the Foundation trust and the Governors’ council.
Before joining the nHs as a non-executive director, Kate had a distinguished career in the  
civil service, working in the cabinet office, the Foreign and commonwealth office, deFRA  
and the Health & safety executive. she was awarded the honour of companion of the  
order of the Bath in 1999.
In addition to chairing the Board of directors, Kate is a member of the nomination and 
Remuneration, Finance and Investment, performance and standards and the Quality and Risk 
committees.

declared interests:
l Member and Audit committee member, Flagship Housing Group
l Member, West norfolk strategic partnership Group

the skills Kate brings to the Board include experience in corporate governance, local 
government, the public sector, strategy and wide experience in the political, economic and 
social environment.

Meet the Board of directors

Shawn Haney Non-Executive director and Senior independent director
cHAIR oF tHe FInAnce And InVestMent coMMIttee

shawn has a background in business strategy and marketing consultancy gained both in  
canada and the uK for companies including KpMG, oracle and canadian tire. He is active  
in local community affairs and serves as a parish councillor. shawn was reappointed as a ned 
in 2012 and sits as a member of the Board of directors, Audit and Quality & Risk committees.  
shawn has been chair of the Finance & Investment committee since 2009.

declared interests:
l Wife is a Gp, currently working in Gp filter at QeH
shawn’s particular skills are in business strategy, marketing, mergers and acquisitions and 
project management.

Sean Green Non-Executive director
cHAIR oF tHe peRFoRMAnce & stAndARds coMMIttee

sean has wide experience of the nHs gained with a london primary care trust and in the 
commercial world, working in a number of senior marketing, strategy and management roles 
for Aviva, pearson Government solutions and change management consultancy Greenfield 
consulting. outside work he is active in local education and is a non-executive director of a 
housing association. He is a member of the Board of directors, Audit, Finance & Investment, 
Quality & Risk committees and chairs the performance & standards committee.

declared interests:
l Greenfield consulting ltd
l consultant to south norfolk council
l Independent director – Wherry Housing (circle Anglia Group)
l consultant to norfolk county council
l Member of nHs task Force Financial Innovation

sean’s skills incorporate change management, project and programme management,  
strategy and marketing and It.
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anita McCallum Non-Executive director
cHAIR oF tHe cHARItABle Funds coMMIttee

Anita was appointed to the Board of directors in november 2012. she is currently a member  
of the Audit committee, Finance & Investment and the Quality & Risk committees. 
In her professional role Anita is Business Manager for the British and Irish orthoptic society 
which represents eye health professionals. she also works in other parts of the nHs as an 
interim leader and was instrumental in helping to establish the east Midlands local education 
and training Board, the body that replaces part of the function of the strategic Health 
Authority.

declared interests:
l director of Holly House Management services ltd
l current client: British & Irish orthoptic society
l client: east Midlands local education & training Board
l Fellow of the chartered Management Institute
l Adviser, care network cambridge (voluntary organisation)

Anita’s special skills are in communications and engagement, innovation and service 
transformation, change management and employment relations.

ian pinches Non-Executive director
cHAIR oF tHe AudIt coMMIttee

Ian is a Fellow of the Association of chartered certified Accountants (FccA) and is also a Fellow 
of the Royal society for the encouragement of Arts, Manufactures and commerce (FRsA). He 
owns his own business and his interests outside work include charitable housing. In addition 
to chairing the Audit committee, Ian is also a member of the Finance and Investment and the 
Quality & Risk committees.

declared interests:
l director and shareholder, crown House trading company ltd
l Board member and shareholder, Freebridge community Housing
l Fellow of the Association of chartered certified Accountants
l Fellow of the Royal society of Arts, Manufacturers and commerce

Ian’s specialist skills are in strategy and finance.

dr victoria Holliday Non-Executive director
cHAIR oF tHe QuAlIty & RIsK coMMIttee

Victoria was appointed to the position of ned in July 2011 and is also currently working as a 
Gp in Holt. she has a wide range of experience in healthcare development and delivery, most 
recently as a member of the clinical executive of nHs norfolk. Victoria has also had commercial 
experience in medical publishing in the usA.  Victoria is chair of the Quality & Risk committee 
and is also a member of the Finance & Investment and performance & standards committee.  

declared interests:
l Gp, Holt Medical practice (non principal)
l Member of norfolk and Waveney local medical committee
l trustee, Glaven caring committee

the special skills offered by Victoria include experience in primary care, commissioning, 
healthcare development and medical publishing.
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patricia wright Chief Executive

patricia joined the trust in 2011, bringing with her a wealth of experience gained within the 
nHs. she began her career as a pharmacist, progressing through senior management roles 
within the nHs, rising to become chief executive of nHs Kensington and chelsea in 2009.
during her career patricia has held a number of senior positions in nHs trusts. From 2001 – 
2003 she was chief operating officer at West Middlesex Hospital nHs trust before taking up 
a post as director of operations at epsom and st Helier Hospitals nHs trust in surrey. From 
2007 – 2009 she was strategic commissioning director of nHs north West london. patricia is a 
member of the Quality & Risk, Finance & Investment and performance & standards committees.

declared interests:
l Member of the General pharmaceutical council
l Member of the Royal pharmaceutical society 
l trustee and Member of the operations committee – Friends of the elderly
l Member of prime timers, a social enterprise providing consultancy and support to the 

voluntary sector
l consultant support to a voluntary organisation in leeds under the Health and social care 

Volunteering scheme (three days between october 2011–september 2012)
l editor of the cytotoxic Handbook

Mark Henry deputy Chief Executive. director of Clinical Services

Mark has held a number of senior roles in the nHs, working in acute hospitals, a strategic 
Health Authority and the department of Health. prior to joining the Queen elizabeth Hospital 
he held positions at leicestershire, northamptonshire and Rutland strategic Health Authority, 
Kettering General Hospital, the Modernisation Agency, Burton Hospitals nHs trust and united 
lincolnshire Hospitals nHs trust. In addition to the trust Board, Mark is a member of the 
Finance & Investment, Quality & Risk and the performance & standards committees.

declared interests: none

dr Geoff Hunnam Medical director (until 1st January 2013)

dr Hunnam is a consultant radiologist at the Queen elizabeth Hospital with a special interest 
in breast, thoracic and gynaecological imaging. He has previously acted as Quality Assurance 
Radiologist and interim Quality Assurance director for the Quality Assurance Breast screening 
programme in the east of england. dr Hunnam has also held a number of clinical managerial 
roles within the trust. during his period as a member of the Board of directors, dr Hunnam  
was also a member of the Quality & Risk and the performance & standards committees.

declared interests:
l director, King’s lynn consultant Radiologists (private company providing private radiological 

services to the BMI sandringham Hospital)

dr Mark Blunt interim Medical director from 1st January 2013

dr Blunt is clinical director of the trust’s emergency services Group. He is a consultant in  
critical care and agreed to act as Medical director in the interim until a substantive 
appointment is made. dr Blunt is a member of the Quality & Risk, clinical Governance and 
performance & standards committees.

declared interests: 
l private practice at the BMI sandringham hospital
l Brahms uK ltd: payment for lectures, including service on speakers bureaux
l cambridge university press: Royalties
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Gwyneth wilson director of patient Experience and lead for non-medical 
professionals

Gwyneth originally trained as a nurse in surrey, moving to northampton to undertake her 
midwifery training in 1982. Her speciality became neonatology which included managing the 
Regional neonatal Intensive care unit at the Rosie Maternity Hospital in cambridge.
Gwyneth was Assistant chief nurse at Addenbrooke’s Hospital in cambridge and has held 
chief nurse/director of nursing posts at the Queen elizabeth Hospital and in chelmsford, 
essex, returning permanently to King’s lynn in February 2011. she is a member of the clinical 
Governance, the Quality & Risk and the performance & standards committees.

declared interests:
l senior Honorary lecturer at the university of east Anglia

david Stonehouse director of Resources

david has worked in West norfolk for many years, starting as a trainee at West norfolk and 
Wisbech Health Authority, eventually becoming Finance director of West norfolk primary care 
trust. From there he joined nHs norfolk as director of Finance, later becoming deputy chief 
executive. david joined the QeH team in July 2011 as director of Finance. Following an internal 
restructuring of service departments, his role was broadened to take-in responsibility for Human 
Resources and estates, which is now reflected in his current title. david is a member of the 
Finance & Investment and the performance & standards committees.

declared interests: none

Barbara Cummings director of planning and performance

Barbara gained extensive experience within the nHs in the north of england before joining  
the trust in 2008. she was formerly deputy director of performance and Information for  
Hull and east yorkshire nHs trust, and performance Manager at north yorkshire and  
north east lincolnshire strategic Health Authority.
Barbara is a member of the Finance & Investment and the performance & standards 
committees.

declared interests: none

Louise proctor director of Strategy and Transformation

louise joined the trust in 2011 on secondment from northamptonshire Healthcare Foundation 
trust, where she was Managing director for community services. she had previously held the 
same role with northamptonshire community services. since joining the trust louise has been 
appointed to the substantive post. she is currently responsible for developing our seamless 
healthcare strategy for the coming years, working closely with senior trust staff and with local 
Gp practices.
louise is a member of the performance & standards committee.

declared interests: none
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d E L E G aT i o N  a N d  T H E  C o M M i T T E E S  o F 
T H E  B oa R d  o F  d i R E C T o R S 
the Board of directors’ terms of Reference set out those 
matters reserved for the Board.  the Board delegates 
powers to formally constituted corporate governance 
committees in accordance with its scheme of reservation 
and delegation.  

the trust operates an integrated governance model which 
means that quality (patient safety, patient outcomes and 
patient experience), finance and capacity are considered 
together in the trust’s decision making processes. 
committees reporting and accountable to the Board of 
directors are:
l the  trust executive committee - through which the 

strategic direction of the Board is communicated to all 
functional areas of the organisation and through which 
the Board’s strategic direction is translated into tactical 
and operational planning and service delivery;

l the Quality & Risk committee;
l the Finance & Investment committee;
l the performance & standards committee; 
l	the nomination & Remuneration committee (executive 

director Appointments); 
l the Audit committee.

T H E  au d i T  C o M M i T T E E  a N d  E x T E R N a L 
au d i T 
the Audit committee met five times during 2012/13. the 
purpose of the Audit committee is to provide independent 
assurance of the adequacy of the control environment 
of the trust, including those controls related to financial 
reporting procedures and quality. the Audit committee 
approves strategies and plans for countering fraud and 
receives reports from nHs protect at each meeting. the 
chair of the Audit committee is a qualified accountant.

the Audit committee approves the work programme and 
monitors the effectiveness of the Internal Audit function.  
the committee also receives and considers reports and 
opinion from both internal and external auditors.  ceAc 
provided the trust’s Internal Audit function in 2012–13.

the work of the Audit committee supports the completion 
of the Annual Governance statement by the Accounting 
officer.

the trust’s external auditor for the period covered by this 
Annual Report was KpMG. KpMG was appointed as the 
trust’s external auditor by the Governors’ council following 
a transparent process which was overseen by a task and 
finish group of governors, appointed by the full council.  
candidates were selected for invitation to tender against 
clear criteria from an nHs procurement framework.  

KpMG has undertaken additional developmental work with 
the trust during 2012/13.  the Audit committee is satisfied 
that the independence and objectivity of the work of the 
trust’s external auditor is safeguarded.

E va L uaT i N G  T H E  B oa R d ’ S  p E R F o R M a N C E 
the Board of directors utilises a number of methods to 
evaluate the performance of the Board and its committees:

l self-assessment and independent evaluation. the Board 
aspires to be a ‘High performing Board’ and this year the 
Board has undertaken comprehensive and independently 
facilitated Board and individual director ‘success 
mapping’ activities.

l executive and non-executive director performance 
appraisals, including 360˚ assessments.

l Annual Reports from committees – assessing the 
committees’ compliance with their terms  
of reference.

l performance evaluation of the Audit committee – 
utilising the model criteria of nHs Audit committee 
Handbook, which is reported to the Board.

the governors have been led by the senior Independent 
director in the appraisal of the chair’s performance in 
2013. the evaluation included an assessment of the chair’s 
performance against personal success criteria, objectives 
and commitment to the role, undertaken with the Board 
(without the chair). Additonally, 360° feedback was invited 
from directors, governors and external partners.
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Kate Gordon  
non-executive director (ned) trust chair 

January 
2015 ✓ 3/3 9/9

Jules Hillier   
ned and senior Independent director (sId) – until october 2012

nA ✓ 2/3 chair 2/2 3/5

Neil Harrison   
ned chair of Audit committee – until october 2012

February 
2015

chair 3/3 ✓ 2/2 5/5

Shawn Haney    
ned & chair of Finance & Investment committee and sId from 
January 2013

February 
2015 ✓ 2/4 ✓ 2/3 8/9

Sean Green   
ned & chair of performance & standards committee

May 2013 ✓ 4/4 ✓ 2/3 9/9

victoria Holliday  
ned & chair of Quality & Risk committee

July 2014 ✓ 2/3 9/9

anita McCallum   
ned & chair of nomination & Remuneration committee  
(ed App.) from november 2012

december 
2015 ✓ 1/1 chair 1/1 4/4

ian pinches   
ned & chair of Audit committee – from november 2012

december 
2015

chair 1/1 ✓ 1/1 3/4

patricia wright 
chief executive 

attending 4/4 attending 3/3 9/9

david Stonehouse
director of Resources

attending 4/4 8/9

Mark Henry  
director of clinical services

7/9

Geoff Hunnam 
Medical director – until 1 January 2013

6/6

Mark Blunt   
Interim Medical director – from 1 January 2013

3/3

Gwyneth wilson  
director of patient experience & lead for nursing  
& non-Medical professionals

9/9

Barbara Cummings
director of planning & performance  

9/9

Louise proctor 
director of strategy & transformation 

7/9

Key: ✓= committee member no longer serving on the Board of directors



37

n
 Q

u
a

l
it

y
g

o
v

e
R

n
A

n
c

e

the Role of the Governors’ council in 2012/13
The Governors’ Council:
l represents the interests of the members 
l influences decisions about spending and developing 

services
l appoints the chair and non-executive directors to the 

Board of directors
l sets the remuneration of the chair and non-executive 

directors
l appoints the auditor

the Governors’ council is not responsible for the day-to-
day running of the organisation. 

there are 32 governors on the Governors’ council of the 
Queen elizabeth Hospital. the Governors’ council is made 
up like this:

17 Elected public Governors
l 9 from West norfolk
l 2 from north norfolk 
l 1 from Breckland 
l 1 from south east lincolnshire & the Rest of 

england
l 4 from north east cambridgeshire 

6 Elected Staff Governors
l 3 clinical
l 3 non-clinical

9 appointed Governors
l local councils
l local pcts 
l West norfolk clinical commissioning Group
l the university of east Anglia 
l the college of West Anglia 
l West norfolk Voluntary & community Action

In February 2013, several governors reached the end of 
their first term of office and Governor elections were held 
in accordance with the model election rules set out in the 
trust’s constitution, to enable members to elect candidates 
to vacancies on the Governors’ council. the elections were 
independently overseen by electoral Reform services. 

2 0 12 –13  E L E C T i o N  R E p o R T
elections were held in the public constituency areas of West 
norfolk, cambridgeshire, north norfolk and in both staff 
clinical and staff non-clinical constituencies:

l north norfolk and the staff non-clinical 
constituency seats were uncontested

l 26 members stood for election to the Governors’ 
council

l Voting turnout was:
❍ cambridgeshire – 18%
❍ West norfolk –  24.2%
❍ staff clinical – 17.8%

l All Governors’ council vacancies were filled 

M E E T i N G S  o F  T H E  G o v E R N o R S ’  C o u N C i L
the Governors’ council met four times during 2012/13 
(plus the AGM/Annual Members’ Meeting). the meetings 
took place in public. the Governors’ council met in venues 
across the area served by the trust to enable as many 
people as possible to attend a meeting without having to 
travel too far.

the Governors’ council also met on a number of occasions 
to undertake strategic planning work with the Board of 
directors and development activities.

the dates and venues for the Governors’ council meetings 
in 2013-14 can be found on the QeH website in the 
Governors’ council section. Alternatively, members can 
contact the Foundation trust office on 01553 613142 for 
details.

the lead Governor, nominated by the Governors, has a 
particular role as point of contact with Monitor on behalf 
of the Governors’ council, should this prove necessary. she 
also works with the chair in drafting the forward plan and 
agendas for the meetings of the Governors’ council.

C o M M i T T E E S  o F  T H E  G o v E R N o R S ’ 
C o u N C i L
the Governors’ council is not permitted to delegate its 
powers.  However, it has set up five committees to assist in 
the delivery of some of its statutory functions.  All of these 
committees have met regularly throughout the year and 
have developed challenging work programmes:  

l The Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
(non-executive director appointments) – this makes 
recommendations to the Governors’ council regarding 
the appointment and remuneration of non-executive 
directors. the terms of Reference for this committee 
have been drawn up in alignment with the code of 
Governance and Monitor’s ‘your statutory duties – A 
Reference Guide for nHs Ft Governors’. the committee 
making recommendations to the Governors’ council 
in respect of ned appointments is chaired by the trust 
chair (except when considering the appointment 
or remuneration of the chair) and is comprised of 
governors.  

 the trust’s ‘Working together strategy’ also sets out the 
detailed procedure for the appointment of the chair and 
non-executive directors.

 In 2012/13, following succession planning discussions by 
directors and governors, the recruitment and selection 
of two non-executive directors was undertaken through 
open advertising. the process was supported by the 
company secretary and the Human Resources team.  
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the nomination & Remuneration committee appointed 
a small selection panel to undertake short listing and 
interviews.   

 the nomination & Remuneration committee 
recommended the appointment of the preferred non-
executive director candidates, terms and conditions and 
remuneration, to the Governors’ council for approval.  
the Governors’ council approved both appointments. 

l The Membership Committee – is responsible for the 
delivery of the Membership strategy.

 In 2012–13, the Membership committee has worked 
to increase the public membership and to address some 
areas of under-representation in the public membership 
profile, through targeted recruitment. this work has been 
very successful and membership in the formerly under-
represented cohorts of the 16–21 age group and the 
Breckland area has been increased. 

l The Communications Committee – to support 
engagement and communication with the members.

 In 2012–13, the communications committee has 
nominated members to participate on the editorial panel 
of the trust’s newsletter for members and has developed 
an engagement strategy, which includes a programme of 
healthcare events for members.

l The patient Experience Committee – undertakes work 
and make recommendations through the Governors’ 
council to help ensure that the patient perspective is 
understood and considered when the trust’s services are 
being planned and reviewed.

 the patient experience committee has undertaken a 
wide range of activities throughout 2012/13:

❍ Involvement in peAt inspections
❍ engagement with norfolk lInk
❍ Involvement in cQc compliance Audits
❍ Review of patient experience information drawn 

from a variety of sources

l The Business Committee (newly established in 
2013) – discusses with executive and non-executive 
directors, the trust’s engagement with Monitor and 
to undertake detailed work in respect of finance, 
strategic planning and business decisions requiring 
Governors’ council approval. the Business committee 
will make recommendations to the Governors’ council as 
appropriate.

Governors have also been involved as the representatives of 
the patients and the community in a variety of areas of the 
trust’s work, including:
l the development of relationships and formal liaison with 

West norfolk patient partnership and affiliated Gp patient 
participation Groups; and 

l the trust’s 2013 work on the patient Revolution 
pathfinder project.

The Governors Council composition
All governors have made declarations of interest and have 
signed copies of the trust’s code of conduct for Governors. 
the Register of Governors’ Interests can be accessed by 
contacting the company secretary on 01553 613614.

Contacting the Governors
Members and the public can contact the governors at 
FtGovernor@qehkl.nhs.uk or by post at the following 
address: the Foundation trust office, Queen elizabeth 
Hospital, Gayton Road, King's lynn, pe30 4et
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catharine Blacklock (to Jan 2013) 2/0 2/5 ✓

Jill Brock 3/1 4/5 ✓ ✓

Robin Broke (re-elected - Feb 2013) 3/3 5/5 ✓

esmé corner (lead Governor) 3/1 5/5 ✓ ✓ chair

Jonathan dossetor 3/1 4/5 chair ✓

Michael drew (elected – Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1

penny Hipkin 3/1 4/5 ✓

Barrie taylor 3/1 4/5 ✓

david trevanion (re-elected - Feb 2013) 3/3 5/5 ✓

Richard parsons (to Jan 2013) 2/0 5/5

pat Watts (elected – Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1 ✓ ✓

Cambridgeshire (4)   

William Jarvis (re-elected Feb 2013) 3/3 5/5 ✓ ✓

Kevin Kanolty (from July 2011) 3/1 1/5 ✓

Betty lewis 3/1 5/5 ✓ ✓

chris Russ (from Jul 2011 – Jan 2013) 2/0 0/5

Breckland (1) Helen shaw 3/1 4/5 ✓ ✓

SE Lincs & Rest of Eng. (1) Helen childerhouse 3/1 3/5 ✓

North Norfolk (2)

david callaby (resigned March 2012) 3/0 0/0 ✓

oliver Folkard (to Jan 2013) 2/0 5/5 ✓

linda pattrick (elected Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1

tony Waldron (elected Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1 ✓ ✓

Staff Clinical (3)

Rupert calleja (re-elected Feb 2013) 3/3 3/5 ✓ ✓

claire Kent 3/1 4/5 ✓ ✓

nigel tarratt (elected Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1

Hugh Warren (to Jan 2013) 2/0 2/5

Staff Non-Clinical (3)

Ian Bruce (elected Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1 ✓ ✓ ✓

sarah davidson (elected Feb 2013) 3/3 1/1 ✓ ✓

dave coe 3/1 5/5 ✓ ✓

simon Harrowing (to Jan 2013) 2/0 5/5 ✓ chair

tim nicholls (resigned sept 2012) 2/0 2/5 ✓ ✓

appointed Governors (9)

BCKL&wN cllr tony lovett 3 4/5

Breckland 
cllr Ian sherwood (resigned May 2012) 3 1/1 ✓

cllr david Williams (from May 2012) 3 2/4

College of west anglia Mark Reavell 3 5/5 ✓

Norfolk County Council cllr Harry Humphrey 3 4/5 ✓ ✓

west Norfolk CCG Vacant 3 0/5

Lincs pCT Vacant 3 0/5

NHS Norfolk & waveney Hilary de lyon  3 3/5 ✓	
wNvCa / wN Carers' 
ascn

Jane evans 3 4/5 ✓ ✓ ✓

uEa prof david crossman (from May 2011) 3 0/5

Key: Governors no longer serving on the Governor's council

T H E  G o v E R N o R S ’  C o u N C i L  C o M p o S i T i o N  2 0 12 /13

✓

✓

✓

✓
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the Foundation trust Membership and the 
Membership strategy
Almost all of us make use of hospital services at some point 
in our lives. the local hospital is very much ‘our’ hospital.

Membership of the Foundation trust is free and members 
have a real chance to influence the development of the 
hospital and its services.

what does being a Foundation Trust Member entail?
Foundation trust members can become as involved as they 
want to be. Foundation trust members: 
l Receive a regular newsletter to keep them up to date 

with the latest hospital developments and information
l Are invited to special Foundation trust member 

healthcare events
l Are able to attend Governors’ council meetings, which 

are also open to the general public
l Are invited to vote in governor elections
l Are able to stand for election as a governor
l Are able take part in forums and focus groups
l Are able to apply to become a non-executive director 

(public members only)
Foundation trust members do not receive any special 
healthcare treatment or privileges.

w H o  C a N  B E C o M E  a  M E M B E R ?
Membership of the Foundation trust is free and is open to 
patients, the public and nHs staff. Becoming a Foundation 
trust member shows that you are interested in the hospital 
and its future.  

Membership is open to most people over the age of 16 
living or working within the trust’s catchment area, which 
is principally:

l West norfolk
l part of north norfolk
l part of Breckland 
l part of northern cambridgeshire, and
l part of south-east lincolnshire 

Membership is also open to people who live outside the 
area but are, or have been, patients or carers at the QeH.

Members of staff
Because the trust appreciates and values its staff, they are 
automatically members of the Foundation trust and do not 
need to apply for membership. Members of staff who do 
not wish to be a member can choose to opt out.  

H o w  d o  i  a p p Ly  T o  B E C o M E  a  M E M B E R ?
there are a number of ways to apply for Foundation trust 
membership:
l the easiest way is to apply on-line by visiting the trust’s 

website, where you will find an on-line application form 
in the Foundation trust section.

l e-mail: FT.membership@qehkl.nhs.uk and we’ll send 
out an application form in the post.

l Write to:
the Foundation trust office
the Queen elizabeth Hospital King’s lynn
Gayton Road, King’s lynn, norfolk pe30 4et

you can also call the Foundation trust office on 
01553 613142 for information about Foundation trust 
Membership.

T H E  M E M B E R S H i p  S T R aT E G y
We achieved a public membership of approaching 6,000 by 
the end of 2012/13. In 2013–14 we intend to maintain our 
membership numbers and recruit a further 500 members.  
It is important to us that our members have an opportunity 
to engage with the trust if they wish to do so. We 
therefore also aim to continue to demonstrate that:
l our membership represents the local population
l our members are engaged
l We have enough members from which to elect a 

Governors’ council.

 
The QEH public Constituency

Members  
31st March 2013

Gender

Male 
Female 
total

2,561 
3,252 
5,813

Constituency

Breckland 
cambridgeshire 
north norfolk 
se lincs & Roe 
West norfolk

497 
594 
326 
854 
3,542

age

16-21 
22-29 
30-39 
40-49 
50-59 
60-74 
75+ 
not stated

438 
270 
380 
523 
685 
1,753 
1,114 
650

Ethnicity

White 
Mixed 
Asian or Asian British 
Black or Black British 
other 
not stated

5,371 
27 
32 
14 
21 
348
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the new nHs landscape 
...an exciting and challenging year ahead for 2013-14

some of the provisions of the Health and social care 
Act 2012 were enacted in october 2012.  However, the 
majority came into force on 1st April 2013.  the new 
legislation signals significant changes to the regulatory and 
governance framework for the nHs at all levels, including:

l A move away from the primary care trust to clinical 
commissioning Groups commissioning services from 
providers.

l Monitor becomes the sector regulator for all providers 
of nHs-funded services in england, except those which 
are exempt.  Monitor’s new core duty is to “protect and 
promote the interests of people who use health care 
services by promoting the provision of services which 
is economic, efficient and effective, and maintains or 
improves the quality of the services”.  Monitor also has a 
new role in respect of pricing and competition.

l A stronger role for local authorities and a responsibility 
for local population health improvement.

l HealthWatch england has been established as a statutory 
committee of the care Quality commission to represent 
the views of users of health and social care services, 
other members of the public and local HealthWatch 
organisations.

w H aT  w i L L  T H E  N E w  L E G i S L aT i o N  M E a N 
F o R  T H E  Q u E E N  E L i z a B E T H  H o S p i Ta L?
Here are some of the changes that the Health and social 
care Act 2012 will mean for the corporate governance of 
the Queen elizabeth Hospital:

directors
l directors have Individual responsibility to promote 

the success of the Foundation trust - similar to the 
companies Act 2006 duties; and

l directors have an express duty to avoid conflicts of 
interests with the Foundation trust.

Governors
l there is no longer a requirement for commissioner 

appointed governors.
l Additional statutory duties for governors:

❍ to hold the non-executive directors individually and 
collectively to account for the performance of the 
Board of directors; and

❍ to represent the interests of Foundation trust 
members as a whole and the interest of the public.

l Governors have the right to receive board agendas and 
minutes;

l Governors can require directors to attend a meeting to 
obtain information about Foundation trust performance 
or director performance;

l Governors vote to approve:
❍ constitutional changes
❍ A merger, acquisition, dissolution or separation
❍ A significant transaction
❍ An increase by more than 5% of the Foundation 

trust’s non-nHs income.
l Advice and training for governors:

❍	Foundation trusts are required to ensure their 
governors have the skills and knowledge needed to 
carry out their roles;

❍ Monitor will establish a panel to give advice to 
governors – more than half of the governors would 
need to approve a referral to the panel.

Members
l An nHs Ft must take steps to secure that (taken as a 

whole) the actual membership of any public constituency 
is representative of those eligible for such membership;

l those eligible for membership should be representative 
of patients/service users; 

l Foundation trusts are required to hold an annual  
meeting of members, which is:

❍ open to the public
❍ Attended by at least one member of the Board  

to present:
– Annual accounts
– Any report of the auditor on them
– Annual report

❍ Attended by at least one member of the Governors’ 
council if amendments to the constitution are to be 
voted on.

the trust and its corporate office will be supporting 
the Board of directors and the Governors’ council in 
2013–14, to develop a comprehensive understanding of the 
provisions of the new Health and social care Act 2012 and 
to implement the changes effectively.  
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Regulatory Ratings Report
the tables below detail the ratings of the trust for the last 
two years. the trust remained in significant breach of its 
terms of authorisation throughout the year, having been 
found in breach in January 2012.

the trust’s terms of authorisation that are in breach are:
a) condition 2: the general duty to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently and economically; and
b) condition 5: its governance duty

the trust planned to achieve a Financial Risk Rating (FRR) 
of 3 from Q2 onwards and an overall FRR of 3 for the year. 
the trust achieved its planned FRR for each of quarters one, 
two and three. However, eBItdA and surplus margins were 
weaker than planned, with shortfalls in the challenging 
efficiency programme and an under delivery of income 
compared to plan. this is described in greater detail in the 
operational Financial Review. the trust therefore remains 
in significant breach of its Authorisation as at 31 March, 
with heightened concern as to the longer term financial 
sustainability of the organisation. the trust is embarking 
on a set of further actions with the wider health system to 
address these issues.

there were two unannounced inspection visits to the trust 
by the care Quality commission, the first in August 2012. 
three minor concerns affecting compliance were reported 
back to the trust for the following outcomes:

outcome 1  –  Respecting and Involving people
outcome 5  –  Meeting nutritional needs
outcome 21   –  Record-keeping

this was in addition to the moderate concern identified 
at their visit to the trust in February 2012. the trust 
responded immediately to these concerns and developed 
and implemented action plans to address all areas of 
concern. 

the trust was re-visited in March 2013 to assess 
improvements made and is pleased to report that in respect 
of the dignity and nutrition visit, the trust is fully compliant 
with outcomes 1, 5 and 21.

on 2 May 2013 the cQc, following a further visit, reported 
that the trust is now fully compliant with outcome 21.

2012/13 Annual  2012/13 Q1 2012/13 Q2 2012/13 Q3 2012/13 Q4 2012/13

Financial risk rating
plan 3 2 3 3 3

Actual 2 2 3 3 2

Governance risk rating
plan Red Red Red Red Red

Actual Red Red Red Red Red

2011-12 Annual  2011/12 Q1 2011/12 Q2 2011/12 Q3 2011/12 Q4 2012/13

Financial risk rating
plan 4 2 2 3 4

Actual 3 2 2 3 3

Governance risk rating
plan Green Green Green Green Green

Actual Red Amber/Red Amber/Red Red Red
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the prime focus for the Queen elizabeth hospital 
King’s lynn nhS foundation trust (Qeh) is to 
provide health care of the highest quality to its local 
population which is safe, effective and responsive.to 
each individuals need.

the board of directors of the Queen elizabeth 
hospital King’s lynn nhS foundation trust is 
delighted to present this Quality account for 2012/13, 
which provides the trust with the opportunity to 
demonstrate to our patients and staff the work 
that has been undertaken within the organisation 
to improve the quality of the care we provide for 
patients and show where improvements have been 
made. this Quality account allows the trust to:

outline the services we provide and evaluate 
whether we have achieved the improvements  
we set ourselves

review our Quality Strategy and check its 
priorities for improvement were the right ones

review our performance in meeting our  
quality priorities

Provide information and evidence on how  
we measured the quality of service within  
the organisation

Provide information on how we learnt from 
incidents, complaints and patient, staff and  
stakeholder feedback 

The Board of Directors has provided a statement on its 
responsibility in relation to this report. This can be found on 
page 88 of the Quality Account.

In 2010, in response to the challenge that Lord Darzi 
presented to the NHS, the Trust developed a Quality 
Strategy that set out a three year programme of progressive 
improvement in quality of care, focusing on improvements in 
patient safety, the experience of patients and their families 
and the effectiveness of care and treatment provided. 

This programme is now approaching completion and the 
organisation is able to look back on a period in which there 
has been a continuous reduction in patient mortality and 
hospital acquired infections and an increased voice for 
patients and their families in determining the quality of 
the experience patients have whilst in our care. This has 
been achieved by placing improvements in quality as the 
underpinning measure by which all services in the Trust are 
measured and evaluated. Performance against key quality 
metrics has been subject to constant scrutiny and review 
through:

l Ensuring that quality performance reports are central to 
the Board’s agenda.

l	Strengthening the governance arrangements within the 
organisation through the creation of two sub-committees 
of the Board, the Quality and Risk committee and the 
Performance and Standards committee; each in turn able 
to undertake detailed scrutiny of quality measures, risks to 
patient safety, performance and adherence to standards.

l	Focusing investment and development in those areas that 
most effectively support improvements in the quality of 
care.

l	Setting measurable objectives by which quality can be 
measured and improvements in care demonstrated.

l	Setting out a refreshed Quality Strategy Implementation 
Plan each year which includes all the quality improvement 
work streams for that year and the performance indicators 
by which improvement will be judged.

l	Devolving responsibility for meeting quality objectives to 
the clinical divisions and ensuring that any failure to meet 
performance measures and improvement goals is quickly 
identified and addressed.

l	Ensuring that the Trust undertakes a self-assessment 
against external measures of quality and in particular, 
constantly reviews compliance with the CQC’s essential 
standards of quality and safety.

Part 1: Statement on Quality 
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l	Putting in place key quality committees to drive 
improvement in the organisation and to provide leadership 
and innovation to each aspect of quality improvement. 
This includes a patient safety committee, a patient 
experience committee and a clinical outcomes group. 

l Agreeing a quality improvement programme each year 
with our commissioners that is delivered through the 
CQUINS programme.

l	Ensuring that our Governors Council is able to contribute 
to quality improvement through feedback and comment 
on performance reports and the provision of advice 
and ideas on improving the quality of care and patient 
experience.

In defining our priorities for 2010 to 2013, the Trust 
identified those developments which would have the 
maximum benefit for our patients, where performance 
could be potentially improved when compared to our peers 
and where improvements in care could be measured. Our 
priorities are based on the three domains of quality – patient 
safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience and are:

l  Reducing mortality through redesigning emergency 
pathways and reducing the number of medical outliers

l	Reducing and eliminating healthcare associated infections
l	 Improving the experience of our patients

To support delivery of these priorities the Trust has continued 
to focus on further changes and innovations to the pathway 
for emergency patients to improve patient flow. Last year we 
focused on the development of a larger short stay medical 
ward to support the Medical Assessment Unit and this year 
we have continued to look at measures to improve timely 
assessment and referral whilst also focusing on effective 
discharge to ensure patients do not stay in hospital longer 
than is required to meet their health care needs. Work 
is continuing with our partner organisations to improve 
emergency pathways and to support patients receiving care 
in the most appropriate setting for their needs. As part of 
this programme we have also looked at the emergency 
pathway for patients admitted with a surgical emergency 
and have expanded the size of the Surgical Assessment Unit 
and reviewed how it operates to ensure that patients have 
an early assessment by the appropriate surgical team. 

In line with this work we have reviewed how we provide 
timely admission and treatment for patients requiring an 
elective procedure and in doing so have re-aligned the 
wards so that all inpatient elective activity is focused on two 
adjoining wards. This has supported the Trust in meeting 
its performance measures for elective care and has allowed 
other surgical wards to focus on quality improvement for 
emergency admissions.

The Trust has continued to invest in its infrastructure and 
services which this year includes:
l The official opening by Her Majesty The Queen of the 

Trust’s new MRI Suite
l Providing our A&E Department with an updated IT system
l Buying over £1m of new medical equipment
l Refurbishing two ward areas
l Increasing provision on site for patient and visitor car 

parking

This focus on continuous improvement and the prioritisation 
of investment to support its Quality Strategy has specifically 
seen sustained improvement in each of these three priority 
areas:

l  A continued reduction in mortality across the Trust with a 
reduction in the standardised mortality rate such that at 
the end of January 2013, the rolling 12 month figure was 
92.3, representing an 8% improvement on the preceding 
12 months.

l  There were no cases of hospital acquired MRSA 
bacteraemia in 2012/13. A significant decline in hospital 
acquired Clostridium Difficile infections in 2012/13 with  
19 cases recorded against an agreed trajectory of 30 
cases. This represented a 54% reduction from the 
numbers reported in 2011/12. The Trust had an overall 
infection rate of 2.2 hospital acquired infections per 
100,000 bed days.

l		The establishment of a Patient Experience Committee and 
active monitoring of patient experience through local and 
national surveys, patients’ stories, complaints and enquiries 
through the PALS office (Patient Advice and Liaison 
Services) and through the use of the national ‘Families and 
Friends’ questionnaire and the net promoter, has ensured 
that the Trust now has an improved understanding of 
what matters to patients and their families.

These three overarching priorities have been underpinned 
by a range of individual improvement measures including 
those described in the Quality Strategy Implementation 
Programme, plus specific quality goals agreed with our 
commissioners. These CQUINS (Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation) goals have led to improvements across a 
number of key areas:

l		Reducing avoidable death, disability and chronic ill 
health from veno-thromboembolism by achieving 
98.8% compliance with veno-thromboembolism risk 
assessment target of 95%. This is undertaken for all 
inpatients on admission using the clinical criteria of 
the national tool and of those identified as at risk of 
a veno-thromboembolism 90% receiving appropriate 
prophylaxis.



48

2 012 / 13  a n n ua l  R e p o R t  a n d ac c o u n t s  l  Q ua l i t y

l Improving responsiveness to the National In Patient 
Survey questions relating to questions on do we meet the 
personal needs of patients by achieving greater than 60.1 
on a composite indicator.  Our target was to populate 
the monthly collection of data using the NHS Safety 
Measuring Thermometer. 

l Reducing patient harm by participating in the monthly 
collection of data on patient harm using the NHS Safety 
Thermometer harm measurement instrument.

l	 Improving the access to appropriate diagnosis, treatment 
and support for people with dementia by ensuring 
that greater than 90% of all patients aged over 75 
years old and admitted as an emergency into the Trust 
were screened, assessed, investigated and referred in 
accordance with the objectives of the FAIR programme  
(Finding, Assessing, Investigating and Referral).

l Developing and implementing a maternity mental health 
pathway in accordance with NICE guidance and ensuring 
that 90% of staff received training in its use as well as 
collaborating with other Trusts and Commissioners to 
further develop this pathway and implement change 
accordingly. 

l Understanding how inpatients perceive the quality of 
service provided on discharge from the Trust by using the 
net promoter score. 

l Improving partnership working and sharing of 
information with the local Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP) in accordance with The College of Emergency 
Medicine Guidelines in an effort to work collaboratively 
on the reduction of alcohol-related crime and knife 
crime.

l Supporting individual patients at risk and a reduction 
in harm as a result of domestic violence through the 
appointment of an Emergency Department Hospital 
Independent Domestic Violence Advocate (IDVA).

l Reducing mortality across the year measured using HSMR 
in conjunction with the development and rolling out of 
an improved package of care for patients with COPD. 

l Reducing the number of times people attend or are 
admitted into hospital who are known to be frequent 
attenders through multi-agency collaboration and 
addressing the issues that lead to attendance.

In 2012/13 the Trust was subject to a number of external 
visits and assessments and was successful in retaining 
its compliance with the NHS Litigation Authority Risk 
Management Standards at Level 2 and with the Clinical 
Negligence Scheme for Trusts Maternity Risk Management 
Standards at Level 1. In addition, the Radiology Department 
was successful in obtaining accreditation with the Imaging 
Standards Accreditation Scheme; only the second hospital 
in the East of England and the fifth in the entire country to 
do so.

In April 2013/14 the Trust will launch its refreshed and 
reviewed Quality Strategy.  This will build on current 
achievements but will recognise that the continuing goal of 
quality improvement has to be pursued in a climate where 
there is public concern as a result of the Francis Report 
and in challenging economic times in which efficiency and 
quality improvements cannot be separated.

Finally, the Trust recognises that no one in the NHS can 
move forward without consideration of the findings of 
the Francis Inquiry.  The Trust intends to review the care it 
provides in light of the findings of the Inquiry and ensure 
that the difficult lessons learnt by the whole of the NHS are 
applied to the Trust.  

The Board of Directors remains committed to ensuring 
that improving the quality of services continues to be at 
the centre of all that we do and that with the right ethos, 
values and leadership the Trust will continue this pathway 
of improvement into the coming year. 

I hereby state that to the best of my knowledge the 
information contained within this Quality Account is 
accurate.

Patricia Wright
chief executive
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b oa r d  r e S P o n S i b i l i t i e S  (Terms of Reference Extracts)

l Establish a robust performance management framework and support the Executive team in meeting the 
organisation’s performance targets; monitoring the performance of the Trust and ensuring that the Executive 
Directors manage the Trust within the resources available in such a way as to: 

❍	 Ensure the quality and safety of healthcare services; 

❍	 Plan for continuous improvement; 

❍	 Protect the health and safety of Trust employees and all others to whom the Trust owes a duty of care; 

❍	 Utilise Trust resources efficiently and effectively;

❍	 Promote the prevention and control of Healthcare Associated Infection; 

❍	 Comply with all relevant regulatory, legal and code of conduct requirements; 

❍	 Maintain high standards of ethical behaviour, corporate governance and personal conduct in the business  
 of the Trust; 

❍	 Maintain the high reputation of the Trust both with reference to local stakeholders and the wider community;

l  Establish and secure assurance of effective governance, risk management and internal controls systems

l  Establish decision making systems and frameworks, ensuring effective integrated governance 

l  Review and approve the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts (Quality and Financial); 

l  Ensure that decisions are based on timely, accurate and comprehensive information; 

l  Receive and consider high level reports on matters material to the Trust detailing, in particular, information  
and action with respect to: 

❍ Operational performance; 

❍ Clinical quality and safety, including infection prevention and control; 

❍ Financial performance; 

❍ Human resource matters; 

❍ The identification and management of risk; 

❍ Matters pertaining to the reputation of the Trust.
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the terms of reference of the board of directors sets out the board’s responsibilities concerning the delivery 
and monitoring of Quality Services. these are detailed below:

How the Board of Directors Monitors Quality

The Board fulfils these responsibilities for the delivery and 
monitoring of Quality in many ways, both directly and 
through the delegation of its powers to committee and 
sub-committees of the Board and to the Executive Director 
team.  Although powers are delegated (see Governance 
Structure), the Board remains accountable for ensuring the 
quality and safety of healthcare services and continuously 
strives to be sure that it has effective systems and processes 
in place for the provision of assurance and the escalation of 
risk in this respect.

The Board’s activities and systems in place to ensure the 
quality and safety of healthcare services include:

Quality... at the heart of the board’s governance 
structure, leadership, strategy and agendas
l Development and communication of a single definition  

of Quality

l Ensuring that Quality is at the heart of the Trust’s Vision, 
Values and Strategy

l Effective governance structure – delegated authority 
to committees and sub-committees (Quality and Risk 
Committee, Performance and Standards Committee, 
Finance and Investment Committee, Audit Committee, 
Trust Executive Committee)

l Integrated Governance and the development of a 
‘balanced scorecard’ approach to ensure that quality 
issues are discussed as part of every business decision 
and to ensure that no decision (workforce development, 
process development, innovation etc.) has an adverse 
impact on Quality

l Corporate Objective (including Quality objectives) setting 
and the monitoring of delivery

l Quality Strategy Development and monitoring of the 
implementation plan
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l Prioritisation of quality issues on the Board’s agenda
l Consideration of clinical presentations and patient stories 

at the Board
l Work as a pathfinder organisation on the Patient 

Revolution Project
l Participation in ‘go and see’ activities – such as ward visits 

and involvement on PEAT and CQC mock inspections
l Clinician engagement in the development of the Trust’s 

strategy
l The development of engagement practices with the 

Governors, as the representatives of the patients / 
community served by the Trust

l Immediate assimilation, gap analysis and action planning 
in respect of external reports e.g. The final report of the 
Francis Inquiry and the ‘Quality in the new Health System’ 
publications

l Board skills and succession planning – ensuring that 
there are appropriate skills and experience among both 
the executive and non-executive directors, to facilitate 
effective challenge and drive the delivery of quality 
service at the heart of all Board business

l Development of the ‘High Performing Board’ programme, 
ensuring that quality is woven into the Board’s collective 
and individual success criteria

l Rigorous self-assessment against the criteria of Monitor’s 
Quality Governance Framework 

Quality... the board delegating authority and 
maintaining accountability for Quality
l Processes in place to assess risk to the delivery of Quality 

services e.g. outlier alerts (through Clinical Outcomes 
Group), Clinical and National Audits, benchmarking with 
other organisations

l Commissioning of committee and sub-committee ‘deep 
dive’ reviews into areas of concern in respect of Quality

Quality... the board working with external partners 
to deliver Quality
l Liaison and partnership working with commissioners 

and other service providers in the healthcare community, 
in order to facilitate a ‘whole healthcare community’ 
approach to the delivery of Quality services e.g. QIPP, 
CQUINs, Integrated care, pathway development

Quality...  assurance and Quality risk
l Regular monitoring of key performance information e.g. 

mortality, complaints, safeguarding incidents, Never 
Events and SIs, Healthcare Acquired Infection rates, levels 
of patient satisfaction and all key quality targets

l The development of a rigorous Quality Risk Register for 
the Business Sustainability Programme, to ensure that 
the Trust’s cost improvement and efficiency plans do not 
have an adverse impact on Quality

l ‘Chair’s Key Issues Model’ developed to facilitate the 
provision of Board assurance and the effective escalation 
of risk

l Regular monitoring of the Board Assurance Framework 
and Corporate Risk Register

l Commissioning of internal and independent audits of 
areas of concern in respect of Quality 

Quality... Standards
l Comprehensive 6-monthly self-assessment of compliance 

with the CQC Essential Standards
l Monitoring of the Trust’s compliance with NHSLA level 2 

standards (with an aspiration to achieve NHSLA Level 3).

during 2012/13 the trust has reviewed both its operational management and governance structures to ensure 
that the organisation has in place structures and reporting lines that are robust, support good governance and 
accountability and are fit for purpose in terms of delivering the organisation’s quality objectives and priorities.

The Trust’s Quality Governance Structure

At an operational management level the Trust has moved 
from a divisional based framework to one focused on 
clinical service groups led by a Clinical Director. The 
changes to the operational management structure have 
supported increased clinical engagement and ensured that 
operational management and governance decisions are 
being taken by those staff directly responsible for delivering 
clinical services.  

At Board level the key responsibilities for ensuring patient 
safety and delivering a positive experience for patients 

and their families are invested in the Medical Director 
and Director of Nursing respectively. The two directors 
and their associated teams support each of the eight new 
clinical service groups in meeting the organisation’s quality 
objectives within their respective services. 

The changes to the governance structure have 
strengthened the framework in which the quality of 
services is measured, monitored and challenged. The Board 
is underpinned and supported by a Performance and 
Standards Committee and a Quality and Risk Committee 
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that both have operational, executive and non-executive 
director membership. These committees are able to 
examine specific issues in depth, monitor and review 
performance, quality and risk reports and commission 
detailed reports on any emerging concern or quality 
measure that arises within the organisation. 

The Trust Executive Committee exercises responsibility as 
the main operational decision-making committee of the 
Trust and receives reports from the Clinical Governance 
Committee and the Non-Clinical Governance Committee. 
These two sub-committees are charged with overseeing 
and monitoring the quality of the organisation’s services 
within their area of responsibility and reporting to the 
Trust Executive Committee through their Chair’s key issue 
reports, areas of concern that require escalation and 
providing assurance on the quality of services reviewed 
and monitored through each committee. The Clinical 
Governance Committee examines the quality of individual 
clinical services through a process of specialty reviews in 
which each clinical specialty within the Trust is subject to 
an annual review and is required to provide evidence of 
how it has exercised good governance and delivered quality 
improvement.

Through most of the year governance at a local level 
was delivered through Divisional Quality, Risk and 
Standards committees that reported directly to the Clinical 
Governance Committee. These committees received reports 
on incidents, complaints and claims from their division, 
results of patient satisfaction surveys, findings of clinical 
audits, outcome reports from specialty reviews, mortality 
data and a range of other metric results that demonstrated 
levels of compliance with clinical and service standards such 
as the Care Quality Commission’s essential standards of 
quality and safety. These committees were responsible for 
following up issues of concern; agreeing actions following 
incidents and complaints and monitoring implementation 
of those actions; ensuring that learning following incidents 
and complaints was disseminated to all relevant staff; 
recommending to the Divisional Boards changes to service 
delivery as a result of audits and surveys; following up 
issues from specialty reviews and ensuring that services 
remained compliant with standards of good practice.

There will be a change in local quality governance structures 
following the full implementation of the eight clinical service 
groups within the new operational management structure. 
By the beginning of April 2013 the Divisional Quality, Risk 
and Standards groups will be phased out and replaced 
with a Service Quality and Business Committee for each 
service group that will take on responsibility for delivering 
quality improvement within the services of that group.  This 
committee will report on issues of quality and governance 
to the Clinical Governance Committee.

In addition, to ensure good governance and quality 
improvement extends to individual clinical specialties, 
each specialty is required to have a nominated Clinical 
Governance Lead to ensure that each specialty participates 
in quality improvement measures and has appropriate 
governance arrangements in place. It has been the 
responsibility of the Clinical Governance Lead to prepare 
the specialty for its annual review by representatives of 
the Trust’s Clinical Governance Committee.  It is intended 
to strengthen this role within the new structure and to 
transfer responsibility for monitoring compliance with 
clinical governance standards to the specialty governance 
lead and to require each specialty to report on a quarterly 
basis on their progress in achieving quality improvements 
to the respective Service Quality and Business committee 
instead of via an annual review. This will enhance 
responsibility for meeting quality standards within  
individual clinical specialties and clinical service groups. 

The Trust continues to refine how it is delivering its quality 
priorities. The Trust’s governors receive reports from the 
chair of the Quality and Risk committee and are asked 
especially if feedback is received from other stakeholders.  
They also review improvements they consider to be 
important for patients accessing services at the Trust. The 
governors have an opportunity to review and challenge 
reports on performance and quality improvement.

The Trust has participated in regular monthly Clinical 
Quality Review meetings with its commissioners in which 
the organisation has been required to present evidence on 
quality improvements and has been subject to challenge 
and follow up on issues arising from incidents, complaints 
or service reviews.

Finally the Trust has had its internal clinical governance 
structure reviewed in terms of its effectiveness by 
independent external bodies.  This review gives confidence 
to the Trust that the systems and process it has in place (its 
Quality Governance structure) is fit for purpose.  
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Part 2: Priorities for improvement 

the trust developed a three year Quality Strategy in 2010 which was designed to underpin the organisation’s 
commitment to improving the quality of the services it provides by identifying key principles which it intended 
to adhere to and specific objectives by which those quality improvements could be measured. 

The Trust’s Quality Strategy

The Quality Strategy recognised that quality improvement 
would only occur if the following principles were adhered 
to:

1 Quality of care can only be improved if that care is 
delivered through an integrated team approach.

2 Quality improvements cannot be delivered in isolation 
and we must work in partnership to ensure change 
across the entire patient pathway.

3 Improvements to service delivery require an open 
approach to embracing innovation and changes in 
practice. 

4 An organisation can only ensure it is delivering its 
objectives if it has systems and processes for monitoring 
and measuring the effectiveness of its care, the safety 
of its systems and how these come together in terms of 
patient experience.

5 The risk to delivering the organisation’s quality 
objectives should be mitigated by having robust 
governance arrangements in place.

6 Improvement can only occur when there is an open 
learning culture in which the Trust listens to feedback 
from its patients, staff and carers.

7 External accreditation and regulation is a valuable 
source of assurance on the quality of services provided 
to both the organisation, its commissioners and to the 
patients accessing its services.

8 Internal and external assurance requires that the 
organisation has clear governance arrangements in 
place.

9 A quality service can only be assured if the Trust invests 
in and values its staff, listens to their views and provides 
them with sufficient resources and development to 
sustain improvement.

10 Continual improvement requires that staff have access 
to education, training and development. 

The Strategy recognised that high quality care should be 
described from the patient’s perspective and is seen as care 
that is:

l Safe,
l Effective and
l Provides patients with the most positive experience 

possible.

The Strategy embraces a vision in which the organisation will 
move to a place where clinical care is continuously measured 
in terms of its safety, effectiveness and the experience of 
the patient. Its aim is to measure our quality performance 
in ways that demonstrate effective outcomes of care and 
a transparent and objective measure for local people and 
our commissioners to evaluate our services and provide 
the organisation with the information it needs to inform its 
appetite to drive continuous improvements in care. 

how our priorities were decided and why they are our priorities:

2012/13 Quality Priorities and Rationale for Choosing

In identifying our priorities for quality improvement for 
the period 2010-13, we chose those areas which would 
have the maximum benefit for our patients and which 
reflected the greatest concerns of patients. To support 
these improvements in patient safety, patient experience 
and clinical outcomes we focused in 2012/13 on delivering 
CQUIN goals that had been agreed both nationally and 
locally with our Commissioners, which in turn aligned with 
the three areas of priority in our Quality Strategy. 

These were to: 
1 Continue to focus on reducing patient mortality
2 Reduce and eliminate, where possible, health care 

associated infections
3 Monitor and improve the experience of patients  

at the Trust

In order to measure improvement against these three 
priorities the following indicators were identified:
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1  Patient Safety: Reduce avoidable death, disability and 
chronic ill  health by implementing the national venous 
thromboembolism risk assessment tool.

2 Patient experience: Improve responsiveness to the 
personal needs of patients as indicated within the 
national Adult Inpatient Survey.

3  Patient Safety: Support the national assessment 
on patient harm by participating in the NHS Safety 
Thermometer data collection.

4  Patient Safety/experience: Implement the national 
F.A.I.R programme for finding, assessing, investigating 
and referring patients for specialist diagnosis who may 
have dementia. 

5  Patient experience/Safety: Develop a maternity 
mental health pathway in line with NICE guidance.

6  Patient experience: Implement the net promoter 
score as a measure of patient satisfaction and 
recommendation to others.

7  Patient Safety/effectiveness: Share information 
with local Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
to support an overall reduction in alcohol related crime 
and knife crime.

8  Patient Safety: Recruit an Emergency Department 
Independent Domestic Violence Advocate.
To supplement this escalation the Board of Directors 
receives every month performance against a number of 
key quality indicators. For 2012/13 these included:
l HSMR
l RAMI
l HCAI – C.Diff and MRSA Infection Rates
l Friends and Family Test
l Number of Pressure Ulcers
l Number of Serious Incidents
l Patient Thermometer Score
l Number of Complaints
l Number of Compliments

9  Patient Safety/effectiveness: Reduce Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Rate and roll out improved 
care packages for patients with Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease.

10  Patient experience/effectiveness: Develop a process 
for collaboration between all support agencies to put 
in place case management plans for patients that either 
frequently attend the Emergency Department or are 
frequently admitted into hospital.

Progress against these indicators is discussed further in  
Part 3 of this quality account.

This approach was shared with our Governors’ Council 
for consultation and comment. This in turn saw the 
establishment of a number of Governor-led focus groups to 
improve the pathway and/or experience of patients in key 

areas of Trust work which was assimilated into the way the 
Trust delivers its services.  For example in 2012/13 the areas 
that were focused on included discharge arrangements and 
the Outpatient journey for patients and carers attending 
clinic.  Both pieces of work have resulted in changes to 
the way the Trust manages these issues resulting in an 
improving patient experience.

how we measured, monitored and reported our 
achievements in delivering our priorities:

A Quality Strategy Implementation Programme was devised 
that clearly identified the key actions required to deliver our 
priorities and the performance metrics by which delivery 
would be measured. These included the CQUINS for 
2012/13 but also a continuation of some of the effective 
CQUIN measures from previous years plus other work being 
undertaken within the Trust that directly supported delivery 
of our quality priorities. 

This included a range of harm reduction measures such 
as monitoring compliance with all National Patient Safety 
Alerts; improving consistency of information giving to 
patients when obtaining consent to treatment through 
the introduction of procedure-specific consent forms; 
and the introduction of Failure Mode and Effects Analysis 
to proactively identify potential areas of risk and deliver 
remedial measures to reduce that risk. 

These were reported on a monthly basis to the Quality 
and Risk committee and through the Chair’s key issues 
report to the Board of Directors. The Trust’s management 
and governance structure provided a mechanism 
for implementing change, monitoring progress and 
identifying any risks on delivery. Assurance on delivery and 
achievement was supported by the governance reporting 
systems and through Board review of the Board Assurance 
Framework.
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Part 3: Trust Review of Quality Performance 2012/13
the following section of the report provides a snapshot of trust performance for Quality 2012/13.

Key highlights

reducing avoidable mortality has been a prime focus 
since the Trust took part in the Leading Improvement in 
Patient Safety programme in its second wave in April 2008.  
At that time the Trust set itself the ambitious 5% reduction 
in mortality rate per year for the next five years. The 
underpinning strategy remains our first objective and as at 
the end of December, a sustained reduction in  

mortality had been achieved (with an approximate 20% 
reduction in risk adjusted mortality since January 2010 
and 40% reduction since 2007/08). The Trust continues 
to outperform its peers on mortality reduction (see below) 
and performance on mortality continues to be monitored 
by the Clinical Outcomes Group (as described above). 

The Trust recognised there would be key primary drivers 
required to achieve this target and during 2012/13 the Trust 
has again concentrated on improving the management of 
the deteriorating patient, standardising medical care where 
feasible with the introduction of standardised care bundles 
(called Action Sets published by the BMJ Group) and 
implementing harm reduction strategies.   
The latter included:
l improving the flow of emergency admissions and 

reducing medical outliers

l implementing the use of the early warning score to 
identify the deteriorating patient

l standardising the treatment of patients admitted with 
chronic obstructive airways disease(COPD) 

l implementing harm reduction measures such as veno- 
thromboembolism risk assessment, reducing the number 
of falls in patients admitted to hospital, and in particular 
in falls resulting in harm, and reducing the number of 
hospital acquired pressure ulcers.
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Part 3: Trust Review of Quality Performance 2012/13
d r  f o S t e r  h o S P i ta l  G u i d e  2 0 12
The Trust was named in the 2012 Dr Foster Hospital Guide 
as performing well over a range of indices and in particular 
the Trust was named as one of the most efficient hospitals 
in England. In particular, better than expected outcomes 
were recorded in the following items:
l	Elective Hip Replacement, Long Length of Stay (Adjusted)
l	Elective Knee Replacement, Long Length of Stay 

(Adjusted)

efficiency metrics – Dr Foster has utilised a number of 
parameters to assess hospital efficiency.  Hospitals have 
been ranked from the most efficient (with a score of minus  
6) to the least efficient (with a score of plus 7). This Trust 
has scored at minus 5 and hence it is classified as one of 
the most efficient Trusts in England. The indicators are as 
follows:
 

 
Performed particularly well on:
l	Procedures of Limited Clinical Effectiveness (Crude Rate)
l	DNA Rate (Crude Rate)
l	Elective Surgery Long Length of Stay (Adjusted Rate)
l	Procedures Carried Out on a Weekday (Crude Rate)
l	Admissions Where Procedure Not Performed (Crude 

Rate)
l	Short Stay Emergency Admissions with a Vague Diagnosis 

(Crude Rate)

mortality metrics – in addition, the Trust performed 
as expected across a range of mortality indices with no 
outliers identified. 

In addition, the Trust has performed better than expected 
in the following metrics:
l	Short Stay Admissions for COPD
l	Short Stay Emergency Admissions for urinary tract 

infections

r e d u c i n G  a n d  e l i m i n at i n G  h e a lt h c a r e  a S S o c i at e d  i n f e c t i o n

The Trust’s ambition to reduce and eliminate healthcare 
associated infections is monitored by the Infection Control 
Committee, a subcommittee of the Trust Executive 
Committee.  An Annual Report and an Annual Work Plan 
are submitted to the Board each year with an annual 
programme, to maintain and strengthen compliance with 
the Health and Social Act (2008) Code of Practice.

In 2012, The Trust has been successful in meeting all its 
infection control targets and, in particular, it has reduced 
the rate of hospital acquired infections from Clostridrium 
Difficile by 75% since 2008 (please see chart). This has 
been achieved by reviewing the patient pathway and 
identifying improvements to the care of patients suspected 
of contracting a hospital acquired infection. 

In addition, the rates of the other hospital acquired 
infections remain low and the Trust remains in the lower 
quartile for the following hospital acquired infections 
(compared to its peers in the East of England):
l	MSSA bacteraemia per 1,000 bed days
l	MRSA bacteraemia per 1,000 bed days
l Escherichia coli bacteraemia per 1,000 bed days
l Surgical site infections
	 	 o Hip replacement surgery
	 	 o Fractured neck of femur surgery
	 	 o Large bowel surgery

Key to the Trust’s ambition to reduce mortality by 5% per 
year was the formation of the clinical outcomes Group  

 
which monitors the mortality rate with the following 
actions:

l	Patient Safety Report – monthly and quarterly monitoring 
reports of key performance indicators including mortality, 
readmissions and length of stay

l	Audits – where performance is off trajectory, audits are 
commissioned to identify that clinical performance is in 
accordance with best practice and recommendations 
made where improvements can be identified

l	External intelligence – this group monitors intelligence 
from external agencies to identify further areas of quality 
improvement. Such external intelligence includes:
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 o  Dr Foster – trends in HSMR and the annual 
Hospital Guide

 o CHKS – the Trust commissioned CHKS to provide 
the Trust with a quality performance dashboard, 
which could be readily accessed by clinicians and 
benchmarked against our peers

 o  NHS Midlands and East Quality Observatory – 
Acute Trust Quality Dashboard

An action plan to address these concerns continues to be 
monitored monthly.

In October 2012, the Trust was visited by the nhS 
litigation authority as part of the normal review 
procedure and the Trust was successful in maintaining its 
Level 2 compliance to their standards, which recognises 
the substantial commitment to safe clinical care locally 
and affords the Trust a discount of its insurance.  In 
addition the Trust also maintained its Level 1 compliance 
with the obstetric standards and recorded a 50 out of 50 
score – a considerable achievement.  The Trust plans to 
further improve performance over the next few years with 
successful achievement at the next level of compliance. 

The clinical Governance Specialty review process 
provides the framework through which the Trust is able to 
provide assurance that all clinical practice within the Trust 
is underpinned by sound principles of clinical governance.  
The review process takes place each year and involves all 
the clinical specialties within the Trust. internal audit 
reviewed this process in 2011 and, whilst it was impressed 
by the format and scrutiny inherent in the process, it did 
give further recommendations as to how the process could 
be improved. These recommendations have been endorsed 
and implemented by the Clinical Governance Committee, 
responsible for overseeing these reviews.

Although the francis report was published in February 
2013, the Trust had already taken steps to review its own 
practice in light of the previous mid-Staffordshire report.  
This review has culminated in a local action plan to address 
any potential gaps in quality and had been monitored by 
the Board, through the Healthcare Governance Committee.  
All the actions were signed off, as complete.  The Medical 
Director also attended a PCT Board meeting to present its 
action plan.  

The Trust is supported by a Patient experience 
Group, formed by the Governors of the Trust in 2013, 
whose members participate in the annual PEAT (Patient 
Environment Action Team) and provide the Trust with 
advice on matters relating to patient experience. The Trust 
has embarked on active monitoring of patients’ experience 
through local and national surveys, patients’ stories, 
complaints and enquiries through the PALS office (Patient 
Advice and Liaison Service) and with the use of its own 
monitoring tool (Friends and Family Test) so that the Trust 
now has an improved understanding of what matters to 
patients and their families.

In 2012 the Trust appointed a specialist in patient 
experience to build on the knowledge obtained from 
these surveys and to identify ways to improve the patient 
experience by engaging with frontline staff. This work is 
on-going but has identified many ways in which we can 
improve the experience for our patients.

Nationally concerns have been expressed about the 
Liverpool Care Pathway and its implementation and 
concerns were also raised by some of our own patients.  
Adherence to best practice in its use locally was reviewed 
by the Board with a presentation by the local Consultant 
in Palliative Care. The Trust is assured that it follows best 
practice but will review this practice when further advice is 
available following the national review.
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Patient Experience

This Trust has accepted the Darzi Report definition of 
patient experience as the “…quality of caring, the personal 
aspect of care, the compassion, dignity and respect with 
which patients are treated”. The Trust Board approved a 
new three year Patient and Carer Experience Strategy in 
November 2012 to achieve the best patient experience that 
is possible from a publicly funded service for all our patients 
and their carers. 

This Strategy provides a framework which supports the 
development and implementation of other strategies, 
policies and procedures which, if followed, will result in 
patients and their carers receiving a good experience of 
our services in which their individual needs are met and 
their views respected. The implementation of this Strategy 
is being overseen by the Governors’ Patient Experience 
Committee with actions co-ordinated and monitored 
through the Patient Experience Steering Group.

The purpose of this Strategy is:
l To establish a culture that ensures that what is happening 

to the patient as an individual whilst in our care is the 
most important thing to our staff at that point, no matter 
how busy they are

l To ensure that patients’ and carers’ views directly 
influence the way services are provided so that the Trust 
moves to a position whereby the experience which 
patients and their carers have of our services is the best 
that is possible from a publicly-funded service

l Use the positive experience that our patients and carers 
receive to enhance the reputation of The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust

In 2013 – 14 the following key elements of the Strategy will 
be implemented:
l The new Values Council will introduce the corporate 

values and behaviours expected of staff and contractors. 
These will be incorporated into the Trust’s recruitment 
and selection procedures for new staff and into tender 
documents for contractors.  The staff appraisal system 
will require staff to evidence that they display these 
behaviours in their work.

l A ‘real time patient experience monitoring system’ will 
be set-up with a third-party contractor to enable Trust 
managers to obtain timely patient and carer feedback so 
issues can be addressed as soon as possible preferably 
whilst the patient is still in our care.

Patient Experience is measured through a number of 
methods including:
l National and local surveys of patients
l The Friends and Family Test

l Mock CQC visits which include interviews with patients 
and carers (if they are present during the visit).  The 
reports from these visits and any resulting action plans 
are considered by the Governors’ Patient Experience 
Committee and by the Quality, Risk and Audit Standards 
Committee covering the ward or department visited.

what our Patients Say about us
During April 2012 to March 2013 the Trust participated in 
the following national patient surveys:

National Inpatient Survey – results published April 2013
National Cancer Patients Experience Survey – results 
published August 2012
National A&E Survey – results published December 2012
National Day Case Survey – results published  
December 2012

The results of all these surveys can be found at: http://
www.nhssurveys.org/, click on ‘National Surveys’ tab at 
the top of the home page, choose the survey you require 
and then scroll down to find us at ‘T’ (The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn).

Following the publication of the survey results, these are 
presented to the Board.  Where necessary, action plans are 
developed and implemented to address any issues raised by 
the results.

In practice, because of the long delay between the time 
when the sample of patients being surveyed were actually 
treated and the publication of the survey results, most 
problem areas will have been identified through our other 
quality monitoring methods and action taken already.  
Examples include the actions taken following our mock 
CQC visits and our responses to complaints and PALS 
enquiries.

In 2013 – 14, the Trust will contract with a third party to 
establish a ‘real time’ Patient Experience Monitoring System 
to enable the Trust to obtain more timely patient and carer 
feedback so issues can be addressed as soon as possible 
after they arise.
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Complaints and Compliments

The Trust is committed to ensuring that complaints about 
its services will be properly investigated and dealt with 
efficiently. The Trust also recognises the pledge under the 
NHS Constitution that when mistakes happen, they should 
be acknowledged; the Trust should apologise, explain what 
went wrong and put things right quickly and effectively.

The purpose of the Complaints Department is to ensure 
that the Trust’s Complaints Handling Policy and Procedures 
is adhered to and there is a process to ‘listen’ to the 
concerns raised by the complainant, to ‘respond’ to the 
complaint in a satisfactory manner, to ensure that where 
the faults are identified they are recognised and addressed 
with remedial action taken where possible. Lessons 
arising from the complaints are recognised and used to 
improve services for patients. Also, to identify whether the 
complaint is upheld or not upheld.

Information concerning a complaint is collected and 
recorded by the Complaints department and this 
information is analysed and reported to the Trust’s Quality 
and Risk Committee and the Board of Directors to identify 
and trends or themes within complaints.  Quarterly 
Complaints, Litigation, Incidents and PALS (CLIP) reports 
are produced and are available to staff to ensure awareness 
of the number of complaints received, action taken as 
a consequence and lessons learnt.  Monthly complaints 
reports are produced to Divisions and their relevant teams 
to assist in providing assurance that the Trust can continue 
to learn from feedback concerning its services.  The 
Trust recognises that complaints are a valuable source of 
feedback and these can be an early warning sign of any 
failures in service delivery.

Within the Trust’s Quality Strategy Implementation 
Programme our aim is to improve learning and service 
improvement from complaints. The objective is to reduce 
the number of clinical complaints for the top scoring areas 
of communication and staff attitude by 5% year on year 
2011/12 – 2012/13.

The Patient Experience Steering group has reviewed the 
top communication issues related to complaints and from 
the patients’ surveys and will be developing values and 
behaviours and customer care workshops for all staff, 
focusing on listening, communication, manner and attitude.

To ensure the process for listening and responding to 
concerns of patients, their relatives or carers, questionnaires 
are to be sent to all complainants to establish whether they 
are satisfied with the way in which the complaint was dealt 
with and the action taken. Questionnaires are also to be 

sent to staff involved in a complaint process to identify if 
they felt they had been fairly treated.

The Trust has increased the number of complaints 
conciliation meetings to ensure that patients and relatives 
are able to fully discuss issues and concerns. Also, a 
meeting room has been allocated to ensure that distressed 
relatives and patients are able to meet with Trust staff in 
an environment that is conducive to ensuring the meeting 
is held in a professional manner and in a quiet location 
away from the acute clinical areas in which to listen to the 
concerns and issues raised. Training is being organised for 
clinical staff who attend conciliation meetings, to ensure 
they are prepared for meetings and have the skills required 
to ensure that meetings are effective and meet the needs 
of the relatives and patients concerned.

Following the Francis Report these are the changes the 
Trust aims to commence going forward:

l To work closely with local Healthwatch.
l To review the complaints handling process within the 

organisation.
l To ensure openness, transparency and candour 

throughout the complaints process.
l To ensure complaints continue to be given high priority in 

order to identify and learn from concerns.
l To continue to work with POhwer Independent 

Complaints Advocacy Service, to provide complainants 
support throughout the complaints process.

We will be reviewing the following recommendations:

l Review and implement the recommendations in the 
Patient’s Association Peer Review into complaints at The 
Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust.

l To review the complaints process in relation to the 
handling of investigations

l To undertake a review of sharing the Trust’s upheld 
complaints, through publishing anonymised information 
on the Trust’s website.

The Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) is in place 
at the Trust to ensure that we listen to patients, their 
relatives, carers and friends and answer their questions 
and resolve their concerns as quickly as possible.  PALS 
provide a confidential service to help make patients and 
visitors experiences within the hospital as problem free as 
possible.  We ensure that patients, their families, and carers 
are better informed and that their voice is heard, to resolve 
individual concerns and information requests as quickly 
as possible. Provide information and feedback into health 
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services, which will lead to quality improvements, based on 
patient experience and needs.

The Trust has one PALS Assistant and one PALS Travel 
Desk Officer based in the hospital’s front foyer and one 
Complaints/PALS officer who divides time between 
complaint handling and responding to PALS enquiries.

Our aim is to increase awareness of our service. This is 
being achieved through promotional tools including posters 
and leaflets. It is our aim that our presence on the wards is 
increased in order to provide support to patients and staff.

Incident Reporting and Never Events

The Trust recognises the value of incident reporting in 
supporting a learning culture and has invested this year 
in introducing an electronic incident reporting system, 
DATIXWeb. This new system has enabled the organisation 
to obtain information on incidents in real time and has led 
to an improvement in the quality of information obtained 
on each incident and supported the Patient Safety team 
in better identifying key issues and trends arising from 
reported incidents.

Staff are encouraged to report any incidents that occur 
and to view reporting as an opportunity for learning and 
improving services. There was a slight variance in the 
reporting rate during the two months in which DATIXWeb 

was launched when there was a transition from the paper 
to the electronic reporting forms but this quickly recovered 
and the reporting rate is now in line with the figures for the 
previous year. The Trust is benchmarked nationally by the 
National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) in terms of 
its reporting rate as this is seen by the NRLS as evidence of an 
organisation’s effective reporting culture and ability to learn 
from adverse events. This Trust is reported as being within 
the top fifty per cent of reporting trusts with a reporting rate 
of 6.6 incidents per 100 admissions. The overall number of 
patient safety incidents reported to the NRLS within the year 
is 5345. This included issues of minor concern through to 
more serious issues requiring a full investigation, root cause 
analysis and changes to practice or process. 
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The Trust continues to report all patient safety incidents 
on a fortnightly basis via the NRLS. This has included 21 
incidents that have been categorised as serious under the 
national reporting system plus seven which were classified 
as ‘Never Events’. Never Events are ‘serious preventable 
patient safety incidents that should not occur if the 
available preventative measures have been implemented’ 
(National Patient Safety Agency: Never Events Framework 
2009/10). Each Never Event was subject to a detailed 
investigation and multidisciplinary review to ensure that the 
root causes of the failures in practice were identified and 

the lessons learnt shared across the organisation. Within 
the overall figure of serious incidents, 13 were related to 
patients experiencing a fall whilst in hospital leading to 
serious injury. This was despite the organisation reporting 
a rate of 5.3 falls per 1000 bed days in comparison to the 
national average of 8.7 falls per 1000 bed days. In addition 
to these incidents, the Trust has also reported all identified 
hospital acquired pressure ulcers Grade 3 and above and in 
2012/13 this has included 72 pressure ulcers at Grade 3 and 
one at Grade 4. 

comparative data on 
number and severity  
of incidents from nrlS  
1st April 2012–  
30th September 2012
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Improving patient safety continues to be one of the three key quality indicators for the Trust. The organisation 
has built on the work undertaken in previous years to enhance safety and improve clinical outcomes for patients. 
The Patient Safety Committee has continued to act as the focal group for reviewing issues arising from individual 
patient safety incidents, disseminating national guidance and safety alerts and supporting initiatives to address 
particular aspects of practice where evidence suggests improvements to patient safety can be achieved. The 
Patient Safety Committee reports to the Trust’s Clinical Governance Committee and through this accountability 
communicates any issues of concern to the Board of Directors.

The Patient Safety Committee is underpinned by other safety groups that monitor and implement new initiatives 
to address specific risks to patient safety. This includes the Falls Prevention Group, Medicines Management Group 
and the Pressure Ulcer Forum. Reducing risk often requires a multi-disciplinary and a multi-agency approach and 
considerable work has been undertaken to reduce risk across the entire patient pathway.

The Trust has recognised that there are clinical incidents that do not meet the criteria to be reported as serious 
incidents but may none-the-less have had potentially significant adverse consequences for the patient. These are 
now being recorded as serious learning events by the organisation and are subject to the same level of scrutiny, 
investigation and reporting as those that are reported externally as serious incidents.

During 2012/13 the Trust has made changes to practice as a result of incidents and proactively in response to 
identified areas of risk. This has included rolling out the use of the WHO pre-surgical checklist to other areas 
such as Dermatology and Orthodontics; the introduction of a patient catheter passport and a COPD passport in 
conjunction with the community; the introduction of a pharmacist into the Medical Assessment Unit to ensure 
medicines reconciliation and a review of interventional procedures carried out in ward areas. In addition the 
organisation undertook a Failure Mode and Effect Analysis looking at how to reduce medication errors and 
implemented a number of improvement measures as a result of the findings.

All serious incidents and Never Events are also reported 
via the Strategic Executive Information System to enable 
local commissioners of services to monitor and support the 
management of serious incidents in locally commissioned 
services.

Learning from incidents is recognised as key to managing 
risk and staff are supported to understand how they can 
determine the underlying issues that have led to incidents 
occurring through a programme of training that has 
included information on how to realise the benefits of 
DATIXweb and how to use the technique of Root Cause 
Analysis. Training on the benefits of incident reporting is 
now included in the annual Clinical Mandatory Training 
days for doctors. Frontline staff are provided with additional 

educational support and feedback on patient safety 
incidents in the in-house Patient Safety Bulletin.

Incident reports are provided to clinical specialties, 
Divisional Quality, Risk and Standards committees and 
to specialist safety groups to ensure shared learning. 
Complaints, Litigation, Incident and PALS (CLIP) reports 
are compiled on a quarterly basis identifying trends and 
key issues from reported events and benchmarking the 
organisation against national data. The CLIP report is 
submitted to the Quality and Risk committee for discussion 
and examination of identified issues and in turn shared 
with senior clinical and managerial staff throughout the 
organisation and with commissioners.

Patient Safety incidents reported to nrlS 1.4.11 to 31.3.12 1.4.12 to 31.3.13

Total number of incidents 5742 5345

Serious Incidents 22 21

Never Events 1 7

Serious Incidents /Never Events as a % of all patient safety incidents reported 0.5% 0.5%
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Key Priority Performance

w h at i S  v e n o -t h ro m b o e m b o l i Sm ( v t e ) ?
The House of Commons Health Committee (2005) reported 
that each year there are approximately 25,000 deaths 
from hospital acquired venous thromboembolism (VTE) in 
the UK.  This is when blood clots form in peripheral veins 
and then disperse to the heart and lungs, where they 
cause severe compromise to the heart and lung function, 
and subsequently death.  VTE is largely preventable 
through risk-based screening and appropriate preventative 
mechanical and/or chemical interventions.
In response to this, the independent working expert 
group on the prevention of venous thromboembolism 
in hospitalised patients (2007) reported their findings to 
the Department of Health, who published comprehensive 
guidance aimed at reducing greatly this risk to patients. 
These guidelines stress that each patient should have a 

VTE assessment undertaken on admission and periodically 
throughout the duration of hospitalisation because their 
risk might change; ideally reassessment every 48 to 72 
hours.
The Epidemiologic International Day for the Evaluation 
of Patients at Risk of VTE in the Acute Hospital Setting 
(ENDORSE) study of a total of 70,000 patients from 358 
hospitals across 32 counties revealed that only 40% of 
medical patients and 60% of surgical patients received 
appropriate thromboprophylaxis (Cohen et al 2008).

a i m  a n d  G oa l
To implement the national risk assessment tool for VTE and 
in particular to ensure that 95% of medical and surgical 
patients were assessed appropriately by quarter 4 of 
2011/12.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
The Trust established a Thrombosis Committee in July 
2007 under the Chairmanship of one of our Clinical 
Haematologists, with the overall purpose of promoting 
and monitoring best practice. The new Trust policy for ‘The 
Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism’ was modified 
in January 2010, defining those patients excluded from 
assessment and thromboprophylaxis, and disseminated 
throughout the Trust, supported by the national ‘Stop the 
Clot’ publicity launch and a local media campaign.
Other initiatives included:
l Thromboprophylaxis guidelines and anticoagulation 

management included in the junior doctors and nurses 
induction programme

l Root cause analysis for all patients with VTE associated 
with their hospital re-admission and in whom no 
thromboprophylaxis  was prescribed

l VTE assessment tool incorporated into the orthopaedic, 
surgical and medical clerking documentation.

l Audit of practice (as outlined)
l Easy reference VTE assessment tool leaflet distributed to 

all medical staff
l New VTE assessment tool designed for obstetrics and for 

day surgery

trust performance in 2011/12
The Trust successfully achieved its target with 95.94% of 
all medical and surgical patients assessed appropriately in 
2011/12 and 96.89% appropriately assessed in Q4.  
 

outcome 2012/13

Priority 1 – Reduce avoidable death and disability by screening 
all patients for VTE
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l		Ward pharmacists monitored prescriptions and drug 
chart, with a separate section for thromboprophylaxis, in 
accordance with guidelines

h o w  t h e  t r u S t  m o n i t o r e d 
i m P l e m e n tat i o n
Performance against this indicator is reported nationally 
via a national reporting system.  Performance at Ward 
and Service Line level is reported and variance to the 95% 
target is discussed at service level performance reviews.

Priority 2 – Improve Trust Score on Adult IP Survey

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e  o u r 
S c o r e  f o r  t h e  S u r v e y ?
The indicator incorporates questions which are known to 
be important to patients and where past data indicates 
significant room for improvement across England.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
The indicator is a composite, calculated from five survey 
questions. Each describes a different element of the 
overarching patient experience theme “responsiveness to 
personal needs of patients”. 
The elements are: 
1 Involvement in decisions about treatment/care, 
2 Hospital staff being available to talk about worries/

concerns, 
3 Privacy when discussing condition/treatment, 
4 Being informed about side effects of medication, 
5 Being informed who to contact if worried about 

condition after leaving hospital.

S c o r i n G
For each question in the survey, the individual 
(standardised) responses are converted into scores on 
a scale from 0 to 10. A score of 10 represents the best 
possible response and a score of zero the worst. The 
higher the score for each question, the better the Trust is 
performing.

It is not appropriate to score all questions in the 
questionnaire as not all of the questions assess the trusts 
in any way. For example, they may be descriptive questions 
such as Q1 asking respondents if their inpatient stay was 
planned in advance or an emergency; or they may be 
‘routing questions’ designed to filter out respondents to 
whom following questions do not apply. An example of 
a routing question would be Q41 “During your stay in 
hospital, did you have an operation or procedure?”

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
We undertook a programme of ‘mock’ CQC (Care 
Quality Commission) audits throughout the year to assess 
standards and developed action plans to address any areas 
for development. The action plans were implemented 
by the ward sisters/ charge nurses and matrons from 
the relevant areas which were monitored by the Patient 
Experience Committee.

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e
2011
Involvement in decisions about treatment and care – 6.6
Hospital staff being available to talk about worries or 
concerns – 4.8
Privacy when discussing condition / treatment – 7.8
Being informed about side effects of medication – 3.9
Being informed who to contact if worried about condition 
after leaving hospital – 7.1

o u t c o m e
2012
Involvement in decisions about treatment and care – 7.2 
(increase)
Hospital staff being available to talk about worries or 
concerns – 5.3 (increase
Privacy when discussing condition / treatment – 8.5 
(increase)
Being informed about side effects of medication – 4.1 
(slight increase)
Being informed who to contact if worried about condition 
after leaving hospital – 6.7 (decrease)

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d  i m P l e m e n tat i o n S
Mock CQC action plans were monitored by the Patient 
Experience Committee.
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Priority 3 – Collect and measure improvement on the NHS 
Safety Thermometer

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
Participation in data collection using the NHS Safety 
Thermometer is an important preparatory step for 
NHS-funded provider organisations in reducing harm. 
Incentivising use of the NHS Safety Thermometer will 
increase the participation in this data collection, establish 
a national baseline of performance on the four harms 
and provide information on the range of performance. 
This will allow the establishment of quality improvement 
aims for year two and contribute to the provision of data 
required for the Outcomes Framework and Government 
Transparency Agenda.

The intention is that further improvement goals relating 
to outcomes measured by the Safety Thermometer will be 
incentivised in future years.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
This CQUIN incentivises the collection of data on 
patient harm using the NHS Safety Thermometer harm 
measurement instrument (developed as part of the QIPP 
Safe Care national work stream) to survey all relevant 
patients in all relevant NHS providers in England on a 
monthly basis. 

Detailed information on the appropriate patients and 
relevant settings for use of the NHS Safety Thermometer 
are defined in the NHS Safety Thermometer guidance for 
use.

The intention is for all NHS-funded providers, across 
community, mental health, acute and residential and 
nursing care, including NHS-funded independent sector 
providers, to use the Safety Thermometer, apart from 
where exceptions apply, as detailed in the guidance. This 
will allow nationally consistent data to be collected and 
published as well as facilitating local improvement activity.
Where providers already have in place existing data 
collections that duplicate the measures in the tool, 
commissioners should use this CQUIN to incentivise 
transition to the safety thermometer tool to ensure data 
is produced that is consistent with the national collection. 
All relevant providers will be expected to have begun use 
of the national Safety Thermometer measurement tool by 
the end of 2012/13. Use of the Safety Thermometer will be 
mandatory in 2013/14.

Where organisations are already submitting full data for 
the safety thermometer and there is no room for further 
improvement, commissioners should consider increasing 

the proportion of CQUIN payments available for the other 
national CQUIN goals.
 
h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
We collected the data on a monthly basis and all results 
were discussed with ward sisters, charge nurses, matrons 
and senior nurses of specific areas. Where issues arose 
action plans were implemented to improve results. 
Collection of the data was organised systematically by the 
lead nurse for practice and innovation and education and 
training was implemented where required.

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e
This is a new Indicator and not performed by the Trust in 
previous years.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d  i m P l e m e n tat i o n S
Data was published by the Department of Health Website 
on a monthly basis, which allowed the Trust to track 
progress.

outcome

Mar12 Apr12 May12 Jun12 Jul12 Aug12 Sep12 Oct12 Nov12 Dec12 Jan12
3.74 5.31 6.75 5.31 4.8 5.1 4.45 4.23 3.79 3.04 2.03
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Priority 4 – Improve the care and access to services for patients 
with dementia

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
The National Dementia Strategy published in 2009 
identified that people with dementia experience under-
diagnosis, delayed discharges from acute and community 
hospitals, premature admissions to care homes and a 
general lack of appropriate services.

The aim of the strategy is to achieve significant 
improvement in three main areas:
l Awareness
l Early diagnosis & intervention
l Higher quality care

Half of those admitted to hospital with dementia have 
never been diagnosed prior to admission and other causes 
of cognitive impairment such as delirium or depression are 
often missed.  

Implementation of the strategy has been incorporated as a 
regional indicator into the commissioning CQUIN targets for 
the Trust and as part of the Quality, Innovation, Productivity 
and Prevention programme (QIPP) within Norfolk. The 
emphasis during this year has been on introducing a 
programme for finding, assessing, investigating and 
referring patients with a possible diagnosis of dementia 
(F.A.I.R). 

This programme aspires to promote a system within acute 
Trusts for ensuring that the opportunity provided by an 
inpatient admission into hospital is also used to support the 
identification of patients with dementia and other causes of 
impaired cognition and prompts an appropriate referral and 
follow up after they leave hospital.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
To ensure that all patients aged 75 and over admitted 
as emergency inpatients are included in the F.A.I.R 
programme and those with a potential diagnosis of 
dementia are identified, assessed, investigated and 
appropriately referred for further diagnostic advice and 
follow up after discharge.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
The Trust identified a team to deliver this challenge which 
included a newly appointed Lead Nurse for Dementia 
plus a re-focus of the work of our two Dementia Support 
Workers.

During the last quarter of the year the Trust fully 
implemented the F.A.I.R programme and targeted all 

emergency admissions over the age of 75 years old. 
Patients were first asked to undertake an abbreviated form 
of the Test Your Memory test (Pre- TYM), a shortened 
version of the full TYM test, to check whether they were 
able to participate in completing the test. Only those that 
were able to complete the Pre- TYM test and scored ≥6 
were then screened using the full TYM test. 

According to the outcome of the TYM test, patients 
were assigned to one of three categories which gave an 
indication of whether there were any concerns with the 
patient’s cognitive function:
1 Patients who scored <6 on the pre-TYM did not have 

further screening. These patients scored red on the 
Cognitive State Summary. Often these patients had 
significant health problems that affected their ability to 
participate fully in screening.

2 Patients who scored ≥6 on the Pre-TYM but <41 on 
the TYM test. This indicated that they were able to 
complete the Pre-TYM but scored poorly on the TYM.  
These patients scored amber on the Cognitive State 
Summary.  

3 Patients who scored >6 on the Pre-TYM and >41 
on TYM. This indicated that either the patient /or 
their informant felt there was no evidence for recent 
cognitive decline or that the patient passed the TYM 
and Pre-TYM tests. These patients scored Green on 
the Cognitive State Summary.

When the patients were considered medically fit for 
discharge a Cognitive State Summary was forwarded to 
their GP along with the normal discharge notification. The 
results of additional investigations to support diagnosis 
were included in the summary. Only patients scoring red or 
amber were reported to their GP. This summary provided 
an indication of whether the patient may have cognitive 
impairment and the GP was asked to consider whether 
the patient would benefit from further investigations to 
determine a definitive diagnosis and/or additional support 
and follow-up.

The F.A.I.R programme was developed as a stepped 
approach and each of these steps was first piloted before 
the overall programme was fully introduced across the 
organisation in January 2013.

In line with other acute trusts within Norfolk, the 
organisation decided on using the ‘Test Your Memory’ test 
(TYM test) as the principal assessment tool for screening 
patients that had scored ≤ 7 on the Abbreviated Mental 
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Test Score during their admission clerking or had triggered 
using the national dementia finding question:
“Have you been more forgetful in the last 12 months to the 
extent that it has significantly affected your life?”

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e 
This was a new priority area and so did not have monitoring 
in the previous year.

o u t c o m e
Approximately 700 – 750 patients per month. 

f i n d i n G 
An initial assessment of cognitive function during the first 
72 hours of admission using the Abbreviated Mental Test 
Score (AMTS) and the ‘Dementia-finding’ question. Both of 
these are currently completed and recorded within all the 
clerking documents within the Trust. 
 
a S S e S S m e n t
Further screening of all patients who scored ≤ 7 on the 
AMTS or who indicated, (or a relative indicated), on the 
dementia- finding question that they had experienced 
increased forgetfulness within the last 12 months. The Trust 
utilised the TYM (Test Your Memory) test as the screening 
tool for further investigating the patient’s current level of 
cognition.

i n v e S t i G at i o n 
Additional investigations during the admission to support 
understanding of the patient’s possible diagnosis including 
blood tests, electrocardiogram, CT or MRI, if applicable.

r e f e r r a l 
A referral to their GP on discharge which included a 
Cognitive State Summary and the results of the supportive 
investigations during the admission, excluding those 
patients that scored >7 on their initial AMTS and did not 

indicate that they had experienced forgetfulness. This 
equated to approximately 50 referral letters a month.

The patients also received a letter advising them that 
memory assessments had been carried out whilst they were 
in hospital and that they may wish to consider a follow up 
appointment to discuss this with their GP.

h o w  t h e  t r u S t  m o n i t o r e d 
i m P l e m e n tat i o n
The Trust established a database which was populated with 
the details of all patients age >75 years old admitted as 
emergency inpatients. This was populated from the main 
patient administration system on a daily basis during the 
working week.  The Lead Nurse for Dementia then ensured 
that the database was updated with the details of when 
assessments took place, the results of those assessments 
and when subsequent referrals had been sent. Data was 
entered for all patients and any potential gaps were rapidly 
identified and the individual patients followed up.

The organisation cross-checked the information by 
undertaking a continuous audit of all qualifying patient 
health records as they passed through Clinical Coding 
following discharge  to ensure that copies of the relevant 
assessment and referral paperwork was present in the 
records.

Progress on meeting the quality improvement objectives 
was reported on a monthly basis to the Dementia Strategy 
Steering Group.

board Sponsor:  Gwyneth Wilson
Director of Patient Experience and Lead for Nursing and 
Non-Medical Professionals

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
The NICE Caesarian section guidance indicates that women 
who request a c/section because of anxiety about childbirth 
should be offered referral to a healthcare professional with 
expertise in providing perinatal mental health support. 
Information should also be provided to all women to help 
them make an informed choice on c/section or to prepare 
them for the possibility. Our current maternity services 
providers will see these women as outpatients.

Women who have a traumatic birth also require support to 
discuss this and at an appropriate time to discuss options 
for future pregnancies.

Whilst we are locally looking at this guidance it would seem 
an appropriate time to establish links between maternity 
and mental health providers and look at establishing an 
integrated care pathway for antenatal and postnatal mental 
health. Other services in the country have already done 
this. This would mean the development of a local pathway 

Priority 5 – Improve care given to our maternity patients 
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between the acute and community providers and the 
mental health trust. This would ensure that women are 
supported not only physically throughout their maternity 
pathway but also psychologically.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
To develop a maternity mental health pathway to meet 
the requirements within the NICE guidance involving the 
collaboration of Trusts and commissioners to develop the 
pathway and implement accordingly. 

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
Working with patients and our mental health provider 
colleagues a new pathway was devised to ensure that 
patients who required this level of support could easily and 
quickly access it.

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e
This was a new priority area and so did not have monitoring 
in the previous year.

o u t c o m e
A new maternity pathway was developed and implemented 
successfully.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d  i m P l e m e n tat i o n
Implementation was monitored through the division’s 
internal governance structure and reported to the CQUIN 
lead on a quarterly basis.

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
The ‘Patient Revolution’ is one of the five ambitions that the 
SHA cluster would like to deliver. The SHA has defined the 
‘Patient Revolution’ as covering three elements. Included 
within this is the need to drive improvements in patient and 
customer experience.

NHS Midlands and East are developing a standardised 
approach with a single metric to obtain ‘real-time’ 
monitoring of Patient Experience based on the Net 
Promoter Score methodology and called the ‘Friends and 
family Test’.

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) provides a single score 
which reflects the perceptions of patients about their 
experiences of the health care they have received. The 
score is the difference between the proportion of people 
surveyed who said they would be ‘extremely likely’ to 
recommend the local service and the proportion who said 
they would be ‘neither likely nor unlikely’, ‘unlikely’ or 
‘extremely unlikely’ to recommend to recommend. 

The use of the Friends and Family Test is one method of 
measuring how we maintain and build on improvements 
identified from the National Patient Survey. 

a i m  a n d  G oa l
1a) To establish question and baseline Friends and Family 
Test Score for 10% of inpatients 
1b)  Monthly report to Board and Commissioner at 
organisational, speciality and ward level, including plans for 
improvement
1c)  Achieve a 10 point improvement in Family and Friends 
Test Score or maintain top quartile performance (targets 

and top quartile will be calculated using M1 baseline data)

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e
The Friends and Family Test was introduced in May 2012 so 
there is no previous year’s performance for comparison.

o u t c o m e
The Trust achieved at least the minimum target response 
rate set by the SHA for the period of the trial. The score fell 
below the target score in July 2012 and there was a further 
sharp decrease in August 2012.

From February 2013 a third-party contractor has been 
engaged to provide the Trust with support to help us 
improve our response rates. The company also provides the 
results and analysis in a usable format which is fed back 
to colleagues to enable us to celebrate and replicate the 
successes and to develop those areas where patients tell 
us we can improve.  In the first month of using this service 
our response rate increased to 22% and we received 414 
individual reviews from patients and carers.

Priority 6 – Implement the Friends and Family Test
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By sharing these results with colleagues and working with 
the wards and departments where patients tell us we could 
do better we expect to see our Friends and Family Test 
scores improve through 2012 – 13.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d  i m P l e m e n tat i o n S
The FFT response rate and score is reported monthly to the 
Board and to the Patient Experience Steering Group whose 
role is to implement the Patient and carer Experience 
Strategy.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
We achieved our target response rate by engaging with 
ward colleagues to encourage patients to complete the FFT 
survey cards. We also established a new post of Patient and 
Public Involvement Lead, part of whose role it is to ensure 

that the target response rate is met. Methods to encourage 
patients to respond include:
l Face-to-face encouragement and assistance where 

required to complete the paper forms
l Posters
l A dedicated website hosted by a third party organisation 

so that patients can respond on-line if they prefer

The Trust is not currently achieving the target FFT scores. 
The Trust approved the adoption of the new Patient and 
Public Experience Strategy 2012 – 15 in November 2012 
and it is expected that the implementation of the various 
elements of this will lead to incremental improvements 
in the patient experience and an improvement in our FFT 
scores as a measure of this.

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
A&E departments can contribute effectively to violence 
prevention by working with Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSPs) and by sharing electronic, simple anonymised data 
about precise location of violence, weapon use and day/
time of violence.
This data can be used to enhance the effectiveness of 
targeted policing to reduce licensed premises and street 
violence resulting in a reduction of overall A&E violence 
related attendances.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
l		Partnership Working – A&E liaison with other 

organisations (sharing assault data)
l		To share data with the local Community Safety 

Partnership (CSP) in accordance with The College of 
Emergency Medicine Guidelines in an effort to work 
collaboratively on the reduction of alcohol related crime 
and knife crime

l		To involve A&E departments liaising with Police regarding 
venues where patients had sustained injury when it was 
as a result of a violent incident (e.g. clubs). This should 
include data concerning patients who have sustained 
accidental injury resulting in A&E attendance that 

has occurred inside or immediately outside a licensed 
premises.

l	Required information to be sent to the email addresses 
supplied on a monthly basis and attendance at a six 
monthly forum to discuss the process, findings and 
actions taken as a result of the data supplied. 

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
The Trust ensured all A&E reception staff were trained 
in collecting this data. The Trust also purchased and 
implemented a new A&E administration system during 
the year.  The collection of this information was made 
mandatory in applicable cases on the system.

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e
This is a new area to be monitored, but as performance has 
increased throughout the year a good level of improvement 
has been achieved.

o u t c o m e
This CQUIN is expected to be achieved.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d  i m P l e m e n tat i o n S
Actual performance is monitored on a monthly basis. 

Priority 7 – Work with the local Crime and Disorder Reduction  
Partnership to reduce alcohol related crime
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Priority 8 – Recruit an A&E based Independent Domestic  
Violence Advocate

w h at  i S  a n  i n d e P e n d e n t  d o m e S t i c 
v i o l e n c e  a d v o c at e
By providing a specialist role it will improve current services 
to facilitate early intervention and prevention of harm. 
IDVA’s are proactive in terms of early crisis intervention and 
safety planning, addressing immediate safety issues as well 
as identifying longer-term solutions, and advocating for 
clients with complex needs and with differing agencies.

Hospital staff treating victims suffering from the effects 
of DV, have a number of time constraints which prevent 
a) immediate specialist assistance, b) appropriate risk 
assessment being carried out, c) safety planning and 
preventative/referrals to other specialist providers d) issues 
of confidentiality/disclosure being dealt with e) time 
constraints.

It is well researched that early dedicated support, help with 
information and options empowers victims to make safer 
choices. (Regan, 2004) also suggests that this intervention 
reduces repeat visits to A&E.

e x P e c t e d  a i m
1 Reduce number of incidents/repeat hospital visits/

admissions at A&E
2 Improve safety planning/interventions for those at high 

risk of serious injury and/or homicide
3 Holistic seamless access to differing support services
4 Reach marginalised people who historically do not 

report to police 
5 Raise awareness/training to fellow health professionals 

of the benefits/process for swift and appropriate 
intervention

6 Contribute towards building an evidence base for 
assessing a cost-benefit analysis for the pilot

7 Reduce cost to the public purse by providing resources 
for early intervention

t r u S t  P e r f o r m a n c e  i n  2 0 11 /12
The Trust did not have an IDVA in 2011/12 and so it cannot 
be compared.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t ?
The Trust works closely with Leeway which is a specialist 
domestic abuse charity who support around 6,000 people 
across Norfolk and Suffolk.

The Trust has employed Leeway’s services to post a 
domestic violence advocate within the hospital at certain 
times and also have access to a 24 hour support number.  
This is a two year priority so the impact will be assessed 
across this period.

h o w  t h e  t r u S t  m o n i t o r e d 
i m P l e m e n tat i o n
The Trust monitored this implementation in line with the 
targets set out with commissioners.
Q3 – Evidence that the service is up and running through 
liaison with Leeway to recruit the IDVA. 
Q3 – Deliver IDVA service and provide evidence of policies 
prior to and after review and a report of contacts, 
outcomes, trends, signposting and identification of gaps in 
terms of referrals/pathway interactions. Outline all training 
undertaken with A & E staff and other identified individuals
Q4 – Continue to deliver IDVA service and record all 
interactions and training undertaken as above
Q4 – Continue to deliver IDVA service and record all 
interactions and training undertaken as above. Provide 
a full report including final number and cohort of staff 
trained, policy/pathway changes implemented as a result 
of the ongoing review and findings of the gap analysis and 
trends. Identify if repeat visits have reduced and if so, by 
how much throughout the year.

board Sponsor: Gwyneth Wilson, Director of Patient 
Experience and lead for Nursing and non-medical 
professionals 

Priority 9 – Reduce HSMR levels in patients with Chronic 
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)
w h at  i S  c o P d ?
COPD is a chronic lung condition, caused by narrowing of 
the airways, and caused by inhalation of noxious gases, 
most commonly from tobacco smoking. Worldwide, COPD 
is the sixth leading cause of death and is projected to 

increase in frequency due to an increase in smoking rates 
and an increase in the ageing population.

Nationally 13% of patients admitted to hospital with COPD 
die within three months and a quarter die within a year of 
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admission. At the QEH, 35% of patients who die in  
hospital from COPD have had three or more admissions  
in the last year.  

Currently there is no cure for COPD but it is both 
preventable (by smoking cessation) and treatable. There 
is national guidance (provided by the National Institute 
of Clinical Excellence) on the optimal management of 
patients with COPD. By adopting this guidance, through the 
introduction of a standardised care bundle, the outcomes 
can be improved although COPD usually gets worse 
gradually over time. 

In recognition of this, the Trust has taken steps to introduce 
a new care bundle, based on national guidance, to improve 
the care of patients with COPD but also to recognise the 
need to improve the discharge procedures so that these 
patients are picked up by the community teams, ensuring 
that their care continues to be optimised in the community.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
The aim of this work stream was to ensure that all patients 
admitted with a diagnosis of COPD should be managed 
according to new clinical pathways, jointly agreed between 
the QEH and the local community teams, with the following 
components:
1 New Acute Care Bundle (whilst inpatient in the QEH) 

– to agree and implement a new care bundle, train all 
relevant staff and roll-out onto the adult medical wards

2 New discharge processes – to agree a new pathway 
between the QEH and the community teams, which 
would include a joint clinical passport to support 
facilitated discharge and on-going community care

c l i n i c a l  o u t c o m e S
 a There has been a gradual reduction in the number of 

admissions over 2012/13, since the project commenced 
in quarter 4 of 2011/12.

 b Readmission rate – in quarter 2 of 2012/13, the 
readmission rate for COPD as a % of admissions was 
26.02 compared to a national mean of 24.34, which is 
within the expected range compared to our peers, but 
as yet has not shown a reduction compared to 2010/11. 

 c The Risk Adjusted Mortality has reduced from a peak 

134 in 2010 to 52 in quarter 4 (2012/13) demonstrating 
a greater than 60% reduction in mortality in this period.

3 Improvements in the following clinical outcomes  
(comparing the last quarter in 2012/13 with 2010/11 as 
the base year):

 1. 10% reduction in admission with patients with COPD
 2. 10% reductions in readmissions with patients with 

COPD
 3. 10% reduction in mortality for patients admitted 

with a diagnosis of COPD

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
Several meetings were held at the onset of the project, 
incorporating all the key clinical stakeholders from the Trust 
and the local community unit, with the following actions:

1 Care Bundle – new Action Sets published by the BMJ 
Group were introduced, outlining best practice in the 
management of the commonest medical conditions 
presenting to the QEH, and were modified for local use, 
including one for COPD:

 a Action Set uploaded onto the Trust’s intranet for 
immediate viewing

 b Training provided by the BMJ Group
   c Monitoring of the usage by the Trust

2 Introduction of new COPD passport
 a New passport introduced in February 2013
 b Training provided for all the Community Matrons, 

respiratory ward nurses, and Respiratory Practice Nurses
 c Passport presented to the local patient support group 

(Breathe Easy meeting), the Frequent Attendees Project 
and Long Term Conditions Study Day

 d At least 25% of community patients now have 
passport

3 List of all admissions with diagnosis of COPD shared 
with the community teams on a monthly basis, together 
with a list of frequent attendees.
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Priority 10 – Work to reduce the need for people to attend 
A&E frequently

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
There is a well-documented cohort of about 60 patients 
who are frequently admitted to the QEH as a result of 
mental health complications manifesting themselves in 
health symptoms. This also includes the group of frail and 
elderly that are diagnosed as having dementia.
Current patient management occurs in organisational 
isolation and contributes to the rate of admission by 
treating the symptom rather than the root cause of the 
issue.  This system CQUIN aims to support providers 
(Norfolk and Norwich University Hospitals Foundation 
Trust, Norfolk and Suffolk Mental Health Foundation Trust, 
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust, Norfolk 
Community Health and Care, Out Of Hours and Norfolk 
County Council) to ensure appropriate senior clinical 
engagement and time is taken to plan and execute care 
plans for this group of patients.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
This CQUIN forms part of a system wide strategy to 
identify, address and engage in the management of 
frequent contact patients ensuring a significantly different 
approach to care that promotes collaboration between 
agencies to produce and deliver case management plans 
that maximise commissioned services and highlight gaps for 
future commissioning.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
There are two separate patient groups here:
1. Frequent attenders to A&E.
2 Frequently admitted patients.

1 frequent attenders to a&e.
l This initiative has been in place for several years. It looks 

at certain patients who attend A&E frequently, to see if 
their care could be managed differently. 

l Meetings are held monthly. However, there is often 
a lot of background work that needs to be done and 
there is always a lot of work that comes out of the 
meetings. The work is clinically driven, i.e. in some 
cases, the number of attendances a patient will have 
to A&E will drop as a result, but there will still be times 
when patients are still best managed by attending A&E.

2 frequently admitted patients  
l This ‘population’ / patient group is always in a state of 

flux: some patients may be frequently admitted for one 
period of time, but not the next. 

l The patient group would sometimes have some overlap 
with Frequent Attenders, but certainly not always.

l A new group was therefore put together: The 
Frequently Admitted Patients Group.

l It had been hoped that the Group would have been 
‘Community’ rather than hospital led. However, it was 
evident in late summer / early autumn that getting the 
project off the ground was becoming a challenge.

l Problems encountered related to information – sharing, 
particularly between various healthcare organisations, 
and also social care.

l It also included the availability of accurate and useful 
data on which patients we were actually dealing with, 
or proposing to deal with.

l Another interesting issue that was that the patient 
group was not necessarily dominated by patients with 
known mental health and alcohol problems. The patient 
group included several children (outside the Group’s 
remit, who appear at first sight to have significant 
clinical need), and also patients with complex medical 
and social problems. Some also had mental health 
issues that would not ordinarily meet the threshold 
for mental health services, or learning difficulties 
that would not meet the threshold for adult learning 
difficulties care.

l Other problems have related to reorganisation of  
local health and social care services. This has meant  
that at times, Group member vacancies have not been 
back-filled. 

l a S t  y e a r ’ S  P e r f o r m a n c e
This is a new CQUIN and process so was not monitored last 
year.

o u t c o m e
l These meetings are led by an A&E consultant. Other 

representatives are from the Community Alcohol and 
Drug Service (CADS), the Rapid Assessment Team team, 
Mental Health liaison, the psychiatric emergency liaison 
team, the Learning Difficulties specialist nurse and the 
Trust’s Security Management Specialist.

l From time to time and as required, the patient’s GP 
will attend, and representatives from Social Services, 
Housing, Clinical Psychology, and Community nurses.

l Minutes have been taken during the meetings. Case 
Meeting plans have been produced. A number of these 
(in anonymised form) have been shared with NHS 
Norfolk.

l Reports and graphs are now available on a monthly 
basis on the top frequently attending patients over the 
last month or so, which helps to inform planning for the 
next meeting.
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l The meetings look at all adult patients attending A&E, 
regardless of whether or not they are from the NHS 
Norfolk catchment areas. We also look at patients from 
North Cambs area and South Lincs.

l It is recognised that the patients have complex 
needs, and the Group cannot look at every patient 
who attends A&E frequently. Under the College of 
Emergency Medicine criteria, the group would have to 
look at a couple of hundred cases, which is clearly not 
feasible, or even necessary.

l A proportion of frequently attending patients will also 
be frequently admitted patients.

3. frequently admitted patients
l This project came as a result of a West Norfolk Wide 

CQUIN. The CQUIN was one of a number of projects 
looking at ways of QEH, General Practice, Social 
Services, CADS, Mental Health, and Community Care 
better addressing the needs of certain groups of 
patients, to reduce their admissions to hospital.

l Initially there was some lack of clarity with respect to 
terminology: a patient who frequently attends A&E is 
not necessarily admitted every time, and a patient who 
is admitted to hospital frequently is not necessarily 
admitted via A&E.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d  i m P l e m e n tat i o n S
currently
l We now have guidelines at QEH on information – 

sharing, signed off by the Caldicott Guardian, and 
Information Governance and Registration Authority 
Officer.

l We are getting useful information from Information 
Services about which patients are and are not getting 
admitted so often.

l We are holding meetings approximately fortnightly.
l Honorary QEH contracts for the members of the Group 

have been drawn up.
l It would remain beneficial to have a local GP as a 

standing member of the Group. Nevertheless, it 
appears to have been useful to have the A&E consultant 
from the Frequent Attenders Group above to help 
provide summaries of the sometimes extensive sets of 
Hospital notes.

l We have been able to access System 1 and input 
information from GP and other Community records.

l The Community Alcohol and Drugs Service, Mental 
Health, and Social Services representatives have also 
been instrumental in coming up with patient plans.

l Community Matrons have also been of tremendous 
help in producing and implementing plans.

l The project commenced in earnest only in November / 
December 2012. Several plans have been produced, and 
two or three case studies indicate that some patient 
care has been delivered without need for the patient to 
be admitted to hospital.

l Current challenges relate to making sure that relevant 
information is available, both as data, and through the 
multiple IT systems being used between health and 
social care for example.

l We increasingly hope to use ‘Outcome Star’ in looking 
at a patient’s own needs and expectations with respect 
to their own futures. This tool looks not only at health, 
but, for example, work, housing and relationships.

Priority 11 – Work in partnership with health organisations 
across West Norfolk to reduce the number of unnecessary 
admissions to the hospital

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
The Trust and wider health community only wish to admit 
patients to hospital who require acute medical care.  
Sometimes the Trust may have to admit a patient to a bed 
simply because a service to prevent this admission may 
not currently be available in the health community.  For 
example the service may not be provided out of hours or 
there is a gap in service provision.  In order to meet this 
need, the Trust and other local health care organisations 
agreed to work with local Commissioners to pool 1% of 

the Trust’s CQUIN income to pump prime investment in 
these areas.

a i m  a n d  G oa l
This CQUIN forms part of a system wide strategy to reduce 
the number of unnecessary admissions to hospital.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
A number of meetings have been established to work 
collaboratively to reduce the number of avoidable 
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admissions.  Initially a task and finish style group of 
senior managers met to collectively agree and produce 
a document outlining a number of specific projects to 
support this initiative.  

Following this a system wide project manager was 
appointed, who is based at QEH to actively monitor and 
progress the projects.  A working group meets monthly 
to feedback and discuss implementation, which is made 
up of the respective organisations and project leads.  This 
group then feeds into the Urgent Care Network project 
group, which in turn provide monthly written updates to 
the Board.  

In addition to this, a Capacity Planning Group has 
been established with the senior managers from each 
organisation including mental health and the voluntary 
sector.  This group meets fortnightly and is split into two 
parts, one to discuss operational issues and the second part 
focuses on specific strategic aspects to reduce admissions, 

manage flow and capacity and expedite discharge.  
Overall good relationships and networks have been 
formed and there has been a significant improvement in 
collaborative working, data sharing and communication.  

This target was not measured last year and is a new CQUIN.

o u t c o m e
The impact of the schemes being put in place can be seen 
from months 5 – 11 where activity was below plan in the 
table below.

It should also be noted that actual activity for the whole 
year came in below planned, which again demonstrates 
success in the schemes.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d
The West Norfolk Urgent Care Network was the multi-
agency committee which monitored patch performance on 
this indicator.

Month April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total

Plan 1803 1843 1861 1917 1891 1768 1915 1822 2015 1977 1834 1873 22519

Actual 1870 2002 1837 1965 1848 1711 1876 1816 1776 1840 1756 2004 22301

Priority 12 – CQUINs agreed with Specialist Commissioners

w h y  d o  w e  n e e d  t o  i m P r o v e ?
The Trust identified six areas with our Specialist Commissioners 
that related to the care they were commissioning where 
they felt these were their organisational priorities. Three of 
these areas were nationally mandated and aligned to the 
performance of the Trust in these areas. 

a i m  a n d  G oa l
the national areas they identified were:
l VTE – National CQUIN aligned with our priority 1.
l Patient Experience – National CQUIN aligned with our 

priority 2.
l Safety Thermometer – National CQUIN aligned with our 

priority 3.
the local areas identified were:
l To implement the routine use of specialised services 

clinical dashboards. 
l Reduction of catheter-related CONS infections in low 

birth weight (<1500g) neonates.
l To increase the percentage of preterm babies who are 

fed on mother’s breast milk at discharge.

h o w  w e  ac h i e v e d  o u r  ta r G e t
The national targets were achieved as described in priorities 
1, 2 and 3 above.

The Trust implemented the population of the clinical 
dashboards in April 2012 and continued to use the 
dashboards through the year to support the commissioners.

As a Level 2 unit, the Trust has very limited numbers of low 
birth weight neonates. This allows the Trust to monitor any 
catheters extremely closey. 

The Trust has continued to be above our peer group average 
throughout the year on breastfeeding performance. The 
Trust is a keen promoter of the benefits of breastfeeding and 
acknowledges the benefits to both Mother and Child. All the 
Trust’s maternity staff are ‘Breast Feeding Initiative’ trained 
staff. We also have a designated infant coordinator and 
two neonatal staff nominated leads for breastfeeding all of 
whom champion breastfeeding to all new mothers. We have 
also invested in a designated breastfeeding room where new 
mothers can be encouraged to breastfeed. 

o u t c o m e
The Trust has achieved all of the above CQUIN targets.

h o w  w e  m o n i t o r e d
The Trust continually monitored performance through its 
internal governance structure.
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Did we achieve our Commissioning for Quality and  
Innovation Targets?
This year the CQUIN scheme expanded to carry a financial 
value of 2.5% of the contract between the Trust and the 
PCT.  In the previous year the value was 1.5%.

We agreed 11 schemes with NHS Norfolk.  Our 
performance against these is outlined in the table below.

Goal 
No

Description of Goal Quality 
Domain/s 2

Indicator Name & summary 
of targets. 20% process, 
80% outcomes

National or 
Regional 
Indicator 4

Indicator 
Weighting

Achieve

1 To reduce avoidable death, disability and chronic 
ill health from Venous-thromboembolism (VTE)

Safety VTE Risk Assessment 
Nationally 
mandated

10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

2 To improve responsiveness to personal needs  
of patients

Patient 
Experience

Composite indicator 
on responsiveness to 
personal needs from the 
Adult Inpatient Survey

Nationally 
mandated

10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

3
The collection of data on patient harm using  
the NHS Safety Thermometer harm 
measurement instrument

Patient safety
NHS Safety 
Thermometer

Nationally 
mandated

10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

4a Dementia Case Finding
Patient safety
Patient 
Experience

Dementia
Nationally 
mandated

4% of the 
1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

4b Dementia risk assessment
Patient safety
Patient 
Experience

Dementia
Nationally 
mandated

3% of the 
1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

4c Referral for specialist diagnosis
Patient safety
Patient 
Experience

Dementia
Nationally 
mandated

3% of the 
1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

5 Maternal mental health 
Diagnosed Dementia/
Learning Disabilities

Local
10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

6
Patient satisfaction
“How likely is it that you would recommend this 
service to friends and family?

Patient 
experience

Net promoter
Regionally 
mandated

10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

7

To share data with the local Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) in accordance 
with DH Home Office Guidance in an effort to 
work collaboratively on the reduction of alcohol 
related crime and knife crime.

Effectiveness
Sharing data re violent 
crime

Local
10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

8 To recruit an A&E Hospital Independent 
Domestic Violence Advocate (IDVA)

Patient Safety Domestic Violence Local
10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

9
Reduce HSMR level across the year alongside 
developing and rolling out improved care 
packages for patients with COPD

Chronic Obstructive 
Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) care bundle

Local
10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

10 System wide assurance process Partnership working Local
1% of the 
2.5%

Expected 
to achieve

11
Develop a CQUIN to analyse and develop 
action plans to address the issues with frequent 
attendees to A & E or frequent admitters

Frequently admitted 
Patients

Local
10% of 
the 1.5%

Expected 
to achieve

Notes: 2 Safety / Effectiveness / Experience / Innovation. 3 May be several for each goal. 4 Nationally mandated / Regionally mandated/ Regionally suggested/ No
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The development of CQUINS for 2013/14 is a joint task 
between the Trust and its Commissioners – who are now 
West Norfolk CCG.  An initial list of ideas was compiled 
between the Trust and Commissioners and then through 
consultation with Trust Governors, Medical and other 

Clinical Staff discussed.  This has been refined to those 
identified in the table below.
This list is not yet finalised and there will be some changes 
before the final CQUIN schemes are agreed for 2013/14.

2 0 13 /14  c o m m i S S i o n i n G  f o r  Q ua l i t y  a n d  i n n o vat i o n  ( c Q u i n ) 

Coordinating Commissioner West Norfolk CCG

Associate Commissioners NHS Cambridgeshire; NHS Lincolnshire

Expected Financial Value of Scheme
2.5% of contract value:
1.5% Local and national indicators
1% system wide indicator

Goal 
No

Description of Goal Quality 
Domain/s 2

Indicator 
No 3

Indicator Name & summary 
of targets. 20% process, 80% 
outcomes

National or 
Regional 
Indicator 4

Indicator 
Weighting

1

friends and family test
To improve the experience of patients in 
line with Domain 4 of the NHS Outcomes 
Framework.  The Friends and Family Test will 
provide timely, granular feedback from patients 
about their experience.  The 2011/12 national 
inpatient survey showed that only 13% of 
patients in acute hospital inpatient wards and 
A&E departments were asked for feedback. 

Patient 
experience

1.1
Friends & Family Test – 
Phased expansion

National

0.0375%

1.2
Friends & Family Test – 
Increased Response Rate

0.05%

1.3
Friends & Family Test – 
Improved Performance on 
Staff Test

0.0375%

2

nhS Safety thermometer
To reduce harm. The power of the NHS Safety 
Thermometer lies in allowing frontline teams 
to measure how safe their services are and to 
deliver improvement locally.

Patient  
safety 

2
NHS Safety Thermometer – 
Improvement

National 0.125%

3

dementia
To incentivise the identification of patients 
with dementia and other causes of cognitive 
impairment alongside their other medical 
conditions, to prompt appropriate referral and 
follow up after they leave hospital and to ensure 
that hospitals deliver high quality care to people 
with dementia and support their carers.

Patient  
safety
 
Patient 
experience

3.1
Dementia – Find, Assess, 
Investigate & Refer

National

0.075%

3.2
Dementia – Clinical 
Leadership

0.0125%

3.3
Dementia – Supporting 
Carers

0.0375%

4
venous thromboembolism (vte) 
To reduce avoidable death, disability and chronic 
ill health from venous thromboembolism (VTE).

Safety
4.1 VTE – Risk Assessment

National 0.125%
4.2 VTE – Root Cause Analyses

5 System wide assurance process Effectiveness 5 Partnership Working Local TBD

6 A&E Hospital Independent Domestic Violence 
Advocate (IDVA) at The QEHKL

Domestic 
Violence

6
A&E Hospital Independent 
Domestic Violence Advocate

7 Shared Child Health Care record TBD 7 TBD Local TBD

8 Breast Feeding Initiation TBD 8 TBD Local TBD

9 Alcohol Screening TBD 9 TBD Local TBD

10 NICU Admission rates TBD 10 TBD Local TBD

11 Joint Formulary TBD 11 TBD Local TBD

12 Frail Elderly

12.1 Designated Geriatrician Local TBD

12.2 Management Plan Local TBD

12.2
Frail Elderly under the care of 
a Geriatrician

Local TBD
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Goal 
No

Description of Goal Quality 
Domain/s 2

Indicator 
No 3

Indicator Name & summary 
of targets. 20% process, 80% 
outcomes

National or 
Regional 
Indicator 4

Indicator 
Weighting

13 LoS in NICU TBD 13

14 Assessing patients who need help with taking 
their medicines

14 Medicines Management TBD

15 Speciality Review TBD 15 Speciality Review

16 Auditing cost effective medicine prescription 16 Medicines Management

Trust Performance against the NHS Access Targets

Description Target Performance Achieved  Y/N

18 weeks (admitted / non admitted)

Admitted 90.0% 93.2% Y

Non Admitted 95.0% 98.9% Y

18wk incompletes 92.0% 94.9% Y

cancer

2ww 93.0% 97.4% Y

Breast Symptoms 2ww 93.0% 97.1% Y

31 day 96.0% 99.3% Y

62 day 85.0% 86.2% Y

Subsequent Treatments (31 day) - Drug 
Treatments

98.0% 99.8% Y

Subsequent Treatments (31 day) - Surgery 94.0% 99.5% Y

Screening (62 day) 90.0% 98.8% Y

a & e (all indicators)

Patients seen in < 4 hrs 95% 92.9% N

A&E Clinical Quality: Unplanned reattendance 
rate (As per SUS submission)

5.0% 2.2% Y

A&E Clinical Quality: Total Time spent in A&E 
(95th percentile – admitted)

04:00:00 03:59:00 Y

A&E Clinical Quality: Total Time spent in A&E 
(95th percentile – non-admitted)

04:00:00 03:58:00 Y

A&E Clinical Quality: Left Department without 
being seen

5.0 % 2.0% Y

A&E Clinical Quality: Time to initial assessment 
(95th percentile)

00:15:00 00:47:00 N

A&E Clinical Quality: Time to treatment in 
department (median)

01:00:00 00:44:00 Y

6 week diagnostics

No. of patients at month end waiting > 6 weeks No National Target 99.5%

Notes: 2 Safety / Effectiveness / Experience / Innovation. 3 May be several for each goal. 4 Nationally mandated / Regionally mandated/ Regionally suggested/ No
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Part 4: Statements of Assurance

Review of Services
During 2012/13 the Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 46 NHS services.  The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn  
NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on the quality of care in 100% of these NHS services.

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2012/13 represents 92% of the total income generated from  
the provision.

Participation in Clinical Audit
During the year April 2012 to March 2013, the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership HQIP) identified 51 national 
clinical audits / programmes and four national confidential enquiries covering NHS services in England. This year, in their list  
of proposed projects, HQIP included several programmes of audits, combining more than one audit within that 
programme. Of those audit projects listed, 16 were not applicable to The Queen Elizabeth Hospital. In total this Trust 
participated in 27 (77%) national clinical audit programmes, resulting in the completion of some 43 individual national 
audit projects and four (100%) national confidential enquiries. 

The following matrix highlights Trust participation compared to expected participation in national audits and confidential 
enquiries.

HQIP 
listed

Excluded 
/ NA

Total for 
inclusion

2012 / 2013 
% participation

2011 / 2012 
% participation

2010 / 2011 
% participation

National Audits 51 16 35 27 (77%) 30 (81%) 68%

Confidential Enquiries 4 0 4 4 (100%) 3 (100%) 100%

National Audits
National clinical audits (NCA) are largely funded by the Department of Health and commissioned by HQIP which manages 
the National Clinical Audit and Patients Outcome Programme (NCAPOP). Most other national audits are funded from 
subscriptions paid by NHS provider organisations. Priorities for the NCAPOP are set by the Department of Health with 
advice from the National Clinical Audit Advisory Group (NCAAG). The following table provides details of all national clinical 
audits in which the Trust was eligible to take part in 2012/13. The table highlights Trust participation and where indicated, 
the reason for non – participation. The shaded areas show where participation in a programme of audits was required.   

Category National Clinical 
Audits in which the 
Trust was eligible 

Part of 
NCAPOP?

QEH 
participa-
tion 

Sample 
required

Sample 
included 

Subscription 
funded 

Rationale 

Heart National Vascular 
Registry (elements 
include CIA, peripheral 
vascular surgery, VSGBI 
Vascular Surgery 
Database, NVD)

Yes No Criteria 

Specific 

N/A No Participated in 
local audit & 
plan to take 
part in the 
register 13/ 14

Acute Adult critical care (Case 
Mix Programme – 
ICNARC CMP)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

881 N/A  

Acute National Joint Registry 
(NJR)

Yes Yes HES data 609 No  
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Part 4: Statements of Assurance Category National Clinical 
Audits in which the 
Trust was eligible 

Part of 
NCAPOP?

QEH 
participa-
tion 

Sample 
required

Sample 
included 

Subscription 
funded 

Rationale 

Acute Severe trauma (Trauma 
Audit & Research 
Network, TARN)

No Yes 159 (HES 

data)

120 Yes Some entries coded 
for HES data do not 
meet all criteria & 
are excluded  

Blood and 
Transplant

Potential donor audit 
(NHS Blood & Transplant)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

As 
required 

No 

Blood and 
Transplant

National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion programme includes the following audits: 

a) O neg blood use 
(2010/11)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

25 No  

b) Medical use of blood 
(2011/12)

No Yes 40 30 No (reflected lower use 
of blood in Trust)

c) Bedside transfusion 
(2011/12)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

Unknown No  

d) Platelet use (2010/11) No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

Unknown   

Cancer

Bowel cancer (NBOCAP) Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

170 Yes

Head and neck oncology 
(DAHNO)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

479 Yes

Lung cancer (NLCA) Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

411 Yes

Oesophago-gastric 
cancer (NAOGC)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

In 
progress 

Yes

Heart Heart failure (HF) Yes Yes 120 105 Yes HF criteria – primary’ 
coding diagnosis. 
Reduced primary 
diagnosis data 
available at QEH. 

Heart National Cardiac Arrest 
Audit (NCAA)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

196 Yes 

Older People National audit of 
dementia (NAD)

Yes Yes 40 40 No 

Older People

Sentinel Stroke: National Audit Programme (SSNAP) programme,  combines the following audits:

a) Sentinel stroke audit 
(2010/11, 2012/13)

Yes Yes 60 60 No

b) Stroke improvement 
national audit project 
(2011/12, 2012/13)

Yes No N/A N/A No Duplication of 
work. East of 
England Trusts 
declined to 
participate.

Women’s & 
Children’s 
Health

Epilepsy 12 audit 
(Childhood Epilepsy)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

In 
progress 

No 

Paediatric asthma (British 
Thoracic Society)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

In 
progress 

No  

Acute

Adult community 
acquired pneumonia 
(British Thoracic Society)

No No N/A N/A No The department 
has been unable to 
participate but has 
undertaken local 
audits.Emergency use of oxygen 

(British Thoracic Society)
No No N/A N/A No

Non-invasive ventilation 
- adults (British Thoracic 
Society)

No No N/A N/A No 
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Category National Clinical 
Audits in which the 
Trust was eligible 

Part of 
NCAPOP?

QEH par-
ticipation 

Sample 
required

Sample 
included 

Subscription 
funded 

Rationale 

Heart Acute coronary syndrome 
or Acute myocardial 
infarction (MINAP)

Yes Yes HES data 430 Yes

Long term 

conditions

Pain database Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

Unknown No  

Bronchiectasis (British 
Thoracic Society)

No No N/A N/A No The department 
has been unable to 
participate but has 
undertaken local 
audits.

Long term 
conditions

Diabetes (Adult) ND(A), Yes No N/A N/A No Unable to take part 
due to incompatible 
IT systems.

National Diabetes 
Inpatient Audit (NADIA)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

All patients 
meeting 
criteria

No

Long term 
conditions

Diabetes (Paediatric) 
(NPDA)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

As required No

Long term 
conditions

Inflammatory bowel 
disease (IBD) Includes: 
Paediatric Inflammatory 
Bowel Disease Services 
(previously listed 
separately on 2010/11 
quality accounts list)

Yes Yes 40 Yes No 

Long term 
conditions

National Review of 
Asthma Deaths (NRAD)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

In progress No 

Older People Hip fracture database 
(NHFD)

Yes Yes HES data Ongoing 
database 

 

Other Elective surgery (National 
PROMs Programme)

No Yes Criteria 
Specific 

Ongoing 
database 

 

Women’s & 
Children’s 
Health

Maternal, infant and 
newborn programme 
(MBRRACE-UK)* (Also 
known as Maternal, 
Newborn and Infant 
Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme) *This 
programme was previously 
also listed as Perinatal 
Mortality (in 2010/11, 
2011/12 quality accounts)

Yes Yes Criteria 
Specific 

Unknown No

Neonatal intensive and 
special care (NNAP) 
(subscription funded from 
April 2012)

Yes Yes Unknown Unknown Yes 

Acute Renal colic (College of 
Emergency Medicine)

No Yes Unknown Unknown No

Long term 
conditions 
 

Adult asthma (British 
Thoracic Society)

No No Unknown Unknown No The department 
has been unable to 
participate but has 
undertaken local 
audits & NRAD.
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Category National Clinical 
Audits in which the 
Trust was eligible 

Part of 
NCAPOP?

QEH 
participa-
tion 

Sample 
required

Sample 
included 

Subscription 
funded 

Rationale 

Older People

Fractured neck of femur No Yes Unknown Unknown No  

Parkinson's disease 
(National Parkinson's 
Audit)

No No N/A N/A No Local audit carried 
out

Women’s & 
Children’s 
Health

Paediatric fever (College 
of Emergency Medicine)

No Yes Unknown Unknown No

Paediatric pneumonia 
(British Thoracic Society)

No No Unknown Unknown No Plan to participate 
in next round

Other national audits carried out in the Trust in 2012/13 not 
included in the HQIP list include:
l National Audit on Avascular Necrosis of the Jaws 

including Bisphosphonates-related Osteonecrosis   
(BRONJ): Oral surgery. 

l Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Programme of audit including: 
hip surgery, knee surgery, large bowel procedures and 
repair of neck of femur.

l Comparative Audit: labelling of blood samples for 
transfusion.

l College of Emergency Medicine: consultant sign off, pain 
in children, severe sepsis and septic shock.

l Accidental Awareness during General Anaesthesia 
(RCoA) and (AAGBI).

l The value and safety of hyperventilation during EEG 
examination: a national service evaluation.

l National snapshot audit on adherence to quality 
indicators in Acute Medicine.

l BAPEN (British Association of Parenteral & Enteral 
Nutrition).

Confidential Enquiries
The following are the national Confidential Enquiries in which the Trust either participated in during 2012/13 or which 
the Trust participated in during a previous year but which finally reported in 2012/13. Alongside the title of the NCEPOD 
(National Confidential Enquires into Patient Outcome and Death), are the numbers of cases submitted in comparison to 
those required:

The Clinical Audit Manager is the Trust’s local Co-ordinator for NCEPOD studies and a consultant member of the 
Anaesthetic department is the Trust’s local NCEPOD Ambassador. Confidential enquiry reports are a standard agenda 
item at the Clinical Audit & National Standards (CANS) committee and a selected member of the committee attends the 
NCEPOD reporting launch workshop in London. All NCEPOD findings and recommendations were presented at the CANS 
committee and local follow up actions agreed. 

NCEPOD in which the Trust 
was eligible 

QEH 
participation

Sample 
required

Sample 
included

Rationale

1. Bariatric Surgery for weight loss Yes 1 1 Organisational questionnaire only, N/A to QEH 

2. Death following a diagnosis of 

alcohol- related liver disease

Yes 3 3  Plus organisational questionnaire

3.Hospital treatment following a sub-

arachnoid haemorrhage.

Yes 0 1 (excluded)  Plus organisational questionnaire

4. Cardiac Arrest Procedures Yes 5 5 submitted 
(1 excluded 
by NCEPOD)

 Plus organisational questionnaire
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Local clinical audit
Local clinical audits, which may be Trust or regionally 
initiated, are conducted by individual healthcare 
professionals or teams evaluating aspects of care that  
they themselves have selected as being important to  
their service. 

The number of local clinical audits carried out in the Trust 
in the year 2012/13 was 318, of which 40% were initial 
(new) audits and 60% a re-audit for maintenance and 
monitoring. The reports are currently being written for 
nine of the local audits and 44 are still in progress and are 
therefore not yet at the reporting stage. The remaining 
265 completed audits have been presented for peer review 

and outcomes shared through the Divisional Quality, Risk 
and Standards (QRS) meetings, Divisional Audit meetings, 
Clinical Audit & National Standards Committee or at the 
Annual Clinical Audit Symposium, which took place in 
September 2012. 

All of the clinical divisions have used clinical audit as a 
quality improvement method in 2012/13 and outcomes 
and recommendations have been shared extensively across 
the Trust. Outcomes of audit, whether national, regional or 
local, are also shared across the Trust in the Clinical Audit 
monthly newsletter, the CLAN, which is aimed at both 
clinical and non-clinical Trust staff.

Patient Experience Studies supported by the Clinical Audit 
Department
The Trust participated in the following patient 
experience studies which were reported to Divisional 
Audit Committees, Clinical Audit & National Standards 
Committee, Clinical Governance Committee and Patient 
Experience Steering Group and staff Intranet site. In 
addition, outcomes of patient experience projects were 
shared with patients and the public in the form of 
newsletters, posters and the Trust website.  

national Patient experience projects:
1. National Cancer Patient Experience Survey 2011/12
2. Adult Inpatient and Outpatient Survey 2012  
3. Paediatric Patient Experience Surveys 
4. NHS Accident and Emergency survey 2012 for CQC

regional and local Patient experience projects:
During the year 2012/2013, the Trust participated in 43 
(14%) specialty-specific local patient experience studies, 
across four divisions and 25 separate specialties.  

Audit Support for Clinical Research 
The Clinical Audit department participated in data collection and reporting for the following clinical research projects 
initiated by the  University of East Anglia (Norfolk & Norwich University hospital) and the University of Sheffield.

aScneS Anglia Stroke Clinical Network Evaluation Study Protocol

ahead Monitoring anti-coagulated patients who suffer a head injury.

Data Quality 
The Clinical Audit department carries out regular 
monitoring audits throughout the year in order to measure 
the quality of local audits produced. Quality of reporting 
is assured by the use of a standardised template which is 
regularly monitored. On a quarterly basis, a member of 
the Clinical Audit team selects 12 audit reports at random 
to check consistency in data analysis and the reporting 
structure against a 100% target. 

For each national audit, a re-audit of 10% of the total 
number of records used is undertaken to ensure data 
validation. It is usual practice in the Clinical Audit 
department to ensure that the person collecting data from 
medical records is not the same person as the one who 
enters data onto web based spread sheets, thus ensuring 
dual validation. 
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Audit Actions
The reports of national clinical audits were reviewed by 
the Clinical Audit & National Standards (CANS) committee, 
as well as being discussed in the relevant Divisional QRS 
committees and the Clinical Governance Committee. 

The reports of 27 national audits, four confidential 
enquiries and 265 local audits were reviewed by the 
provider in 2012/13 and the Trust intends to take the 
following actions to improve the quality of Healthcare 
provided:

n at i o n a l  au d i t  &  ac t i o n S
a) national clinical audit of inflammatory bowel 
disease (ibd) inpatient care in the uK

This was the second round in a series of audits with more 
to follow. The programme of audits highlighted a lack of 
National Service Framework (NSF) for IBD and a variation in 
the resources and quality of care of IBD across the UK.   

Local results from the national audit were presented at 
the Clinical Audit & National Standards (CANS) committee 
in July 2012. The UK IBD audit report showed generally 
positive findings for the QEH and a consultant-led action 
plan to address any issues was initiated. 

The following actions have been implemented by the 
consultant and his team:

l The creation of an IBD front sheet to ensure 
documentation of relevant data for all IBD admissions.

l The development of an IBD treatment guideline to help 
create more uniformity in IBD treatment.

l IBD nurse in attendance on consultant ward rounds.
l Teaching sessions on IBD developed as part of junior 

doctors induction to the Gastroenterology ward.
l Work with the smoking cessation counsellor with an aim 

to reduce the number of smokers with IBD.
l Intention to participate in further rounds of the national 

audit.

b) national audit of dementia

The outcomes of the 1st National Audit of Dementia were 
published in December 2011 and presented to the Clinical 
Audit & National Standards (CANS) committee in 2012.  
The audit indicated that the QEH was above the national 
average for the comprehensive assessment of the older 
person but that there were some key areas where further 
improvement was required. This included:

l Fewer patients than the national average had a specific 
management plan for dealing with the person’s 

additional diagnosis of dementia.  
l Only 53% of patients had an Abbreviated Mental Test 

Score (AMTS) on admission although it was noted that 
therapy staff may carry out the test at a later stage of  
the patient pathway. 

l 83% of patients were prescribed antipsychotic 
medication on a PRN basis compared to the national 
average of 68.3%.

l 75% of patients were moved once during their 
admission.

l 62% were referred to the specialist mental health liaison 
nurse.

The following actions have been implemented as a result  
of the audit: 
l There is now a designated consultant with responsibility 

for leading Dementia services. 
l Employment of two Dementia Support Workers.
l Introduction of a hospital passport.
l Policy on the Management of Delirium reviewed and 

disseminated to all ward areas.
l Improved provision of orientation aids on the wards.
l Confusion / delirium care plans in place.
l Dementia finding question and AMTS added to all 

clerking paperwork.
l Spot check audits on all wards on the use of 

antipsychotics demonstrated a minimum use of 
antipsychotics with Rispiridone being prescribed in line 
with NICE guidance.

The Trust participated in the second round of the audit in 
2012.
 
c) nutrition screening survey carried out in uK and 
republic of ireland. baPen (british association of 
Parenteral & enteral nutrition).

In secondary care, disease-related malnutrition causes 
increased complications, infections, pressure ulcers, 
increased length of stay, increased readmission rates and 
increased mortality. Malnutrition affects one in four adults 
on admission and can be detected using the Malnutrition 
Universal Screening Tool (MUST). This was implemented 
throughout the organisation in Autumn 2010 and is used in 
88% of hospitals nationally. 

An audit of levels of risk amongst the inpatient population 
was undertaken using data obtained from MUST screening. 
Data was collected over three days and 134 patients were 
included in the study. 66% of the patients audited were 
found to be at low risk, 15% at medium risk and 19% at 
high risk.  The overall results were similar to those from 
previous audits in, 2010, 2008 and 2007. 
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The following actions have been implemented as a result of 
the audit:

l All MUST training undertaken is recorded on the Trusts 
Electronic Staff Register (ESR).

l An e-training package devised by BAPEN is available on 
the Trust’s intranet, linked to ESR. 

l Spot checks on the use of MUST are carried out on wards 
by the dieticians, with results being fed back directly to 
the ward staff involved.

l Nutrition screening (MUST) forms part of monthly 
nursing indicator matrix which is shared across the Trust. 

c o n f i d e n t i a l  e n Q u i r i e S  &  ac t i o n S
ncePod: time to intervene –cardiac arrest 
Procedures, a review of patients who underwent 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation as a result of an in-
hospital cardiac arrest

The ‘Time to intervene’ study was carried out by the Trust’s 
Resuscitation Officer and coordinated by the Clinical Audit 
Manager. The Trust highlighted five cases as meeting the 
criteria relevant to the study, although only four cases were 
finally included in the study. The data was collected in 
November 2010 but the final ‘Time to Intervene’ report was 
not launched until June 2012.

The results of the study have been presented by the Trust 
Resuscitation Officer and NCEPOD Ambassador and 
have been scrutinized by several committees and groups 
including the CANS committee, Clinical Governance 
committee, Combined Surgical & Anaesthetics meeting and 
the Medical QRS committee. As a result of the study an 
action plan was developed and continues to be monitored 
and updated as required: 

l The ‘end of life’ pathway is included as part of medical 
induction.

l The escalation process from the Early Warning System 
(EWS) has been improved to ensure that EWS recording 
and escalation is implemented in a timely manner.

l Where EWS had been escalated, the time the telephone 
call was made and the time the patient was attended to, 
is recorded on a sticker in the patient’s health records.

l Audits of DNAR-CPR have been undertaken.  

l o c a l  au d i t  &  ac t i o n S
a. an audit of nice (national institute for health and 
clinical excellence) guidelines on head injury (cG56) 
– emergency (a&e) department. 

This audit was carried out by the Emergency department as 
part of their programme of audit.  The aim of the audit was 
to measure compliance with NICE guidance and to monitor 

progress against findings of previous audits of head injury. 

Data was collected for patients attending the Emergency 
department over a one-week period. The results 
demonstrated that practice was meeting the standards 
stipulated in NICE guidance. The audit showed appropriate 
and timely assessment and management of head injury 
including compliance with completion of the head injury 
proforma. The data was comparable to previous audit 
results. 

Areas of shortfall included the recording of provision of a 
Head Injury leaflet to the patient and ascertaining the exact 
time the injury was sustained. 

Actions as a result of the audit:
l Further education and training was undertaken to 

highlight the need to ensure full completion of the Head 
Injury proforma. 

l Further education and training to the Emergency 
Department staff was undertaken to highlight the need 
to maintain good documentation throughout the episode 
of care to be able to identify and explain any deviation 
from normal, especially in children. 

l The Management of Head Injury policy was revised and 
updated and is currently in use.  

b. Peripheral cannula audit 2012 – infection 
Prevention & control. 

This re-audit was carried out to assess improvement 
in methods and procedures for peripheral cannula 
care, alongside measuring compliance with the Trust’s 
Cannulation Policy.

The audit showed that all cannula seen were healthy with 
findings demonstrating consistency with previous audits 
on the condition and type of cannula dressing. There was 
a drop of 1% from the previous audit in the proportion of 
patients with a cannula. 

Compliance with the requirement to document cannula 
insertion was seen still to be an issue. Whilst there had 
been a year on year improvement, there were patients for 
whom there was no way of identifying when the cannula 
was inserted. This has implications for timely removal within 
72 hours. There was some indication from the audit that 
‘date of insertion stickers’ are not always being completed 
when the cannula is inserted.  

Visual Infusion Phlebitis (VIP) scoring showed a small 
increase in compliance from the previous audit but it was 
recognised that improvements in compliance need to be 
sustained. 
Actions as a result of the audit:
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l A poster concerning the recording of VIP scores was 
created. This is now displayed on drug trolleys and in 
Intravenous (IV) prep rooms (and available on Trust’s staff 
intranet site).

l A DVD was created as a training aid showing the correct 
way to insert a peripheral cannula and the correct 
procedure to record that placement; this is shown at 
mandatory training sessions, doctors’ inductions and is 
also available on the Trust’s intranet.  

l The maternity ward did not have a system for 
documenting insertion and recording of VIP scores.  
A new booklet is under development to support changes 
to practice within this area.

c. obstructive Sleep apnoea (oSa) and perioperative 
care - joint anaesthesia and ear, nose & throat (ent) 
Specialties. 

An unanticipated difficult airway is one of the problems 
identified by anaesthetists caring for patients who have 
undiagnosed / untreated obstructive sleep apnoea.  
Outcomes for patients with OSA who undergo surgical 
procedures may include a prolonged length of stay and / or 
increased admission to the Critical Care Unit. The Epworth 
score is used to identify patients at risk of OSA but the 
measures, ‘STOP’ and ‘BANG’ often give unacceptable false 
positive results. 

A retrospective audit of the health records of patients 
who had undergone surgical procedures was undertaken 
by a joint team of Anaesthetists and Ear, Nose & Throat 
specialists.  

Actions as a result of the audit:
l A business plan was submitted to the Trust in order to 

purchase overnight pulse oximetry devices for patients to 
use following attendance at the pre-assessment clinic. 

l The Nonin wristox 3150 pulse oximeter has been 
purchased following this audit. 

d. compliance with isolation Policy audit 2012 – 
infection Prevention and control. 

This audit was carried out in order to measure compliance 
with the Trust’s Isolation policy. The audit encompassed, 
Source Isolation and Protective Isolation Nursing. Source 
isolation is undertaken to prevent the spread of a known 
transmissible infection between patients, staff and visitors 
and Protective Isolation aims to prevent susceptible 
individuals from contracting a hospital acquired infection, 
resulting from their diminished resistance due to treatment 
e.g. chemotherapy or radiotherapy.

Outcomes of the audit showed that compliance with the 
overall Isolation policy had improved on the previous year’s 

performance. There was 100% compliance in relation to 
the display of appropriate signage. As part of the study, 116 
single accommodation rooms were monitored and 93 were 
found to have closed doors. This equated to a percentage 
compliance of 80%.  

Actions as a result of the audit:
l The Practice Development Nurses carry out monthly 

audits on all wards to measure the ‘closed door policy’, 
the results are disseminated to the wards by the Lead 
Nurse Practice and Innovation.

l The Practice Development Nurses undertake mock Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) ward audits each month, one 
of the audit criteria is ‘are the doors closed on isolation 
side rooms?’

l A Clostridium Difficile section relevant to the Isolation 
ward has been added to the High Impact Interventions 
pack and is completed monthly. Completing this form 
monthly acts as an ‘aide memoir’ to staff.

l The Isolation policy was reviewed in November 2012 and 
is available on the Trust Infection Control intranet site.

e. audit of ambulatory hysteroscopy Service – 
obstetrics & Gynaecology.

Ambulatory Hysteroscopy is a safe, well tolerated and cost 
effective procedure and affords the patient the opportunity 
for a reduced stay in hospital. This audit was carried 
out in order to review the service, to identify areas for 
improvement and to compare practice with the guidelines 
from the Royal College of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 

Actions as a result of the audit:
l Development of outpatient hysteroscopy departmental 

guidelines.
l Development of a protocol for the use of local 

anaesthetic.
l Development of a detailed hysteroscopy documentation 

sheet including a pain score.
l The undertaking of a patient experience survey, post 

procedure. 

f. Peri-operative resuscitation in patients with 
a fractured neck of femur(nof) - orthopaedic 
Specialty. 

This audit was carried out to assess if patients with a 
fractured neck of femur treated at the QEH receive optimal 
peri-operative resuscitation in line with Trust policy & NICE 
guidance (CG124: 2011). 

Guidelines dictate that patients should receive fluid within 
one hour of admission and that pre and post- operative 
bloods should be taken and documented.
The notes of 35 patients admitted with a fractured neck of 
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femur prior to 1st April 2012 were examined in retrospect 
in conjunction with a review of the blood test results on the 
Trust’s electronic pathology system.

The results showed that all patients had pre and post-
operative blood tests taken and documented but that fluid 
resuscitation was delayed for some patients whilst being 
transferred to the wards. 

Actions as a result of the audit:
l Provision of further education and training and increased 

collaboration with the Emergency Department.
l Development of a protocol in collaboration with the 

Emergency Department consultant. 
l Plan to re audit following implementation of education 

and protocol.

 

g. use of beriplex: Prothrombin complex concentrate 
(Pcc) – anticoagulation Services.
Prothrombin Complex Concentrate (PCC) (Beriplex or 
Octaplex) is a combination of blood clotting factors. It 
reverses the effect of Warfarin and is used in cases of 
significant bleeding in patients. 

The audit demonstrated that most patients (60%) were on 
Warfarin for atrial fibrillation and that in a majority of cases 
Beriplex was being given to treat bleeding (68%) rather 
than prior to emergency surgery. The audit showed that 
Vitamin K was being used more than in previous years and 
that there were fewer follow up INR tests (international 
normalised ratio) than highlighted in the previous audit. 

Actions as a result of the audit:
l Pharmacy now routinely provides the Beriplex together 

with Vitamin K including both dosing and administration 
guidance. Details are found on the Trust’s intranet site in 
the section under Clinical Haematology and Transfusion 
guidelines. 

Participation in clinical research

The number of patients in 2012/13 receiving NHS services 
provided or sub-contracted by The Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust that were 
recruited between 1st April 2012 and 31st March 2013 
to participate in research approved by a research ethics 
committee was 659. This included 506 patients recruited to 
NIHR portfolio studies and 153 patients recruited to non-
portfolio studies.

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust’s commitment to improving the quality of care we 
offer and to making our contribution to wider health 
improvement is demonstrated by our level of participation 
in clinical research.  Our clinical staff aim to stay abreast of 
the latest treatment possibilities and active participation 
in research has led to successful outcomes for patients. 
In 2012/13 the Trust was involved in conducting 52 NIHR 
portfolio and nine non-portfolio clinical research studies. 

A total of 53 clinical staff were actively engaged in 
research, that had been approved by a research ethics 
committee, across the 18 participating medical specialties. 

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust has an efficient system for dealing with requests for 
NHS permission for research studies and 80% of studies 
were approved within 30 days of validation of the site 
specific information form (SSIF).

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust is also committed to testing and offering the 
latest medical treatments and techniques. Consultant 
Anaesthetists in our Critical Care Unit won the following 
award for one of their innovation projects:
l A safer way of chest drain insertion. This won second 

prize at the Health Enterprise East annual awards October 
2012,  in the medical technology and software category.

Data Quality

The Trust continues to recognise the importance of reliable 
information as a fundamental requirement for the prompt 
and effective treatment of patients. The Trust’s aim 
remains to be significantly above average in all Data Quality 
indicators and performance is monitored regularly. Data 

quality is crucial and the availability of complete, accurate 
and timely information and data is important in supporting 
patient care, clinical governance, management and service 
agreements for healthcare planning, accountability and 
Payment by Results (PbR). 
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The Trust Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 
data quality and has a nominated Executive Director to 
fulfil the role of Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO). The 
establishment of the SIRO role was one of several measures 
introduced across the NHS to strengthen controls around 
information security, data quality and data protection.  The 
Trust regularly monitors its data quality through national 
data quality reports, undertakes regular internal audits and 
regularly participates in the national audit programmes 
focused on data quality. Some of the measures the Trust 
focuses on are; the Secondary Uses Service, Clinical Coding 
and the Connecting for Health Information Governance 
Toolkit. A Data Quality sub-group has been established to 
monitor key issues which reports directly to the Information 
Governance Committee. The Trust has undertaken a 
number of external assessments of its data quality and 
regularly uses both CHKS and Dr Foster data comparison 
sites for benchmark Trust attainment.  For the fourth year 
in a row the Trust was included in CHKS Top 40 Hospitals 
award scheme.

In records submitted to the Secondary Care Uses System 
(SUS) for inclusion in Hospital Episode Statistics (HES), the 
percentage of records including the valid patient’s NHS 
number was 99.8%. In records submitted to the Secondary 
Uses System (SUS) for inclusion in Hospital Episode Statistics 
(HES), the percentage of records including the valid patients 
GP registration code was 100%.  

The Trust’s error rate for clinical coding (for diagnosis and 
treatment coding), as reported by the Audit Commission 
in the latest Payment by Results (PbR) clinical coding 
audit is 3%.  A series of actions to improve the Trust’s 
awareness and compliance with the requirements of the 
Information Governance Toolkit has seen the Trust achieve 
an overall score of 74% at year end. These actions include 
a dedicated training programme to educate staff in the 
principles of Information Governance and good practice, 
and small working groups to implement key actions across 
the Trust.

Secondary User Services (SUS)

The Trust submitted records during April 2012 to January 
2013 to the Secondary User Services for inclusion in the 
Hospital Episodes Statistics which are included in the latest 
published data. The percentage of records in the published 
data is reported on the right: SUS data which included the 
patient’s valid NHS number was:
l 99.8% Admitted Patient Care
l 99.9% Outpatient Care
l 99% Accident and Emergency Care

SUS data which included the patient’s valid General 
Medical Practice Code was:
l 100% Admitted Patient Care
l 100% Outpatient Care
l 100% Accident and Emergency Care

Information Governance Toolkit Attainment Levels

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s information Governance assessment report overall 
score for 2012/13 was 74% and was graded ‘green’.

Clinical Coding Error Rate
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust was subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding 
inpatient quality audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission and the error rates reported in the latest 
published audit for that period for diagnoses and treatment coding (clinical coding) were:
l 2.7% Primary Diagnosis Incorrect 
l 0.7% Secondary Diagnosis 
l 2.6% Primary Procedure 
l 3.5% Secondary Procedure 



86

2 012 / 13  A n n uA l  R e p o R t  A n d Ac c o u n t s  l  q uA l i t y

Part 5: What Others Say About Us

Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust is required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current registration status is ‘registered 
without any conditions’. 

The Trust remains committed to meeting the Care Quality 
Commission’s (CQC) essential standards for quality and 
safety and routinely undertakes self-assessment of its 
compliance with the CQC Outcome Framework.  This is 
supported by a programme of mock assessment visits 
throughout the year to continually monitor compliance.  
Despite this following two unannounced inspection visits to 
the Trust by the CQC, the first in August 2012, three minor 
concerns affecting compliance were reported back to the 
Trust for the following outcomes:

 Outcome 1  –  Respecting and Involving People
 Outcome 5  –  Meeting Nutritional Needs
 Outcome 21  –  Record-keeping

This was in addition to the moderate concern identified 
at their visit to the Trust in February 2012.  The Trust 
responded immediately to these concerns and has 
implemented action plans to address all areas of 
concern. The Trust was re-visited in March 2013 to assess 
improvements made and is pleased to report that in respect 
of the Dignity and Nutrition visit, the Trust is fully compliant 
with outcomes 1, 5 and 21.

The Trust continues to have a moderate concern identified 
for outcome 21, record keeping, following the CQC risk 
based assessment visit in February 2012 and awaits the 
CQC re-visiting to assess the impact of the actions taken to 
address the issues reported to us following the visit.

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust has not participated in any special reviews or 
investigations by the CQC during the reporting period, but 
has been the subject of two CQC inspections:

monitor
During 2011/12 the Trust was found to be in significant 
breach of its terms of authorisation with Monitor.  The 
breach of authorisation was in relation to its general 
duty to exercise its functions effectively and economically 
(condition 2) and of governance (condition 6).  The Trust 
has agreed actions with Monitor and reviews progress 
in meeting these actions monthly with Monitor.  Further 
details can be found on Monitor’s website.

Stakeholder feedback
The Trust requested feedback from a number of 
stakeholder organisations. Due to the lateness of the 
request from the Trust for comments some stakeholders 
were unable to respond within the timescales required for 
publication in the document.

West Norfolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Thank you for sharing the Trust Quality Account for 2012/13 
which we have now had the opportunity to review. The 
report provides a clear, detailed picture of the Trust’s 
strategic focus on quality. 

The Trust has made improvements in several areas. The 
CCG is pleased to note the Trust’s achievements in infection 
control; there were no cases of MRSA bacteraemia and the 
C Difficile infection rate was well below the trajectory.

We were pleased to see that the overall mortality rates have 
continued to fall and the CCG would support the Trust doing 
further work at specialty level to provide greater insight and 
depth of understanding about how this relates to specific 
disease areas.

The Quality Governance Structures are robust and well-
established with a clear line of accountability to the Board of 
Directors and Governors. The CCG particularly appreciates 

the increase in clinical attendance and involvement at the 
monthly Clinical Quality Review meetings.

We would commend the Trust on their COPD and catheter 
passport initiatives, which demonstrate good collaborative 
working across acute, community and primary care settings. 
The CCG would encourage the Trust to continue to lead 
on West Norfolk initiatives such as this, to improve clinical 
pathways for patients.

Progress on the Patient Safety Thermometer is pleasing 
and the Trust has introduced innovative actions particularly 
around pressure ulcer prevention.

In addition, the dementia ‘F.A.I.R.’ CQUIN has been 
successful and well communicated to primary care.

However, the CCG has several areas we would expect the 
Trust to improve on during the coming year. 
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Part 5: What Others Say About Us

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Statement

The Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
decided not to comment on any of the Norfolk provider 
Trust’s Quality Accounts for 2012/13 and would like to 

stress that this should in no way be taken as a negative 
comment.

Healthwatch Norfolk
Healthwatch Norfolk can confirm that it has reviewed 
the Quality Accounts for 2012/13. However, due to 
Healthwatch Norfolk only becoming operational from 1 
April 2013 we do not believe it is appropriate for us to 
provide any detailed observations at this time but we will 

be working closely with The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust and therefore will 
provide detailed and constructive comments on the Quality 
Accounts for 2013/14.

Governors’ Statement on the 2012/13 Quality Account
The Quality Account was reviewed by Governors at their 
Business Committee meeting, held on 15th May 2013.
 
The Governors commend the Quality Account as a clear 
and comprehensive report, which represents the Trust’s 
progress in meeting its Quality objectives.   

The Governors wish in particular, to record their 
observation that the Trust has delivered high quality 
services despite significant operational pressures and 
organisational restructuring in 2012/13.

Patient experience
This has been the subject of continued discussion 
particularly in relation to the Net Promoter Score in the 
Friends and Family Test. Whilst the Trust has achieved the 
CQUIN target on footfall, there has been no improvement 
in the actual FFT score, which remains low. Using this 
measure, it is hard to judge patient experience with 
confidence. The CCG wishes to have greater oversight of 
the elements of the new Patient and Carer Experience 
Strategy adopted in November 2012, to clarify the key 
actions to bring about an incremental improvement in 
patient experience. 

The Adult In-patient survey does not illustrate a 
significant improvement from 2011 to 2012. In particular, 
indicators on communication with patients around their 
worries regarding medication and support following 
discharge suggest that staff may not be able to prioritise 
communication with patients. This coupled with the current 
staff shortages and sickness levels gives rise to concern 
regarding staff morale and ability to provide consistently 
holistic care to patients. As a result, the CCG has offered 
the Trust a local CQUIN on workforce development in order 
to support implementation of the Trust’s quality strategy. 
This relates in particular to embedding the principles 

regarding an open learning culture and an organisation 
that values and listens to staff, patients and carers. 

discharge planning
The CCG recognises the Trust has made internal changes to 
establish a larger short-stay medical ward which has had an 
impact on ensuring patients do not stay in hospital longer 
than required to meet their healthcare needs. This focus on 
effective discharge planning needs to be replicated across 
the organisation and a local CQUIN has been established 
to support this work. As a result of this initiative, the CCG 
expects to see a significant improvement in the patient 
flow through the organisation, which should also improve 
the waiting time and experience of patients attending A&E.  
Medical patients outlying on surgical wards continued to 
be a problem for the Trust during 2012/13 and the CCG 
expects to see a sustained reduction in these following 
measures to ensure that bed availability matches demand. 

West Norfolk CCG is committed to supporting QEH in 
further advancing the quality agenda across all services 
provided to the residents of West Norfolk.

dr Sue crossman Chief Officer
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Part 6: Mandatory Statements

we welcome comments from the health overview 
and Scrutiny committee (hoSc), nhS norfolk (Pct) 
and local involvement network (link) on our Quality 
account 2012/13.

we are very encouraged by the fact that all of our 
key stakeholders believed the scope for our Quality 
accounts was comprehensive and that there were 
no additional areas to include. however, from the 

feedback we recognise that in subsequent years we 
must look at whether a different presentation might 
be helpful in some of the areas.

we now look forward to continuing to work closely 
with out stakeholders to improve the quality of 
healthcare that we provide.

Trust Statement

2012/13 Statement Of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of 
The Quality Report

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and 
the National Health Services (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust 
boards on the form and content of the Quality Reports 
(which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on 
the arrangements that foundation trust boards should put 
in place to support the data quality for the preparation of 
the Quality Report.

In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to 
take steps to satisfy themselves that:
l The content of the Quality Report meets the 

requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual;

l The content of the Quality Report is consistent with 
internal and external sources of information including:
❍ Board minutes and papers for the period April 2012 to 

28 May 2013
❍ Papers relating to Quality reports to the Board over the 

period April 2012 to 28 May 2013
❍	Feedback from commissioners
❍ Feedback from governors dated May 2013
❍ Feedback from LINks
❍ The 2012 national patient survey
❍ 2012/13 CQC quality and risk profiles

l The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the 
NHS foundation trust’s performance over the period 
covered;

l The performance information reported in the Quality 
Report is reliable and accurate;

l There are proper internal controls over the collection and 
reporting of the measures of performance included in the 
Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review 
to confirm that they are working effectively in practice;

l The data underpinning the measures of performance 
reported in the Quality Report is robust and reliable, 
conforms to specified data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions; is subject to appropriate scrutiny 
and review; and the Quality Report has been prepared 
in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations 
published at http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to 
support data quality for the preparation of the Quality 
Report (available at http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual).

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and 
belief they have complied with the above requirements in 
preparing the Quality Report.

by order of the board

Chairman 
Kate Gordon cb 
28 May 2013

Chief Executive 
Patricia wright 
28 May 2013
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Part 6: Mandatory Statements

independent auditor’s report to the council 
of Governors of Queen elizabeth hospital nhS 
foundation trust on the Quality report 
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to perform 
an independent assurance engagement in respect of Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report 
for the year ended 31 March 2013 (the “Quality Report”) 
and certain performance indicators contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter 
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2013 subject to 
limited assurance consist of the national priority indicators 
as mandated by Monitor: 
l Clostridium Difficile – all cases of Clostridium Difficile 

positive diarrhoea in patients aged two years or over   
that  are attributed to the Trust; and 

l 62 Day cancer waits – the percentage of patients treated 
within 62 days of referral from GP. 

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as 
the “indicators”.
  
respective responsibilities of the directors and 
auditors 
The Directors are responsible for the content and the 
preparation of the Quality Report in accordance with 
the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited 
assurance procedures, on whether anything has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that: 
l the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects 

in line with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual; 

l the Quality Report is not consistent in all material 
respects with the sources specified in; and 

l the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having 
been the subject of limited assurance in the Quality 
Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects 
in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data quality 
set out in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance 
on Quality Reports. 

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it 
addresses the content requirements of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any 
material omissions. 

We read the other information contained in the Quality 
Report and consider whether it is materially inconsistent 
with: 

Auditor’s Statement
l Board minutes for the period April 2012 to May 2013; 
l Papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the 

period April 2012 to May 2013; 
l Feedback from the Governors dated May 2013; 
l Feedback from the Commissioners dated May 2013; 
l Feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 

May 2013; 
l The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 

18 of the Local Authority Social Services and NHS 
Complaints Regulations 2009, 2012/13; 

l The 2012/13 national patient survey; 
l The 2012/13 national staff survey; 
l Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles 

2012/13; and 
l		The 2012/13 Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over 

the Trust’s control environment.

We consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the 
‘documents’). Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information. 

We are in compliance with the applicable independence 
and competency requirements of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. 
Our team comprised assurance practitioners and relevant 
subject matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared 
solely for the Council of Governors of Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the 
Council of Governors in reporting Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance 
and activities. We permit the disclosure of this report 
within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 
2013, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate 
they have discharged their governance responsibilities 
by commissioning an independent assurance report in 
connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body 
and Queen Elizabeth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for our 
work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed 
and with our prior consent in writing. 

assurance work performed 
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in 
accordance with International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements 
other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information’ issued by the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board (‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited 
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assurance procedures included: 
l Evaluating the design and implementation of the key 

processes and controls for managing and reporting the 
indicators. 

l Making enquiries of management. 
l Testing key management controls. 
l Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data 

used to calculate the indicator back to supporting 
documentation. 

l Comparing the content requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to the 
categories reported in the Quality Report. 

l Reading the documents.
 
A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a 
reasonable assurance engagement. The nature, timing and 
extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate 
evidence are deliberately limited relative to a reasonable 
assurance engagement.

limitations 
Non-financial performance information is subject to more 
inherent limitations than financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used 
for determining such information. 
The absence of a significant body of established practice 
on which to draw allows for the selection of different 
but acceptable measurement techniques which can result 
in materially different measurements and can impact 
comparability. The precision of different measurement 
techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and 
methods used to determine such information, as well as 
the measurement criteria and the precision thereof, may 
change over time. It is important to read the Quality Report 
in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual. 
The scope of our assurance work has not included 
governance over quality or non-mandated indicators which 
have been determined locally by Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

conclusion 
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come 
to our attention that causes us to believe that, for the year 
ended 31 March 2013: 
l the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects 

in line with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual; 

l the Quality Report is not consistent in all material 
respects with the sources specified above; and 

l the indicators in the Quality Report subject to limited 
assurance have not been reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual. 

KPmG llP
Statutory Auditor
Ipswich
28 May 2013 
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This annual report has been prepared to reflect 
the activities and financial position of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
for the period up until 31 March 2013.

The Trust recorded a financial risk rating of 2 for the first 
and final quarters of 2012-13 and a financial risk rating of 3 
for the second and third quarters. The financial risk rating 
overall for the year was a 2. The Trust recorded a deficit for 
the year of £0.865m. The plan was to deliver a surplus of 
£1.6m. Excluding restructuring costs for the East of England 
Pathology modernisation project the position is one of 
breakeven.

Our underlying plan shortfall of £2.5m was the result of 
lower than planned clinical income of £1.3m coupled with 
an under delivery, by £3.4m, of our challenging £10.2m 
efficiency savings programme. These were offset by other 
operational underspends.

Whilst this is disappointing, a total of £6.8m of savings 
were delivered, being 4.3% of operating costs, of which 
£5m is recurrent giving rise to annualised savings of £7.4m.

The Trust has remained in breach of the following two 
terms of authorisation:
a) Condition 2: the general duty to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently  and economically; and
b) Condition 5: its governance duty

As a direct consequence external audit have also qualified 
their opinion on the Trust’s Use of Resources. KPMG were 
engaged in the Trust until June 2012 to continue their work 
to:
l Identify and develop ideas for 2013-14 cost improvement 

initiatives and beyond
l Support the implementation of delivery plans for selected 

schemes
l Develop key Trust staff in their ability to generate and 

deliver cost improvement projects and future business 

opportunities 
l Support and strengthen the Trust’s Programme 

Management Office (PMO) capability

The Board has kept its financial governance arrangements 
under continual review to ensure the Trust is in a sound and 
sustainable financial position in what is a very challenging 
financial climate for all NHS organisations. We need to 
continue to make significant efficiencies whilst delivering 
high quality services. The Trust once again faces a savings 
target of over £8.9m in 2013/14.

I N c o M E  a N d  E x p E N d I T u r E
The income that the Trust generated related primarily to the 
patient services provided at The Queen Elizabeth Hospital 
in King’s Lynn and came predominantly through service 
arrangements with our primary PCTs, NHS Norfolk, NHS 
Cambridgeshire and NHS Lincolnshire. The form of these 
service arrangements was based largely on the national 
Payment by Results tariff.

Although the number of emergency patients was lower 
than planned for the year they remained above 2008/09 
levels and are subject to the emergency cap calculation. 
The emergency activity cap calculation continued in 
2012/13. This means the Trust receives only 30% of the 
national tariff for emergency activity above 2008/09 levels. 
The impact of the cap reduced the Trust’s income (and 
surplus) by £3.7m and impacted on the Trust’s ability to 
deliver its elective activity plan in full. In terms of clinical 
income for the year, excluding pass through costs, e.g. high 
cost drugs, clinical income was £1.4m below plan with the 
most significant area being an underperformance within 
elective inpatient activity.

The change in the number of patients treated by the Trust 
is detailed below. There was a 4.32% increase in the 
number of patients treated by the Trust with the largest 
increases seen in outpatients and direct access. There was 
also a 2.51% increase in the level of patients seen in A&E.

Summary Financial Report

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust

NHS Clinical activity by point of delivery
2011/12 2012/13 Variance
Actual Actual Number %

Out-patients 291,991 297,372 5,381 1.84

Day cases 33,621 33,479 (142) (0.42)

Elective In-patients 5,227 5,115 (112) (2.14)

Elective Excess Bed Days 1,163 800 (363) (31.21)

A&E 54,280 55,644 1,364 2.51

Non-elective In-patients 30,814 30,669 (145) (0.47)

Non-elective Excess Bed Days 17,700 13,286 (4,414) (24.94)

Critical Care 8,935 8,735 (200) (2.24)

Direct Access 477,568 516,012 38,444 8.05

Total NHS clinical activity 921,299 961,112 39,813 4.32
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c a p I Ta L  I N v E S T M E N T
The Trust made significant capital investments during the 
year, totalling £6.6m, on a range of projects including the 
following:

Macmillan cancer centre Extension: Over £0.8m 
was spent during the year extending and upgrading the 
Macmillan Centre cancer facilities at the Trust. The Trust 
is extremely grateful to Macmillan Cancer Support for 
providing a significant contribution towards the funding 
of the project. The Trust received a total of £0.4m from 
Macmillan Cancer Support. The project was also supported 
by the local community through various fundraising 
activities; this provided a further £0.2m which was 
generously given to the Trust’s Charitable Fund for the 
project.

IM&T: A total of £2.1m was spent primarily on upgrading 
the Patient admin system, implementing a new system 
within A&E, and upgrading the Trust’s IT infrastructure.

Medical Equipment: The Trust invested just under £1m 
on new medical equipment and a further £0.8m on the 
completion of the MRI suite.

Neo-natal Intensive care unit (NIcu): Work to upgrade 
NICU was completed during the year. A total of £0.160m 
that had been raised from various fundraising events was 
used along with a further £0.190m from the Trust’s capital 
budget.

car park: Alterations and an extension to the Trust’s 
car park were undertaken during the year at a cost of 
£0.240m.

Estate Maintenance: A further £0.500m was spent 
upgrading and maintaining the estate, including significant 
expenditure on replacing the electrical infrastructure.

G o I N G  F o r wa r d
The Trust faces a very challenging year ahead, although the 
budgeted income for the Trust remains broadly static, the 
expected rise in activity and costs leaves the Trust with a 
savings target of £8.9m. A programme of savings schemes 
has been developed.

The key focus for the Trust during 2013/14 is to assess the 
current operating model and develop a more financially 
sustainable model for the future that enables the Trust 
to continue to invest in the hospital infrastructure, to 
continually achieve national quality standards whilst 

improving the quality of services provided. This includes 
refreshing our longer term business plan to ensure we 
adapt our services to continue to meet the health needs  
of the local population.
We made no significant changes to accounting policies 
during the year.

G o I N G  c o N c E r N
The Board of Directors has considered the status of the 
Trust as a going concern and although the Board believe 
it to be appropriate to prepare the accounts on the going 
concern basis, it also considers there to be  
material uncertainties.

More details regarding the Trusts going concern position 
and challenges going forward can be found within the 
Annual Governance Statement and the accounting policies 
note.

B E T T E r  pay M E N T  p r ac T I c E  c o d E
The Better Payment Practice Code requires that all valid 
invoices should be paid by their due date or within 30 days 
of receipt, whichever is later. Our performance for 2012-13 
is presented below, measured in terms of both the number 
and value of invoices received, against an NHS target to  
pay over 95 per cent of trade creditors in accordance  
with the Code. 

NHS Suppliers Number £

Total invoices paid to target 1,595 10,809,607

Total invoices paid 1,703 11,962,969

% paid within target 94% 90%

Non NHS Suppliers

Total invoices paid to target 35,553 41,356,157

Total invoices paid 39,026 46,339,843

% paid within target 92% 89%

The Trust can confirm that it has complied with the cost 
allocation and charging requirements set out in HM 
Treasury and Office of Public sector Information guidance.

So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the auditors are unaware. Each 
director has taken all of the steps that they ought to have 
taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of that information. 
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T H E  Q u E E N  E L I z a B E T H  H o S p I Ta L  K I N G ’ S  Ly N N  N H S  F o u N daT I o N  T r u S T
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For the year ended 31 March 2013
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Chief Executive patricia wright 
28 May 2013

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the 
accounting officer of the NHS foundation Trust. The 
relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including 
their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public 
finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping 
of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust to 
prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in 
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust and 
of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required 
to comply with the requirements of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

l observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, 
including the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on  
a consistent basis; 

l make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

l state whether applicable accounting standards as set  
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain  
any material departures in the financial statements; and 

l prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis. 

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation 
Trust and to enable her to ensure that the accounts comply 
with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly 
discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor's NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

Chief Executive patricia wright 
28 May 2013

F o r E w o r d  T o  T H E  ac c o u N T S
T H E  Q u E E N  E L I z a B E T H  H o S p I Ta L  K I N G ’ S  Ly N N  N H S  F o u N daT I o N  T r u S T

These accounts for the year ended 31 March 2013, have 
been prepared by the Board of Directors of The Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust in 

accordance with paragraphs 24 and 25 of schedule 7 to the 
National Health Service Act 2006, and in accordance with 
directions made by Monitor.

S TaT E M E N T  o F  T H E  c H I E F  E x E c u T I v E ' S  r E S p o N S I B I L I T I E S  a S  T H E  ac c o u N T I N G 
o F F I c E r  o F  T H E  Q u E E N  E L I z a B E T H  H o S p I Ta L  K I N G S  Ly N N  N H S  F o u N daT I o N  T r u S T
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The Directors are required under the National Health 
Service Act 2006, as directed by Monitor, the Independent 
Regulator for NHS Foundation Trusts, to prepare accounts 
for each financial year.

Monitor, with the approval of HM Treasury, directs that 
these accounts shall show, and give a true and fair view of 
the NHS Foundation Trust's income and expenditure, gains 
and losses, cash flow and financial state at the end of the 
financial year. Monitor further directs that the accounts 
shall meet the requirements of the NHS foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual that is in force for the relevant 
financial year, which shall be agreed by HM Treasury.

In preparing these Accounts, the Directors are required to:

l apply on a consistent basis, for all items considered 
material in relation to the accounts, accounting policies 
contained in the NHS Annual Reporting Manual issued by 
Monitor;

l make judgements and estimates which are reasonable 
and prudent; and ensure the application of all relevant 

accounting standards, and adherence to International 
Financial Reporting Standards for companies to the extent 
that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, 
subject to any material departures being disclosed and 
explained in the accounts.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy, at 
any time the financial position of the Trust. This is to 
ensure proper financial procedures are followed, and that 
accounting records are maintained in a form suited to the 
requirements of effective management, as well as in the 
form prescribed for the published accounts.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding all 
assets of the Trust, including taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, that they have complied with the above requirement 
in preparing the Accounts.

By order of The Board of directors 
28 May 2013

S TaT E M E N T  o F  d I r E c T o r S '  r E S p o N S I B I L I T I E S  I N  r E S p E c T  o F  T H E  ac c o u N T S
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Annual Governance Statement to 31 March 2013
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s Lynn NHS Foundation Trust

1 . S c o p E  o F  r E S p o N S I B I L I T y
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining 
a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me.  I 
am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation 
Trust is administered prudently and economically and 
that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

2 .  T H E  p u r p o S E  o F  T H E  S y S T E M  o F 
I N T E r N a L  c o N T r o L
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to 
a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure 
to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on 
an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and 
objectives of The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The system of internal control has been in place in The 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2013 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report and accounts.

3 .  c a pac I T y  T o  H a N d L E  r I S K
The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy which is 
reviewed and updated annually, it provides a framework 
for managing risk and clearly lays out the delegation of 
responsibility to Executive Directors, managers, clinicians, 
and staff as appropriate. Executive Directors have 
been delegated responsibility for specific areas of risk 
management. The Director of Patient Experience &Lead for
Nursing and Non-medical Professionals is responsible 
for co-ordinating the management of organisational 
and clinical risk. The Director of Resources is responsible 
for the management of financial risk and for ensuring 
there are sound systems of financial control in place. The 
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for ensuring that 
risk management is integral to the corporate planning 
processes. 

Internal audit undertook a review of the risk management 
system and issued a ‘good’ opinion.

The Committee structure of the Trust ensures risks are 

regularly reviewed and appropriately managed. The Trust’s 
high level operational risks are reviewed monthly by the 
Committees.  Staff are provided with risk management 
training and each ward or department has a designated risk 
champion. There is a range of Trust Policies available on the 
Trust’s Intranet that describe the roles and responsibilities 
in relation to the identification and management of risk. 
The risk scoring matrix and risk assessment procedure 
have been embedded to ensure that there is a consistent 
approach to both assessing and prioritising risk.

The Trust learns from good practice through internal 
audits, clinical audits, performance management, peer 
reviews, continuing professional development, incidents 
and complaints.  There are specialist advisors in place to 
continually develop policies and procedures, and to provide 
advice to managers and staff.

4 .  T H E  r I S K  a N d  c o N T r o L  F r a M E w o r K
Board assurance Framework and risk register
The Board of Directors agrees and monitors the Board 
Assurance Framework and the high scoring risks on the 
risk register.  The Board Assurance Framework sets out 
the principle risks to the delivery of the Trust’s strategic 
objectives. Each risk has a lead Executive Director assigned 
to it and details the controls in place to mitigate against 
the risk. Any gaps in controls are highlighted through this 
process allowing management action to be taken.  The 
Board agrees target risk ratings for all strategic risks and 
assesses residual risk against its key strategic aims once 
assurance is received that effective internal controls are 
in place.  In 2012 – 13, the Board agreed an additional 
‘heat map’ methodology to enable it to assess the relative 
strength of its sources of assurance.  The most recent 
internal audit of the Board Assurance Framework delivered 
an ‘excellent’ and only one limited assurance on expenses.

Each division or department has a risk register which they 
review and update monthly.  All high scoring risks are 
included on the Trust’s central risk register. Risks are scored 
using a matrix system that takes account of the likelihood 
and impact of the risk if it were realised.

The Trust continues to focus on managing the risks relating 
to data security.  The Board of Directors has overall 
responsibility and has nominated a Director to fulfil the role 
of Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO).

The Trust submitted its Department of Health Information 
Governance (IG) Toolkit in March 2013.  This evidenced the 
Trust’s compliance with IG standards, achieving a score of 
82% and a green rating.  Internal audit also undertook a 
review of the systems and processes supporting the Trust’s 
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submission and issued an opinion of ‘good assurance’.

The Trust’s main operational risks include:

l The IT network could fail, as is in need of replacement 
and work is continuing to replace the network

l Improvements are needed to the Trust’s record keeping, 
particularly the efficient filing health care records 
following an inpatients stay. The issues and actions are 
being monitored by the Clinical Governance Committee.

l Recruitment of registered nurses to fill the high level 
of vacancies and to meet the skills mix requirements to 
continue to deliver effective clinical services. 

l The Trust’s disinfectors need replacing to comply with 
regulations and ensure future accreditation of sterile 
services. 

The Trust’s key risks for the future include:

l If emergency activity continues to increase at current 
trend rates  the Trust’s profitability will be negatively 
impacted The Trust is working very closely with the CCG 
and other providers to deliver QIPP demand reduction 
schemes and performance will be monitored by the 
Finance and Investment Committee.

l The main hospital building is showing signs of wear; 
significant investment is required to be made in the main 
infrastructure. The buildings are continually monitored for 
changes in their condition and plans are being developed 
to undertake the necessary repairs via the Trust’s backlog 
maintenance programme.

l The Health and Social Care Act 2012 will impact the 
Trust as the commissioning of its services will fall to GP 
Commissioners and patients will be given more choice 
about where and what treatment they receive. However, 
the actual impact on the services that the hospital 
provides will not become clear until the commissioning 
groups are fully operational and all elements of the Act 
are implemented. 

l The financial sustainability and ability to continue to 
invest in the services of the Trust is contingent on the 
delivery of its savings plans. A programme of savings 
has been developed, robust programme management 
protocols are in place along with clear accountability 
for delivery.  Performance is monitored through regular 
programme, project and divisional management 
meetings.

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings Lynn Foundation Trust 
is required to register with the Care Quality Commission 
and its current registration status is ‘registered without any 
conditions’. There were two unannounced inspection visits 
to the Trust by the CQC, the first in August 2012, three 
minor concerns affecting compliance was reported back to 
the Trust for the following outcomes:

Outcome 1 –  Respecting and Involving People
Outcome 5 –  Meeting Nutritional Needs
Outcome 21 –    Record-keeping

This was in addition to the moderate concern identified 
at their visit to the Trust in February 2012.  The Trust 
responded immediately to these concerns and developed 
and has implemented action plans to address all areas of 
concern. The Trust was re-visited in March 2013 to assess 
improvements made and is pleased to report that in respect 
of the Dignity and Nutrition visit, the Trust is fully compliant 
with outcomes 1, 5 and 21.
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kings Lynn Foundation Trust 
has not participated in any special reviews or investigations 
by the CQC during the reporting period. The Trust is fully 
compliant with the registration requirements of the CQC.

committee Structure
The Board had six committees reporting directly to it 
during 2012-13, namely the Quality and Risk Committee, 
Performance and Standards Committee, the Finance and 
Investment Committee, the Trust Executive Committee, the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the Audit 
Committee.

Each Committee monitors risks relevant to the scope of its 
business and in line with the risk management strategy, 
thereby ensuring all Trust-wide organisational risks are 
escalated appropriately.   The Board considers risks with a 
residual risk of 20 or more, and their associated mitigations, 
there are 14 risks at this level.  The Quality and Risk 
Committee considers risks with a residual risk of 15 and 
over and the Trust Executive Committee monitors and 
reviews the entire Corporate Risk Register.

The Trust Executive Committee, which comprises the 
Executive Director Team and the Trust’s Clinical Directors, 
is responsible for the delivery of the Trust’s Strategy and 
Business Plans.  In so doing, the Trust Executive Committee 
develops, implements and reviews tactical plans, approves 
associated policy and business cases, in line with the 
scheme of delegation and monitors the performance of 
the organisation against its plans and key performance 
indicators

The Quality and Risk Committee monitors the delivery 
of the Trust’s Quality Strategy and reviews key quality 
information to provide the Board with assurance that 
the Trust is delivering effective, safe services and a good 
patient experience.  The Quality and Risk Committee also 
undertakes detailed quality reviews commissioned by the 
Board, where concerns have been raised relating to the 
delivery of quality services in a particular area.

The Performance and Standards Committee monitors 
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the Trust’s performance against its Operating Framework 
targets and compliance with CQC and NHSLA standards 
along with detailed exploratory work commissioned by the 
Board. 

The Finance and Investment Committee monitors 
and reviews the adequacy of the Trust’s financial risk 
assessments, assumptions, sensitivities, mitigation plans 
and contingencies.  It also monitors the Trust’s on-going 
financial position against plan and any action plans in place 
to recover financial slippages.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the 
effectiveness of the Trust’s control environment.  The 
committee receives reports from Internal Audit including 
the NHS Protect counter fraud service.  Internal Audit 
agrees an annual plan with the Audit Committee. The work 
includes identifying and evaluating controls and testing their 
effectiveness, in accordance with NHS Internal Auditing 
Standards. Reports emanating from the internal audit 
reviews and associated recommendations are reported to 
the Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee monitors the 
Trust’s delivery of the recommendations and agreed actions 
through its regular review of the Outstanding Actions 
Database.

The Audit Committee receives reports from the Trust’s 
External Audit team, including the annual management 
letter and other reports agreed as part of their annual plan.

The Audit Committee also reviews key reporting records of 
the Board’s Committees, and undertakes periodic reviews 
of the efficacy of the assurances provided to the Board by 
its committees.

Information risk is managed through the Information 
Governance Committee, which reports into the Trust 
Executive Committee. The Trust assessed compliance with 
the requirements of the Connecting for Health Information 
Governance (IG) Toolkit, and signed the annual IG 
statement of compliance in March 2013. It assessed itself 
as ‘green’ with a compliance score of 82% which is a pre-
requisite of unconditional registration with the Care Quality 
Commission. There have been no serious incidents that 
require disclosure in relation to personal data.

public and Staff
The public are involved in the risk management process 
within the Trust through their involvement in the Readers’ 
Panel and the Patient Experience Committee of the 
Governors’ Council (PEC).   The Governors’ Council itself 
also reviews quality and financial risk as part of its statutory 
duty to hold the Board of Directors accountable for the 
Trust remaining within the terms of its authorisation.
Staff are expected to provide safe clinical practice, report 

incidents, accidents and potential hazards, be familiar with 
the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and departmental 
risk issues, comply with all Trust policies and procedures and 
take reasonable care of their own safety and the safety of 
others. Each specialty undergoes an annual review where a 
panel assesses evidence that the Trust’s clinical governance 
standards are being adhered to.

A considerable amount of work and training is undertaken 
throughout the year, to ensure continuous improvements 
are made to the robustness of the Trust’s business 
continuity plans, ensuring they are aligned across 
departments and with the organisation’s risks.

The Trust’s risk and incident reporting processes have been 
improved during the year, a new on-line system reporting 
system has been implemented which enables easier and 
faster reporting and monitoring of risks and incidents.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of 
the NHS Pension scheme, control measures are in place 
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the 
Scheme regulations are complied with.  This includes 
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments in to the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member 
Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  
Internal audit conducted an audit of the Trust’s payroll 
systems and gave the opinion that satisfactory controls are 
in place.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the 
organisation's obligations under equality, diversity and 
human rights legislation were complied with. All Trust 
policies contain an equality impact assessment.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and 
Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans are in place in accordance 
with emergency preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to 
ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the Climate 
Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

5 .  r E v I E w  o F  E c o N o M y,  E F F I c I E N c y 
a N d  E F F E c T I v E N E S S  o F  T H E  u S E  o F 
r E S o u r c E S
Each year the Board of Directors agree budgets and 
plan targets that incorporate significant efficiency 
improvement requirements.  The delivery of those efficiency 
improvements is monitored by the Business Sustainability 
Programme Group and monthly meetings take place 
with Executive Directors to review performance. Monthly 
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performance reports are also reviewed at the Finance and 
Investment Committee.

The Board of Directors has specified within the Standing 
Financial Instructions and the Scheme of Delegation, the 
appropriate delegated authority levels throughout the 
Trust.  Executive Directors and managers have responsibility 
for the effective management and deployment of their 
staff and other resources to optimise the efficiency of each 
division.

The Board of Directors receives both performance and 
financial reports at each of its meetings and receives 
reports from the chairs of its committees, to which it has 
delegated powers and responsibilities.  In addition, from 
time to time the Board receives further assurance from 
benchmarking exercises.

A non-executive Director of the Board chairs the Audit 
Committee with regular attendance by representatives 
from both the Trust’s internal and external auditors.  The 
Committee reviews and agrees audit plans with both 
internal and external auditors, focussing work on the areas 
of highest priority.

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires 
management to assess, as part of the accounts preparation 
process, the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. 
The financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis unless management intends, or has no 
alternative but, to apply to the Secretary of State for the 
Trust's dissolution without the transfer of its services to 
another entity.

The  Trust’s Board of Directors (‘the Directors’) have 
carefully considered the principle of 'Going Concern' and 
have concluded that the combination of the circumstances 
outlined below represents a material uncertainty that casts 
significant doubt upon the Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. Nevertheless after making enquiries, and 
considering the uncertainties described in the following 
paragraphs, the Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Trust will have access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason, they have continued to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the accounts.

The  current position is set out below:

l The Trust remains in breach of the terms of its licence 
as a result of concerns about its financial sustainability. 
The Trust’s performance and progress in improving 
its governance arrangements have been reviewed by 
Monitor at monthly meetings throughout the year.

l The Trust did not deliver its financial plan in 2012/13; 

a deficit of £865k was recorded for the year against 
a planned surplus of £1.6m. The Trust’s Financial Risk 
Rating for the year was a 2 against a planned 3.

l The planned shortfall of £2.5m was the result of lower 
than planned clinical income of £1.3m coupled with an 
under delivery, by £3.4m, of our challenging £10.2m 
efficiency savings programme. These were offset by other 
operational underspends totalling £2.2m.

l Savings of £6.8m (4.3%) were delivered during the 
year; however this fell short of the £10.2m target as a 
result of under-deliver of schemes within the workforce 
optimisation, productivity optimisation and the 
procurement efficiencies work streams.

l Problems with emergency patient flow and bed capacity 
during the year resulted in significant under delivery of 
planned care activity leading to shortfalls in associated 
income totalling £1.3m for the year.

l The Trust’s cash position reduced from an opening 
position of £9.1m to a closing position of £5.6m. This has 
resulted in a movement from a net current asset position 
of £2.1m at 31 March 2012 to a net current liability 
position of £1.2m at 31 March 2013

During 2012/13  the Trust continued to improve a number 
of areas of financial governance including:

l The implementation of a savings programme developed 
with the support of KPMG which identified potential 
opportunities to support medium term savings targets.

l More detailed modelling of activity / capacity plans at 
speciality level.

l Embedding the project management of the Trust’s 
savings schemes.

l Implemented a restructure of the divisions and 
departments across the Trust with increased clinical 
director roles.

However “cash out” efficiencies increasingly require 
transformational change which in some areas e.g. 
emergency Length of Stay reduction requires wider health 
partner engagement to secure efficiencies whilst continuing 
to deliver quality patient care. 

The Directors have considered the outlook for the 12 
months from the date of signing these accounts. The 
conclusions drawn are as a result of the formation of the 
2013/14 Annual Plan.

The Trust’s planning assumptions for 2013/14 include 
further proposed savings of £8.9m, which represents 5% 
of annual turnover.  Whilst this is a realistic and achievable 
savings target, it remains a considerable challenge for 
delivery.  For 2013/14 it is made more challenging due 
to the robust stance from the Trust’s commissioners, 
which seems likely to restrict income based productivity 
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opportunities. The Trust has the ability to manage cash flow 
through deferral of capital projects but the extent to which 
this can be done is limited by practical investment need 
and could not cover a significant or prolonged shortfall in 
operating cash flows. 

The Trust has a fully embedded project management 
office to manage and monitor its savings schemes and is 
implementing plans to improve patient flow through the 
hospital that will lead to both financial efficiencies and 
improvements to patient experience. Delivery plans will 
undergo further external assurance to ensure the speed 
and scale of opportunity delivery is maximised through 
implementation of an internally driven turnaround regime. 

Looking further into the future, as less resource is available 
within the NHS healthcare economy, it is expected that 
additional savings in excess of £10m per annum will 
continue to be required for the foreseeable future.

The Trust will therefore undertake a major review leading 
to a re-design of service provision within the local health 
system that both meets the needs of the local population 
and secures the future financial sustainability of the Trust.

The Trust’s estate requires modernisation and maintenance. 
To undertake the required capital work for 2013/14 loans 
amounting to £5.1m are required. Of this, £1m has been 
secured to replace the electrical infrastructure of the 
hospital. However, the remaining loans are subject to 
application and approval. Without this and other capital 
investment the hospital infrastructure will fall further 
into decline and restrict the ability to take advantage of 
opportunities to improve efficiency. 

After making enquiries and considering the uncertainties, 
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust 
will have access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, they have continued to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts.

6 .  a N N ua L  Q ua L I T y  r E p o r T
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and 
the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust 
boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports 
which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

We have presented our Quality Accounts as part of our 
Annual Report and Accounts based on a range of indicators 

that were agreed by the Board and that are monitored 
on a regular basis through Patient Experience and Patient 
Safety reports.  The Board of Directors is satisfied that the 
messages within the Quality Account accurately reflect 
the information that it has received on a regular basis 
throughout the year.  The report has been shared with 
the Trust’s commissioners, governors, Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, all of whom have been given the 
opportunity to provide formal comment for publication 
within the report. 

The Board has taken assurance on the quality of data 
included in the report from the following sources:

l Internal audit reports
l Clinical audits
l Audit Commission review of the Quality Report and an 

audit of two data items.
l The Information Governance Toolkit assessment
l External benchmarking from Dr Foster and CHKS
l Weekly performance reporting against KPI’s.

The Quality Accounts process is led jointly by the Director 
of Planning and Performance, the Medical Director and the 
Director of Nursing.

7.  r E v I E w  o F  E F F E c T I v E N E S S
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, 
clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads 
within the NHS Foundation Trust who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. I have drawn on the content of the 
quality report attached to this Annual report and other 
performance information available to me. My review is also 
informed by comments made by the external auditors in 
their management letter and other internal audit reports. I 
have been advised on the implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
by the board, the Audit Committee and the Quality and 
Risk Committee. A plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in place.

My review is informed in a number of ways. The head 
of internal audit provides me with an opinion on the 
overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the 
Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part 
of the internal audit work. Although the focus of internal 
audit work is on internal controls, risk management and 
governance, there have been a number of assignments that 
have reviewed economy, effectiveness and efficiency of 
the processes within other departments including Human 
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Resources and Purchasing.  Internal Audit also reviewed the 
Board Assurance Framework giving the opinion that good 
controls are in place. During the year, 33 internal audits 
were conducted in total and two of those audits, relating 
to Network Security and Expenses, concluded that the 
controls in place provided only limited assurance. Robust 
management action plans and follow up audits have 
been agreed to address the risks and control weaknesses 
identified within each audit. 

The overall level of assurance given by the Head of Internal 
Audit is significant.

As detailed above, the Board, its committees and sub-
committees have a key role in maintaining and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control.

I also gain assurance from executive managers within the 
organisation, who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the system of internal control. The 
Board has received regular reports on risk, performance 
and clinical governance. 

The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence 
that, the effectiveness of controls that manage the risks to 
the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been 
reviewed. 

My review is also informed by recommendations made 
by the external auditors in their management letter and 
other reports; the review mechanisms in place for the 
risk register, reviews undertaken by the Care Quality 
Commission and NHS Litigation Authority along with the 
declaration of compliance with core standards made to the 
Care Quality Commission.

The Trust was compliant with the outcomes of all CQC 
standards and is unconditionally registered with the Care 
Quality Commission for the full range of services that it 
provides.

The Trust was found to be in significant breach of its terms 
of authorisation in January 2012, due to missing its financial 
targets and receiving three compliance actions as a result 
of an inspection by the Care Quality Commission in August 
2011. The Trust developed and implemented action plans to 
address the issues and quickly resolved all three compliance 
actions to the satisfaction of the Care Quality Commission.

The Trust achieved both its C-diff and MRSA infection 
targets for the year, however the Trust failed to meet the 
A&E target in Quarter 3 and 4 and did not achieve the 
year-end target.

The Trust underwent an assessment of its risk management 
standards by the NHS Litigation Authority in September 
2012 and was successful in maintaining compliance at level 
two. The Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts undertook 
an assessment of Maternity Risk Management (CNST) 
standards in December 2012, the result of which was that 
maternity services maintained compliance at level one.

Recommendations made in reports received from the 
external auditors have been agreed and action plans 
developed.

I have been advised on the implications, of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the Board, Audit Committee, Performance and 
Standards, Quality and Risk, Performance and Standards, 
Trust Executive Committee and Finance and Investment 
Committee.

Plans are in place to address any weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system of Internal Control.

8 .  c o N c L u S I o N
There are no significant control issues which have been 
identified.

Signed on behalf of the Board on 28thMay 2013.
Chief Executive patricia wright 
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I N d E p E N d E N T  au d I T o r ’ S  r E p o r T  T o  T H E  c o u N c I L  o F  G o v E r N o r S  o F  Q u E E N 
E L I z a B E T H  H o S p I Ta L  K I N G S  Ly N N  N H S  F o u N daT I o N  T r u S T
We have audited the financial statements of Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust for 
the year ended 31 March 2013 on pages 97 to 141. These 
financial statements have been prepared under applicable 
law and the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2012/13. 

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust 
in accordance with Schedule 10 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the Council of Governors of the 
Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of 
Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report or for the opinions we have formed.

respective responsibilities of the accounting officer 
and the auditor
As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting 
Officer’s Responsibilities on page 97 the accounting officer 
is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practice’s Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the accounting officer 
and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
In addition we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the annual report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
l give a true and fair view of the state of Queen Elizabeth 

Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 
31 March 2013 and of its income and expenditure for the 

year then ended; and
l have been prepared in accordance with the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2012/13. 

Emphasis of matter – going concern
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which 
is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the 
disclosure made in Note 1 to the financial statements 
concerning the ability of the Trust to continue as a going 
concern. 
The Trust incurred a deficit of £0.9 million during the year 
ended 31 March 2013 and will need to achieve substantial 
cost savings in 2013/14.  These conditions, along with 
the other matters explained in Note 1 to the financial 
statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
which may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  The financial statements do 
not include the adjustments that would result if the Trust 
was unable to continue as a going concern.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for 
NHS Foundation Trusts
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception
We have nothing to report where under the Audit Code 
for NHS Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you 
if, in our opinion, the Annual Governance Statement does 
not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading or 
is not consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and other 
information of which we are aware from our audit of the 
financial statements 

We are not required to assess, nor have we assessed, 
whether all risks and controls have been addressed by the 
Annual Governance Statement or that risks are satisfactorily 
addressed by internal controls.

Qualified certificate
Under Section 62(1) of the National Health Service Act 
2006 and Monitor’s Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts, 
we have a duty to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.
In January 2012 Monitor notified the Trust that it was in 
significant breach of its terms of authorisation. This was due 
to concerns around the Trust’s under-performance against 
financial targets and governance arrangements. The actions 
taken by the Trust to mitigate the reasons for the breach are 
set out in the Chair and Chief Exec’s Statement on Page 7 
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along with a summary of progress made to date.

In April 2013 Monitor accepted from the Trust licence 
enforcement undertakings pursuant to its powers under 
s106 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

As a result of these matters, we are unable to conclude that 
the Trust made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the 
year ended 31 March 2013.

We certify that we have completed the audit of the 
accounts of Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of 
Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 
and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by 
Monitor.

Stephanie Beavis for and on behalf of  
KpMG LLp, Statutory auditor
Chartered Accountants, 6 Lower Brook Street, Ipswich, IP4 1AP 

Statement of comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 March 2013

  2012/13 2011/12
 notes £000 £000

Income from patient activities 2 153,620 152,382

Other operating income 2 13,761 12,635

Operating expenses 3 (165,913) (161,800)

opEraTING SurpLuS  1,468 3,217
   

FINaNcE coSTS   

Finance income 6 49 28

Finance expenses- financial liabilities 7 (218) (203)

Public dividends capital payable  (2,164) (1,992)

NET FINaNcE coSTS  (2,333) (2,167)

   

(dEFIcIT)/SurpLuS For THE yEar  (865) 1,050
   

oTHEr coMprEHENSIvE INcoME   

Revaluation gain      2,600 905

Other reserve movements        (24) -

   

ToTaL coMprEHENSIvE INcoME For THE yEar  1,711 1,955

The notes on pages 108-141 form part of these accounts.
All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
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STaTEMENT oF FINaNcIaL poSITIoN aS aT 31 MarcH 2013 

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012 
 notes £000 £000

Non- current assets   

Intangible assets 8 91 50

Property, plant and equipment 9 77,719 73,192

Trade and other receivables 12 569 865

Total non-current assets  78,379 74,107   

current assets   

Inventories 11 2,387 2,253

Trade and other receivables 12 5,158 4,240

Cash and cash equivalents 14 5,632 9,119

Total current assets  13,177 15,612   

current liabilities   

Trade and other payables 15 (11,747) (11,738)

Borrowings 16 (1,264) (1,424)

Provisions 19 (951) (231)

Other liabilities 18 (455) (140)

Total current Liabilities  (14,417) (13,533)

   

Total assets less current liabilities  77,139 76,186   

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings 16 (6,224) (6,912)

Provisions 19 (339) (404)

Other liabilities 18 (563) (568)

Total non-current liabilities  (7,126) (7,884)

   

Total assets employed  70,013 68,302
   

Financed by (taxpayers’ equity)   

Public dividend capital  44,812 44,812

Revaluation reserve 23 15,863 14,091

Income and expenditure reserve  9,338 9,399

Total taxpayers’ equity  70,013 68,302

The financial statements on pages 106 -109 were approved by the Board on 28th May 2013 and signed on its behalf by;

Chief Executive patricia wright  
28 May 2013
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STaTEMENT oF cHaNGES IN TaxpayErS’ EQuITy aS aT 31 MarcH 2013

  public  Income &
  dividend revaluation Expenditure
 Total capital reserve reserve
 £000 £000 £000 £000

restated Taxpayers’ Equity at
31 March 2012 68,302 44,812 14,091 9,399

Deficit for the Year (865) - - (865)

Revaluation 2,600 - 2,600 -

Other reserve movements (24) - (828) 804

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2013 70,013 44,812 15,863 9,338

STaTEMENT oF cHaNGES IN TaxpayErS’ EQuITy aS aT 31 MarcH 2012

  public  Income &
  dividend revaluation Expenditure
 Total capital reserve reserve
 £000 £000 £000 £000

restated Taxpayers’ Equity at
31 March 2012 66,347 44,812 13,779 7,756

Surplus for the Year 1050 - - 1050

Revaluation 905 - 905 -

Other reserve movements - - (593) 593

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2012 68,302 44,812 14,091 9,399
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STaTEMENT oF caSH FLowS For THE yEar ENdEd 31 MarcH 2013

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

cash flows from operating activities      

Operating surplus  1,468 3,217

Non-cash income and expenses  

Depreciation and amortisation  5,171 4,976

Donated asset income  (921) (95)

Impairments  36 -

   (Gain)/loss on disposal  31 -

   (Increase)/decrease in Trade and Other Receivables  (89) 4,237

   (Increase)/decrease in Inventories  (134) 126

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables  321 (4,012)

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions  640 95

Net cash generated from operations  6,523 8,540

cash flows from investing activities   

Interest received  49 28

Public dividend capital paid  (2,379) (1,929)

Net cash used in investing activities  (2,330) (1,901)

cash flows from financing activities   

Loans received  - 4,000

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment  (6,046) (7,782)

Loans repaid  (1,447) (736)

Interest paid  (187) (165)

Net cash used in financing activities  (7,680) (4,683)

Net Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (3,487) 1,956

cash and cash equivalents at start of the financial year 9,119 7,163

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 5,632  9,119
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Accounting Policies
International Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires 
management to assess, as part of the accounts preparation 
process, the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. 
The financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis unless management intends, or has no 
alternative but, to apply to the Secretary of State for the 
Trust's dissolution without the transfer of its services to 
another entity.

The  Trust’s Board of Directors (‘the Directors’) have 
carefully considered the principle of 'Going Concern' and 
have concluded that the combination of the circumstances 
outlined below represents a material uncertainty that 
casts significant doubt upon the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. This is also set out in the Annual 
Governance Statement on page 99. Nevertheless after 
making enquiries, and considering the uncertainties 
described in the following paragraphs, the Directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the Trust will have access to 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. For this reason, they have continued 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

The  current position is set out below:
l The Trust remains in breach of the terms of its licence 

as a result of concerns about its financial sustainability. 
The Trust’s performance and progress in improving 
its governance arrangements have been reviewed by 
Monitor at monthly meetings throughout the year.

l The Trust did not deliver its financial plan in 2012/13; 
a deficit of £865k was recorded for the year against 
a planned surplus of £1.6m. The Trust’s Financial Risk 
Rating for the year was a 2 against a planned 3.

l The planned shortfall of £2.5m was the result of lower 
than planned clinical income of £1.3m coupled with an 
under delivery, by £3.4m, of our challenging £10.2m 
efficiency savings programme. These were offset by other 
operational underspends totalling £2.2m.

l Savings of £6.8m (4.3%) were delivered during the 
year; however this fell short of the £10.2m target as a 
result of under-deliver of schemes within the workforce 
optimisation, productivity optimisation and the 
procurement efficiencies work streams.

l Problems with emergency patient flow and bed capacity 
during the year resulted in significant under delivery of 
planned care activity leading to shortfalls in associated 
income totalling £1.3m for the year.

l The Trust’s cash position reduced from an opening 
position of £9.1m to a closing position of £5.6m. This has 
resulted in a movement from a net current asset position 
of £2.1m at 31 March 2012 to a net current liability 
position of £1.2m at 31 March 2013

During 2012/13  the Trust continued to improve a number 
of areas of financial governance including:

l The implementation of a savings programme developed 
with the support of KPMG which identified potential 
opportunities to support medium term savings targets.

l More detailed modelling of activity / capacity plans at 
speciality level.

l Embedding the project management of the Trust’s 
savings schemes.

l	 Implemented a restructure of the divisions and 
departments across the Trust with increased clinical 
director roles.

However “cash out” efficiencies increasingly require 
transformational change which in some areas e.g. 
emergency Length of Stay reduction requires wider health 
partner engagement to secure efficiencies whilst continuing 
to deliver quality patient care. 

The Directors have considered the outlook for the 12 
months from the date of signing these accounts. The 
conclusions drawn are as a result of the formation of the 
2013/14 Annual Plan.

The Trust’s planning assumptions for 2013/14 include 
further proposed savings of £8.9m, which represents 5% 
of annual turnover.  Whilst this is a realistic and achievable 
savings target, it remains a considerable challenge for 
delivery.  For 2013/14 it is made more challenging due 
to the robust stance from the Trust’s commissioners, 
which seems likely to restrict income based productivity 
opportunities. The Trust has the ability to manage cash flow 
through deferral of capital projects but the extent to which 
this can be done is limited by practical investment need 
and could not cover a significant or prolonged shortfall in 
operating cash flows. 

The Trust has a fully embedded project management 
office to manage and monitor its savings schemes and is 
implementing plans to improve patient flow through the 
hospital that will lead to both financial efficiencies and 
improvements to patient experience. Delivery plans will 
undergo further external assurance to ensure the speed 
and scale of opportunity delivery is maximised through 
implementation of an internally driven turnaround regime. 

Looking further into the future, as less resource is available 
within the NHS healthcare economy, it is expected that 
additional savings in excess of £10m per annum will 
continue to be required for the foreseeable future.
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The Trust will therefore undertake a major review leading 
to a re-design of service provision within the local health 
system that both meets the needs of the local population 
and secures the future financial sustainability of the Trust.

The Trust’s estate requires modernisation and maintenance. 
To undertake the required capital work for 2013/14 loans 
amounting to £5.1m are required. Of this, £1m has been 
secured to replace the electrical infrastructure of the 
hospital. However, the remaining loans are subject to 
application and approval. Without this and other capital 
investment the hospital infrastructure will fall further 
into decline and restrict the ability to take advantage of 
opportunities to improve efficiency. 

After making enquiries and considering the uncertainties, 
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust 
will have access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, they have continued to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts.

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS 
Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements 
of the FT ARM which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. 
Consequently, the following financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the FT ARM 2012/13 issued 
by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that 
manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and HM Treasury’s FReM to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. 
The accounting policies have been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 

ac c o u N T I N G  c o N v E N T I o N 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

c r I T I c a L  ac c o u N T I N G  j u d G E M E N T S 
a N d  K E y  S o u r c E S  o F  E S T I M aT I o N 
u N c E r Ta I N T y
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Management have made the following critical judgments in 
applying the Trust’s accounting policies

The most significant estimate within the accounts is the 
value of land and building. The land and buildings have 
been valued by an external valuer on the basis of market 
value as at 1 April 2012. The valuer is independent to the 
Trust and is certified by the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors. The valuer has extensive knowledge of the 
physical estate and market factors. The value does not take 
into account potential future changes in market value which 
cannot be predicted with any certainty.

The Trust has a financial liability for any annual leave 
earned by staff but not taken as at 31 March 2013. Under 
Trust policy staff are allowed to carry over a maximum 
of 5 working days into the following financial year. The 
estimated costs of untaken annual leave as at 31 March 
2013 was £477,297 (year ended 31 March 2012 £488,348)

Assumptions around the timing of cash flows relating to 
provisions are based on information from the NHS Pensions 
Agency and internal opinion in the Trust

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
The preparation of the financial information in conformity 
with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and the reported amounts of income and expenses 
and of assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under all the circumstances. 
Actual results may vary from these estimates. The estimates 
and assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods. The estimates and judgements that have 
had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are outlined below.

Income estimates
In measuring income for the year, management have taken 
account of all available information. Income estimates that 
have been made have been based on actual information 
related to the financial year. Included in the income figure 
is an estimate for partial spells, i.e. patients undergoing 
treatment that is only partially complete at twelve midnight 
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on 31 March. The number of partial spells for each specialty 
is taken and multiplied by the average specialty price and 
adjusted for the proportion of the spell which belongs to 
the current year.

Expense accruals
In estimating expenses that have not yet been charged for, 
management have made a realistic assessment based on 
costs actually incurred in the year to date, with a view to 
ensuring that no material items have been omitted.

provisions
In accordance with the stated policy on provisions, 
management have used best estimates of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligations concerned, applying 
HM Treasury’s discount rate as stated, as appropriate. 
Management have also taken into account all available 
information for disputes and possible outcomes.

Income 
Income in respect of services provided is recognised 
when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. 
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with 
commissioners in respect of healthcare services. 

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to 
be delivered in the following financial year, that income is 
deferred. 

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised 
only when all material conditions of sale have been met, 
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 

Expenditure on other goods and services 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and 
to the extent that they have been received, and is measured 
at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is 
recognised in operating expenses except where it results in 
the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant 
and equipment. 

E x p E N d I T u r E  o N  E M p L oy E E  B E N E F I T S 
Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are 
recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement 
earned but not taken by 
employees at the end of the period is recognised in the 
financial statements to the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period. 

p E N S I o N  c o S T S 
NHS pension Scheme 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions 

of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, 
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible 
for the NHS Foundation Trust to identify its share of the 
underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. 
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to 
operating expenses as and when they become due. 

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements 
are not funded by the scheme except where the retirement 
is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the 
additional costs is charged to the operating expenses at the 
time the Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless 
of the method of payment. 

p r o p E r T y,  p L a N T  a N d  E Q u I p M E N T 
recognition 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 
l it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative 

purposes; 
l it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, 

or service potential be provided to, the Trust; 
l it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

and 
l the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
l The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or
l Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least 

£5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 
where the assets are functionally interdependent, they 
had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single 
managerial control; or

l Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up 
cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their 
individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a 
number of components with significantly different asset 
lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are 
treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own 
useful economic lives. 

M E a S u r E M E N T 
valuation 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured 
initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable 
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. 

All assets are measured subsequently at fair value. 

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for 
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administrative purposes are stated in the statement of 
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the 
fair value at the date of valuation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Revaluations are performed every 5 years and reviewed 
with sufficient regularity inbetween to ensure carrying 
amounts are not materially different from those that would 
be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair 
values are determined as follows:

l Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for 
existing use

l Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost

The Trust’s land and building assets were revalued as at 1 
April 2012, resulting in a total upward valuation of £2.6m, 
an impairment of £36,000 was recognised in the year.

Properties in the course of construction for service 
administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but 
not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses 
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 
value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences 
when they are brought into use.

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that 
additional future economic benefits or service potential 
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component 
of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of 
the item can be determined reliably. Where a component 
of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is 
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. 
Other expenditure that does not generate additional future 
economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and 
maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period in which it is incurred. 

depreciation 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
over their remaining useful economic lives in a manner 
consistent with the consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an 
infinite life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified 
as ‘Held for Sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the 
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction 
contract are not depreciated until the asset is brought into 
use.

revaluation gains and losses 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, 
except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a 
revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised 
in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in 
operating income. 

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve 
to the extent that there is an available balance for the 
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating 
expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an 
item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

Impairments 
In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due 
to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the 
asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating 
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income 
and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower 
of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and 
(ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to 
that asset before the impairment.
 
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or 
service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, 
the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. 
Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent 
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would 
have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any 
remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. 
Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer 
was made from the revaluation reserve to the income 
and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to 
the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is 
recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. 
Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as revaluation 
gains. 

donated, government grant and other grant funded 
assets 
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment 
assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The 
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, 
unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be 
consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which 
case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is 
carried forward to future financial years to the extent that 
the condition has not yet been met. 
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The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently 
accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment. 

I N Ta N G I B L E  a S S E T S 
recognition 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical 
substance which are capable of being sold separately 
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only 
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where 
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where 
the cost is at least £5,000.

Software 
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware 
e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software 
which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising 
all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and 
prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management. 

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. 
Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated 
in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment. 
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected 
useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 

revenue government and other grants 
Government grants are grants from Government bodies 
other than income from primary care Trusts or NHS Trusts 
for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to 
fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using 
the weighted average cost method. 

F I N a N c I a L  I N S T r u M E N T S  a N d  F I N a N c I a L 
L I a B I L I T I E S 
recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from 

contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items 
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in 
accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage 
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent 
which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of 
the goods or services is made. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of 
assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases 
are recognised and measured in accordance with the 
accounting policy for leases described above/below.

de-recognition 
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the Trust 
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

classification and measurement 
Financial assets are categorised as either available for sale, 
at fair value through income and expenditure, loans and 
receivables or held to maturity.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value 
through income and expenditure’ 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value through 
income and expenditure’ are financial assets or financial 
liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial 
liability is classified in this category if acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also 
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated 
as hedges. 

Assets and liabilities in this category are classified as current 
assets and current liabilities. 

These financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value, with transaction costs expensed in the 
income and expenditure account. Subsequent movements 
in the fair value are recognised as gains or losses in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments with are not quoted in 
an active market. They are included in current assets. 
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash and cash 
equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income and ‘other 
debtors’. 

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently 
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at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 
the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the 
effective interest method and credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

other financial liabilities 
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount of the financial liability. 

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts 
payable more than 12 months after the Statement of 
Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term 
liabilities. 

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is 
calculated using the effective interest method and charged 
to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to 
finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets 
is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. 

determination of fair value 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, except for loans from Department of Health, 
which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using 
the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets 
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust 
assesses whether any financial assets, other than those 
held at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ are 
impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment 
losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and 
which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 

original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced directly.

L E a S E S 
Finance leases 
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of 
a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation Trust, the 
asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and 
a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which 
both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the 
asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement 
of the lease. Thereafter the asset is accounted for an item 
of property plant and equipment. 

The annual rental is split between the repayment of the 
liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a constant rate 
of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance 
cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised 
when the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

operating leases 
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the 
rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to 
operating expenses over the life of the lease. 

Leases of land and buildings 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land 
component is separated from the building component and 
the classification for each is assessed separately. 

p r o v I S I o N S 
The NHS Foundation Trust recognises a provision where it 
has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain 
timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will 
be a future outflow of cash or other resources; and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation. 
Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, 
the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using 
the discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury. 

c L I N I c a L  N E G L I G E N c E  c o S T S 
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk 
pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust 
pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, 
settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is 
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, 
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the legal liability remains with the NHS Foundation Trust. 
The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried 
by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS Foundation Trust is 
disclosed in note 19.1 but it is not recognised in the Trust’s 
accounts.

N o N - c L I N I c a L  r I S K  p o o L I N G 
The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property 
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the 
Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation 
Authority and in return receives assistance with the costs of 
claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and 
any ‘excesses’ payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses when the liability arises. 

p u B L I c  d I v I d E N d  c a p I Ta L 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector 
equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities 
at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. 
HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial 
instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS 
Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital 
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM 
Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets 
of the NHS Foundation Trust during the financial year. 
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets 
less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets 
(including lottery funded assets), (ii) net cash balances held 
with the Government Banking Services (GBS), excluding 
cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-
term working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC dividend 
balance receivable or payable. In accordance with the 
requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as 
the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated 
on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the 
‘pre-audit’ version of the annual accounts. The dividend 
thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net 
assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 

va L u E  a d d E d  Ta x 

Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are 
outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure 
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

c o r p o r aT I o N  Ta x 
The Trust is a Health Service Body within the meaning of 
s519A ICTA 1988 and accordingly in relation to specified 
activities of a Foundation Trust (s519 (3) to (8) ICTA 1988). 
None of the Trust’s activities in the period are subject to 
corporation tax liability.

T H I r d  pa r T y  a S S E T S 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held 
on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts 
since the NHS Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest 
in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to 
the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM 
Treasury’s FReM. 

L o S S E S  a N d  S p E c I a L  pay M E N T S 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament 
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they 
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures compared with the 
generality of payments. They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the 
relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals 
basis, including losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing 
their own risks (with insurance premiums then being 
included as normal revenue expenditure). 

However the losses and special payments note is compiled 
directly from the losses and compensations register which 
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions 
for future losses. 
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IFRS 9  Financial instruments  Effective date - uncertain 

 Financial assets November 2009  

 Financial liabilities October 2010

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 12  Income taxes amendment December 2010 Effective date of 2012/13 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 1  Presentation of financial statements  

 on other comprehensive income June 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 27  Separate financial statements May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 28  Associates and joint ventures May 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 19  (Revised 2011) employee benefits June 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 32  Financial instruments 

 Presentation – amendment 

 Offsetting financial assets  

 and liabilities December 2011 Effective date of 2014/15 but not yet adopted by the EU

IFRS 7  Financial instruments December 2011 Effective date of 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU 

 Disclosures - amendment 

 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 

ac c o u N T I N G  S Ta N da r d S  T H aT  H av E  B E E N  I S S u E d  B u T  H av E  N o T  y E T  B E E N  a d o p T E d



118

2 012 / 13  A n n uA l  R e p o R t  A n d Ac c o u n t s  l  o p e R At i n g f i n A n c i A l  R e v i e w

2. Operating Income
N o T E  2 .1  o p E r aT I N G  I N c o M E  ( B y  c L a S S I F I c aT I o N )

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Income from activities  

acute Trusts  

Elective income  31,714 33,102

Non elective income  49,583 51,631

Outpatient income  32,620 31,739

A & E income  5,529 5,240

Other NHS clinical income  32,653 29,069

Private patient income  946 910

Other non-protected clinical income  575 691

Total income from activities  153,620 152,382

other operating income  

Education and training  5,939 5,078

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure  1,641 320

Non-patient care services to other bodies  642 791

Lease   5 5

Other  5,534 6,446

Total other operating income  13,761 12,635

  

ToTaL opEraTING INcoME  167,381 165,017

Of the above operating income £167,381, £153,901 is mandatory, £13,480 is non-mandatory.
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N o T E  2 . 2  p r I vaT E  paT I E N T  I N c o M E
The statutory limitation on private patient income in section 44 of the 2006 Act was repealed with effect from 1 October 
2012 by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. The financial disclosures that were previously provided are no longer 
required.

N o T E  2 . 3  o p E r aT I N G  L E a S E  I N c o M E

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

operating lease income  

Rents recognised as income in the period  5 5

ToTaL  5 5

  

Future minimum lease payments due:  

– not later than one year  5 5

– later than one year but not later than five years  25 25

– later than five years  533 538

ToTaL  563 568

N o T E  2 . 4  o p E r aT I N G  S E G M E N T S

Segment
Surgical Theatre Women & 

children
Ambulatory Diagnostic Emergency Medical Oncology

Patient 
flow

Corporate Total

Clinical income 31,235 - 22,441 16,992 8,735 10,649 37,250 12,066 691 12,896 152,955

Non-clinical 
income

99 340 612 82 1,550 249 173 418 - 10,903 14,426

Pay (10,887) (12,698) (12,953) (4,654) (16,302) (10,807) (13,897) (5,642) (899) (23,645) (112,384)

NON PAy (1,470) (6,169) (1,219) (1,117) (6,868) (1,931) (2,157) (813) (648) (31,137) (53,529)

Operating 
Surplus/
(Deficit)

18,977 (18,527) 8,881 11,303 (12,885) (1,840) 21,369 6,029 (856) (30,983) 1,468

2011/12 comparatives are not available due to a change in the divisional structure in 2012/13



120

2 012 / 13  A n n uA l  R e p o R t  A n d Ac c o u n t s  l  o p e R At i n g f i n A n c i A l  R e v i e w

N o T E  2 . 5  o p E r aT I N G  I N c o M E  ( B y  T y p E )

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Income from patient activities   

NHS Foundation Trust  107 31 

Primary Care Trusts  151,992 150,750 

Non NHS private patients  946 910 

Non NHS overseas patients (non reciprocal)  42 11 

NHS injury scheme (was RTA)  444 583 

Non NHS other  89 97 

Total income from patient activities  153,620 152,382

   

Education and training  5,939 5,078 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure  1,641 320 

Non patient care services to other bodies  642 791 

Other *  5,534 6,446 

Total other operating income  13,761 12,635

   

*analysis of other operating Income:     

Car parking  989 830 

Staff recharges  1,767 2,279 

Pharmacy sales  557 92 

Staff accommodation rentals  8 21 

Clinical tests  24 23 

Catering  315 404 

Property rentals  64 54 

Other  1,810 2,743 

 

ToTaL  5,534 6,446



121

o
p

e
r

a
t

in
g

 
 

f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 r

e
v

ie
w

N o T E  3 .1  o p E r aT I N G  E x p E N S E S  ( B y  T y p E )

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts  188 194

Services from NHS Trusts  2,825 2,799

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies  354 464

Employees expenses – non-executive directors  79 72

Employee expenses – staff  110,150 110,356

Employees expenses – executive directors  968 1,111

Drug costs  13,246 12,415

Supplies and services clinical (excluding drugs)  14,054 14,397

Supplies and services – general  2,539 2,548

Establishment  1,684 1,928

Transport  771 591

Premises  5,476 4,867

Increase/(decrease) in bad debt provision  26 (13)

Increase in other provisions  800 –

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  5,138 4,954

Amortisation on intangible assets  33 22

Impairments to property, plant and equipment  36 –

Audit fees – statutory audit  48 48

Non-audit fees – KPMG project support  1,188 391

Clinical negligence  3,501 3,358

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  31 –

Consultancy  – 45

Training, courses and conferences  426 508

Patient travel  54 52

Car parking and security  190 69

Redundancy  7 39

Hospitality  46 54

Insurance  133 103

Other services e.g. external payroll  119 107

Losses, ex gratia and special payments  1 2

Other*  1,802 319

ToTaL  165,913 161,800

* Within the 2011/12 column, under the other expenditure line, an amount of £1.1m is included that relates to the reversal 
of a bad debt provision, without this transaction other expenditure in 2011/12 would be £1.427m. 

3. Operating Expenses



122

2 012 / 13  A n n uA l  R e p o R t  A n d Ac c o u n t s  l  o p e R At i n g f i n A n c i A l  R e v i e w

N o T E  3 . 2  E M p L oy E E  E x p E N S E S
 2012/13 2012/13 2011/13 2012/12
 Total permanent other Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 91,160 88,28 92,871 91,358

Social security 7,642 7,404 238 7,152

Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 10,193 9,876 317 10,329

Agency/contract staff 2,202 – 2,202 2,698

ToTaL 111,197 105,569 5,628 111,537

N o T E  3 . 3  E M p L oy E E  N u M B E r S
 2012/13 2012/13 2011/13 2012/12
 Total permanent other Total
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Medical and dental 341 341 - 339

Administration and estates 463 452 11 467

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 350 298 52 370

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 804 777 27 825

Scientific, therapeutic and technical 348 342 6 365

Other 353 328 25 355

ToTaL 2,659 2,538 121 2,721

N o T E  3 . 4  E M p L oy E E  B E N E F I T S  I N  K I N d

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

ToTaL  6 6

N o T E  3 . 5  E a r Ly  r E T I r E M E N T S  d u E  T o  I L L  H E a LT H
During the year there were 8 (2011/12 6) early retirements from the NHS Trust agreed on the grounds of ill health. The 
estimated additional pension liability as a result of this is £586,255 (2011/12 £353,386). The cost of these ill health 
retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority – Pension Division.

N o T E  3 . 6  S Ta F F  E x I T  pac K aG E S
The exit packages within this disclosure were made under local arrangements.

Exit package cost band Number compulsory redundancies Other Total number of exit packages

Less £10,000 2 - 2

£10,001 - £25,000 - - -

£25,001 - £50,000 - - -

TOTAL NumBEr Of ExIT PACkAgES By TyPE 2 - 2

Total resource cost actual 7,314 - 7,314
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4. Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of 
the NHS Pensions Scheme.  Details of the benefits payable 
under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an 
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, 
GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction 
of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme 
is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets 
and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if 
it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS 
Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised 
in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by 
a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of 
these follows:

a) accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by 
the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. 
Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years 
between formal valuations using updated membership data 
and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for 
financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme 
liability as at 31 March 2013, is based on the valuation data 
as 31 March 2012, updated to 31 March 2013 with summary 
global member and accounting data. In undertaking this 
actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate 
prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is 
contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of 
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension 
Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed 
on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained 
from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability 
in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking 
into account its recent demographic experience), and to 
recommend the contribution rates. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the 
NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation 
would have been due for the year ending 31 March 2008. 
However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public 
service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value for 
money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes 
to public service pensions, and while future scheme terms are 

developed as part of the reforms to public service pension 
provision due in 2015. 

The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution 
rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the 
consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of 
the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer 
representatives as deemed appropriate. 

The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will 
be carried out at as at March 2012 and will be used to inform 
the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015.

c) Scheme provisions 
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which 
are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, 
and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the 
Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before 
these benefits can be obtained:

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are 
normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the 
best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of 
service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay 
per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as 
defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions 
based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant 
pensionable service.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up 
some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump 
sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. 
This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates 
defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based 
on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 
September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail 
Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to 
members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of 
fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity.  A 
death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death 
in service, and five times their annual pension for death after 
retirement is payable

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the 
additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. 
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme 
and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s 
approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional 
Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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N o T E  5 .1  o p E r aT I N G  L E a S E S

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Minimum lease payments  530 342

ToTaL  530 342

N o T E  5 . 2  a r r a N G E M E N T  c o N Ta I N I N G  a N  o p E r aT I N G  L E a S E

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Future minimum lease payments due:  
Not later than 1 year  487 128

Later than one year not later than five years  1,628 98

Later than 5 years  3 –

ToTaL  2,118 226

N o T E  5 . 3  L I M I TaT I o N  o N  au d I T o r ’ S  L I a B I L I T y

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Limitation on auditor’s liability  1,000 1,000

N o T E  5 . 4  T H E  L aT E  pay M E N T  o F  c o M M E r c I a L  d E B T S  ( I N T E r E S T )  ac T  19 9 8

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims  
made under this legislation  – –

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation  – –
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N o T E  6 .  F I N a N c E  I N c o M E

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Other gains  49 28

ToTaL  49 28

N o T E  7.  F I N a N c E  E x p E N S E  –  I N T E r E S T

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Loans from Department of Health  (179) (171)

Finance lease  (29) (19)

Unwinding of discount factor  (10) (13)

ToTaL  (218) (203)

The Trust holds 3 loans with the Department Of Health. The first one was a 7 year term and expires during 2014/15, the 
second one is a 10 year term and expires during 2020/21 and the third one is a 10 year term and expires during 2021/22. 
The interest is fixed at the date the loan documents are signed and vary between 5% and 6%.

N o T E  8 .  I N Ta N G I B L E  a S S E T S

  Software
 Total licences purchased 
 £000 £000

valuation/Gross cost as at 1 april 2012 196 196
Adjustments – other (5) (5)
Reclassification 79 79
Gross cost as at 31 March 2013 270 270

amortisation as at 1 april 2012 146 146
Provided during the year 33 33
amortisation as at 31 March 2013 179  179

Net book value 31 March 2013 91 91
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Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings  
excluding dwellings

£000

Assets under construction and 
payments on account

£000

valuation/Gross cost at 1 april 2012 99,608 4,415 54,313 7,613

Additions – purchased 6,517 - 828 4,147

Additions – donated 663 - 160 342

reclassifications (79) - 4,972 (6,520)

revaluation - - - -

Disposals (859) - - -

valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2013 105,850 4,415 60,273 5,582

depreciation at 1 april 2012 26,416 - 2,908 -

Provided during the year 5,138 - 2,503 -

Impairment 36 - 36 -

Disposals (859) - - -

revaluation (2,600) - (2,600) -

accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 28,131 - 2,847 -

Net book value –at  31 March 2013 £000 £000 £000 £000

owned 72,414 4,415 53,466 5,582

Finance lease 540 - -

donated 4,765 - 3,960 -

NBv – at 31 March 2013 77,719 4,415 57,426 5,582

N o T E  9 .1  p r o p E r T y,  p L a N T  a N d  E Q u I p M E N T  –  2 0 12 /13

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings  
excluding dwellings

£000

Assets under construction and 
payments on account

£000

valuation/Gross cost at 1 april 2011 91,132 4,415 48,331 7,092

Additions – purchased 7,813 - 573 5,750

Additions – donated 86 - - -

reclassifications (6) - 4,504 (5,229)

revaluation 905 - 905 -

Disposals (322) - - -

valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2012 99,608 4,415 54,313 7,613

depreciation at 1 april 2011 21,780 - 408 -

Provided during the year 4,954 - 2,500 -

Disposals (318) - - -

accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 26,416 - 2,908 -

4,415 47,506 7,613

Net book value –at  31 March 2012 £000 £000 £000 £000

owned 68,390 4,415 47,506 7,613

Finance lease 97 - - -

donated 4,705 - 3,899 -

NBv – at 31 March 2012 73,192 4,415 51,405 7,613

N o T E  9 . 2  p r o p E r T y,  p L a N T  a N d  E Q u I p M E N T  –  2 0 11 /12
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Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings  
excluding dwellings

£000

Assets under construction and 
payments on account

£000

valuation/Gross cost at 1 april 2012 99,608 4,415 54,313 7,613

Additions – purchased 6,517 - 828 4,147

Additions – donated 663 - 160 342

reclassifications (79) - 4,972 (6,520)

revaluation - - - -

Disposals (859) - - -

valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2013 105,850 4,415 60,273 5,582

depreciation at 1 april 2012 26,416 - 2,908 -

Provided during the year 5,138 - 2,503 -

Impairment 36 - 36 -

Disposals (859) - - -

revaluation (2,600) - (2,600) -

accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013 28,131 - 2,847 -

Net book value –at  31 March 2013 £000 £000 £000 £000

owned 72,414 4,415 53,466 5,582

Finance lease 540 - -

donated 4,765 - 3,960 -

NBv – at 31 March 2013 77,719 4,415 57,426 5,582

Plant and 
machinery £000

Transport 
equipment

£000

Information 
technology

£000

Furniture  
and fittings 

£000

23,140 499 9,121 507 valuation/Gross cost at 1 april 2012

1,360 18 163 1 Additions – purchased

161 - - - Additions – donated

187 - 1,269 13 reclassifications

- - - - revaluation

(577) - (282) - Disposals

24,271 517 10,271 521 valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2013

15,058 443 7,659 348 depreciation at 1 april 2012

1,713 16 858 48 Provided during the year

- - - - Impairment

(577) - (282) - Disposals

- - - - revaluation

16,194 459 8,235 396 accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2013

£000 £000 £000 £000 Net book value –at  31 March 2013

6,735 58 2,036 122 owned

540 - - - Finance lease

802 - - 3 donated

8,077 58 2,036 125 NBv – at 31 March 2013 

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings  
excluding dwellings

£000

Assets under construction and 
payments on account

£000

valuation/Gross cost at 1 april 2011 91,132 4,415 48,331 7,092

Additions – purchased 7,813 - 573 5,750

Additions – donated 86 - - -

reclassifications (6) - 4,504 (5,229)

revaluation 905 - 905 -

Disposals (322) - - -

valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2012 99,608 4,415 54,313 7,613

depreciation at 1 april 2011 21,780 - 408 -

Provided during the year 4,954 - 2,500 -

Disposals (318) - - -

accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 26,416 - 2,908 -

4,415 47,506 7,613

Net book value –at  31 March 2012 £000 £000 £000 £000

owned 68,390 4,415 47,506 7,613

Finance lease 97 - - -

donated 4,705 - 3,899 -

NBv – at 31 March 2012 73,192 4,415 51,405 7,613

Plant and 
machinery £000

Transport 
equipment

£000

Information 
technology

£000

Furniture  
and fittings 

£000

21,387 660 8,771 476 valuation/Gross cost at 1 april 2011

1,432 10 38 10 Additions – purchased

86 - - - Additions – donated

386 - 312 21 reclassifications

- - - - revaluation

(151) (171) - - Disposals

23,140 499 9,121 507 valuation/Gross cost at 31 March 2012

13,542 595 6,936 299 depreciation at 1 april 2011

1,663 19 723 49 Provided during the year

(147) (171) - - Disposals

15,058 443 7,659 348 accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000 Net book value –at  31 March 2012

7,181 56 1,462 157 owned

97 - - - Finance lease

804 - - 2 donated

8,082 56 1,462 159 NBv – at 31 March 2012 
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N o T E  9 . 3  E c o N o M I c  L I F E  o F  p u r c H a S E d  I N Ta N G I B L E  a S S E T S

  Min. life years Max. life years
  £000 £000

Software  5 5

N o T E  9 . 4  E c o N o M I c  L I F E  o F  p r o p E r T y,  p L a N T  a N d  E Q u I p M E N T 

  Min. life years Max. life years
  £000 £000

Buildings excluding dwellings  15 80
Dwellings  15 80
Plant and machinery  5 15
Transport equipment  7 7
Information technology  5 8
Furniture and fittings  5 15

N o T E  1 0 .  a N a Ly S I S  o F  p r o p E r T y,  p L a N T  a N d  E Q u I p M E N T  31  M a r c H  2 0 13   

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings  
excluding 
dwellings

£000

Assets 
under 

construction 
and POA

£000

Plant and 
machinery 

£000

Transport 
equipment 

£000

Infomation 
Technology

Furniture 
+ Fittings

Net book value

Protected assets 61,841 4,415 57,426 - - - - -

Unprotected assets 15,878 - - 5,582 8,077 58 2,036 125

ToTaL 77,719 4,415 57,426 5,582 8,077 58 2,036 125

N o T E  11 .1  I N v E N T o r I E S

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Inventories  2,387 2,253

ToTaL  2,387 2,253
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Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings  
excluding 
dwellings

£000

Assets 
under 

construction 
and POA

£000

Plant and 
machinery 

£000

Transport 
equipment 

£000

Infomation 
Technology

Furniture 
+ Fittings

Net book value

Protected assets 61,841 4,415 57,426 - - - - -

Unprotected assets 15,878 - - 5,582 8,077 58 2,036 125

ToTaL 77,719 4,415 57,426 5,582 8,077 58 2,036 125

N o T E  12 .  T r a d E  r E c E I va B L E S  a N d  o T H E r  r E c E I va B L E S  

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012 
  £000 £000

current  

NHS receivables  2,236 2,445

Other receivables with related parties  - 123

Provision for the impairment of receivables  (188) (162)

Prepayments  1,152 724

Accrued Income  - 28

Other receivables  1,958 1,082

ToTaL currENT TradE aNd oTHEr rEcEIvaBLES  5,158 4,240

  

Non-current  

NHS receivables  - 275

Other receivables  569 590

ToTaL NoN-currENT TradE aNd oTHEr rEcEIvaBLES  569 865

N o T E  13 .1 .  p r o v I S I o N  F o r  I M pa I r M E N T  o F  r E c E I va B L E S 
    
  2012/13  
  £000

at 1 april 2012  162
RTA/General provision increase  26

at 31 March 2013  188

N o T E  13 . 2 .  r E c E I va B L E S  pa S T  T H E I r  d u E  daT E  B u T  N o T  I M pa I r E d 

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

By up to three months  250 2,275
By three to six months  602 (12)

By more than six months  189 305

ToTaL  1,041 2,568

The Trust holds no collateral against these debts.

Overdue debts are monitored monthly and passed on to a debt collection agency when necessary, the Trust has a debt col-

lection policy that is adhered too.
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N o T E  14 .  c a S H  a N d  c a S H  E Q u I va L E N T S

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012 
  £000 £000

at 1 april   9,119 7,163
Net change in year  (3,487) 1,956
at 31 March   5,632 9,119
Broken down into :     cash at commercial banks and in hand  99 72
                                  cash with the Government Banking Service  5,533 9,047
 

cash and cash equivalents as in SoFp  5,632 9,119

cash and cash equivalents as in SocF  5,632 9,119

N o T E  15 .  T r a d E  a N d  o T H E r  paya B L E S

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

current  
NHS payables  1,284 770
Trade payables - capital  1,191 943

Other trade payables  3,022 3,607
Other payables  2,616 2,415
Tax payable  1,208 1,272
Accruals  2,426 2,674
PDC payables  - 57

ToTaL currENT TradE aNd oTHEr payaBLES  11,747 11,738

An amount of £1,321,981 (2011/12 £1,285,000) relating to outstanding pension contributions is included within other 
payables; this will be paid in April 2013.

N o T E  16 .  B o r r o w I N G S

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

current  
Loans  1,156 1,156
Obligations under finance leases  108 268

ToTaL currENT BorrowINGS  1,264 1,424
  

Non-current  
Loans  5,755 6,912
Obligations under finance leases  469 -

ToTaL NoN currENT BorrowINGS  6,224 6,912
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N o T E  17.  p r u d E N T I a L  B o r r o w I N G  L I M I T

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

current  
Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor  29,300 26,000
Working capital facility agreed by Monitor  15,000 15,000

ToTaL prudENTIaL BorrowING LIMIT  44,300 41,000
  
Long term borrowing at 1 April   8,336 5,134
Net actual (repayment)/borrowing in year – long term  (848) 3,202

Long term borrowing 31 March  7,488 8,336

Working capital borrowing as 31 March.
Information on the NHS Foundation Trusts Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on the 

website of Monitor, the independent regulator of Foundation Trusts.

Financial Ratios actual actual approved
 2012/13 2011/12 pBL

Minimum dividend cover 3 times 2.5 times >1 times

Minimum interest cover 31.9 times 26.2 times > 3 times

Minimum debt service cover 4.6 times 6.8 times > 2 times

Minimum debt service to revenue 0.6% 0.4% < 2.5%

N o T E  18 .  o T H E r  L I a B I L I T I E S

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012 
  £000 £000

current  

Deferred income  455 140

ToTaL oTHEr currENT LIaBILITIES  455 140

  

Non-current  

Deferred income  563 568

ToTaL oTHEr NoN currENT LIaBILITIES  563 568
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N o T E  19 .1 .  p r o v I S I o N S  F o r  L I a B I L I T I E S  a N d  c H a r G E S  

 current   Non-current
 31 March 2013 31 March 2012 31 March 2013 31 March 2012
 £000 £000 £000 £000

Restructure - Estimate 800 - - -
Pensions relating to other staff 15 134 141 404
Legal 136 96 198 -

ToTaL 951 231 339 404

Provisions include amounts for early retirements, clinical negligence and restructuring.
The amount included within the accounts of NHSLA as at 31 March 2013 in respect of the Trust is £23.128 million (31 

March 2012 £20.255 million), this provision is for clinical negligence liability.

N o T E  19 . 2 .  p r o v I S I o N S  F o r  L I a B I L I T I E S  a N d  c H a r G E S  a N a Ly S I S  

    
 Total pensions other staff other
 £000 £000 £000

as 1 april 2012 635 539 96
Arising during the year 880 - 880
Utilised (67) (25) (42)
Reverse unused (168) (160) (8)
Unwinding of discount  10 10 -
at 31 March 2013 1,290 364 926
   
Expected timing of cashflows   

-not later than one year 951 25 926
-later than one year but not later than five years 100 100 -
-later than five years 239 239 -

ToTaL 1,290 364 926

Other provisions relate to employers and public liability claims and the restructure provision.
Assumptions around the timing of cashflows relating to provisions are based on information from the NHS Pensions 

Agency and internal opinion of the Trust with regards to when the cost will be incurred

N o T E  2 0 .  c o N T I N G E N T  ( L I a B I L I T I E S ) / a S S E T S

The Trust has no contingent liabilities or assets.

N o T E  21 .  E v E N T S  a F T E r  T H E  r E p o r T I N G  p E r I o d

The Trust does not have any material events after the reporting period.

N o T E  2 2 .  p r I vaT E  F I N a N c E  I N I T I aT I v E  T r a N S ac T I o N S

The Trust does not have any PFI transactions off balance sheet.
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N o T E  2 3 .  r E va L uaT I o N  r E S E r v E

 Total revaluation reserve
 £000

1 April 2012 14,091
Revaluation 2,600
Transfer to I&E reserve (828)

31 March 2013 15,863

N o T E  2 4 .1  r E L aT E d  pa r T y  T r a N S ac T I o N S

 Income Expenditure
 £000 £000

Department of Health - 5
Other NHS bodies 162,021 9,923
Charitable fund 720 720
ToTaL  162,741 10,648

List of related parties
NHS Norfolk
NHS Cambridgeshire
NHS Lincolnshire
East of England Strategic Health Authority
Department of Health
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency
Norfolk and Waverney Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust

Cambridgeshire Community NHS Trust
Lincolnshire Teaching PCT
King’s Lynn West Norfolk Borough Council
Cambridgeshire University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
South East Essex PCT
NHS Business Services Authority
NHS Pension Scheme
HMRC
East of England Ambulance Service

N o T E  2 4 . 2  r E L aT E d  pa r T y  T r a N S ac T I o N S

 receivables payables
 £000 £000

Department of Health 158 -
Other NHS bodies 2,078 1,284
Charitable fund - -
ToTaL  2,236 1,284

The Trust has also received revenue from and incurred expenditure with the Sandringham Private Hospital., the total 
income in the period amounted to £986,338, and expenditure was £2,890.The Trust’s Medical Director also provides some 
consultancy services to the Sandringham Private Hospital.
The Trust also received revenue and capital payment amounting to £720,127 from The Queen Elizabeth Hospital King’s 
Lynn NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund, the Trustees for which are also members of the Trust Board. A copy of The 
Queen Elizabeth King’s Lynn NHS Trust Charitable Fund Accounts can be obtained on request (01553 613981).
The Trust conducted transactions with other Health Authorities and NHS bodies, which individually are not regarded as 
material, during the normal course of the Trust’s activities.
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N o T E  2 5 .  T H I r d  pa r T y  a S S E T S

The Trust held £73.74 of patients’ monies as at 31 March 2013 (31 March 2012: £354.72)

N o T E  2 6 . c o N T r ac T ua L  c a p I Ta L  c o M M I T M E N T S

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012
  £000 £000

Property, Plant and Equipment  819 1,601

ToTaL  819 1,601

N o T E  2 7.  F I N a N c E  L E a S E  o B L I G aT I o N S

  31 March 2013 31 March 2012
  £000 £000

Lease liabilities of which liabilities are due  

-not later than one year  108 268

-later than one year and not later than five years  432 -

Finance charges allocated to future periods  145 -

ToTaL  685 268

N o T E  2 8 .1 .  F I N a N c I a L  a S S E T S  B y  c aT E G o r y

   Loans and   
  Total receivables
  £000 £000

assets as per SoFp  

Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2013) 3,824 3,824

Cash and cash equivalents ( at bank and in hand at 31 March 2013)      5,632 5,632

Total at 31 March 2013  9,456 9,456

assets as per SoFp  

Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2012) 3,884 3,884

Cash and cash equivalents ( at bank and in hand at 31 March 2012)      9,119 9,119

Total at 31 March 2012  13,003 13,003
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N o T E  2 8 . 2 .  F I N a N c I a L  L I a B I L I T I E S  B y  c aT E G o r y

   Loans and   
  Total receivables
  £000 £000

assets as per SoFp  

Borrowings excluding finance leases and PFI (31 March 2013)  (6,911) (6,911)

Obligations under finance leases (31 March 2013)  (604) (604)

Trade and other payables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2013)  (5,497) (5,497)

Other financial liabilities (31 March 2013)  

Total at 31 March 2013  (13,012) (13,012)

   Loans and   
  Total receivables
  £000 £000

assets as per SoFp  

Borrowings excluding finance leases and PFI (31 March 2012)  (8,068) (8,068)

Obligations under finance leases (31 March 2012)  (268) (268)

Trade and other payables excluding non-financial assets (31 March 2012)  (5,320) (5,320)

Other financial liabilities (31 March 2012)  

Total at 31 March 2012  (13,656) (13,656)

N o T E  2 8 . 3 .  Fa I r  va L u E S  o F  F I N a N c I a L  a S S E T S  a N d  L I a B I L I T I E S  aT  31  M a r c H  2 0 13  

  Book value Fair value
  £000 £000

Non-current trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets  9,456 9,456

ToTaL  9,456 9,456

  

Non-current trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities  

Provisions under contract  (604) (604) 

Loans   (6,911) (6,911) 

Other   (5,497) (5,497)  

ToTaL  (13,012) (13,012)
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N o T E  2 9 .1 .  F I N a N c I a L  r I S K  M a N aG E M E N T

International Financial Reporting Standard 7 and 

International Accounting Standard 32 requires disclosure 

of the role that financial instruments have had during 

the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces 

in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing 

service provider relationship that the NHS Foundation 

Trust has with Clinical Commissioning Groups and the 

way those Clinical Commissioning Groups are financed, 

the NHS Foundation Trust is not exposed to the degree 

of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial 

instruments play a much more limited role in creating or 

changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, 

to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. 

The NHS Foundation Trust has limited powers to borrow or 

invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 

generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than 

being held to change the risks facing the NHS Foundation 

Trust in undertaking its activities.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried 

out by the finance department, within parameters defined 

formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions 

and policies agreed by the board of directors. Trust treasury 

activity is subject to review by the Trusts internal auditors.

currency risk

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the 

great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being 

in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas 

operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to 

currency rate fluctuations.

Interest rate risk

Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from 

contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low 

exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 

March 2013 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed 

in the trade and other receivables note.

Liquidity risk

The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts 

with primary care Trusts, which are financed from resources 

voted annually by Parliament . The Trust funds its capital 

expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential 

borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to 

significant liquidity risks.



137

o
p

e
r

a
t

in
g

 
 

f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 r

e
v

ie
w

N o T E  2 9 . 2  L o S S E S  a N d  S p E c I a L  pay M E N T S  ( a p p r o v E d  c a S E S  o N Ly )

  2012/13 2012/13   
  Total number Total value
  of cases of cases £000

Losses  

Fruitless payments  13  6

Bad debts  2  7

Other  14  13

ToTaL LoSSES  29  26

Special payments  

Other  17  53

ToTaL LoSSES aNd SpEcIaL payMENTS  46  79

  2011/12 2011/12   
  Total number Total value
  of cases of cases £000

Losses  

Losses of cash due to: Other  21 18

Damage to buildings, property etc. due to: Other  427 10

ToTaL LoSSES  448 28

Special payments  

Other  26 34

ToTaL LoSSES aNd SpEcIaL payMENTS  474 62

N o T E  2 9 . 3  r E c o v E r E d  L o S S E S

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Compensation received from CHCC

N o T E  2 9 . 4  au d I T  F E E S

  2012/13 2011/12
  £000 £000

Fees payable to Trust’s auditors for the audit of the Trust’s annual accounts 48 48

All other non-audit services  1,188 391

ToTaL  1,236 439
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Foundation Trust Directors Remuneration Report

1 aprIL To 31 MarcH 2013 1 aprIL To 31 MarcH 2012

  Salary Benefits in kind Salary Benefits in kind 

 Bands of  
£5,000

To the nearest 
£10

 Bands of  
£5,000

To the nearest 
£10 

c preston (to 16.06.11) Finance Director - - 20-25 1,000

B.cummings Director of Performance 
and Informatics 110-115 - 105-110  -

K.Gordon Chairman 25-30 - 20-25  -

S.Haney Non-executive 5-10 - 5-10  -

N.Harrison (to 31.10.12) Non-executive 5-10 - 5-10  -

p davis (07.07.11-09.03.12) Non-executive - - 5-10 -

G.Hunnam (to 31.12.12) Medical Director 130-135 - 175-180  -

v Holliday (07.07.11-31.03.12) Non-executive 5-10 - 5-10  -

N.vaughan (to 30.09.11) Chief Executive - - 65-70  -

S Green Non-executive 5-10 - 5-10  -

M Henry Director of Operations 120-125 - 115-120  -

j Hillier Non-Executive 5-10 - 5-10  -

j robinson (01.04.11-30.04.11) Non-Executive - - 0-5 -

G wilson Chief Nurse 115-120 - 110-115 -

p wright (From 01.11.11) Chief Executive 150-155 - 60-65 -

F yates (08.08.11-30.11.11) Director of Operations - - 25-30 -

I pinches (12.11.12-31.03.13) Non-executive 0-5 - - -

a Mccallum (1.11.12-31.03.12) Non-executive 0-5 - - -

L.proctor (01.06.12-31.03.13) Director of Strategy and 
Transformation 95-100 - - -

M. Blunt (01.01.13-31.03.13) Medical Director 45-50 - - -

d Stonehouse (From 1.06.2011) Finance Director 120-125 6,460 100-105 4,720



139

o
p

e
r

a
t

in
g

 
 

f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
 r

e
v

ie
w

Foundation Trust Directors Remuneration Report

p E N S I o N  B E N E F I T S

Real increase 
in pension at 

age 60

Real increase in 
pension lump 
sum at age 60

Total accrued 
pension at age 

60 as at 31 
March 2013

Lump sum at 
age 60 related 

to accrued 
pension at 31 
March 2013

Cash equivalent 
transfer value 
at 31 March 

2013

Cash equivalent 
transfer value 
as at 31 March 

2012

Real increase in 
cash equivalent 
transfer value

Employer’s 
contribution 

to stakeholder 
pension

To the nearest     
£2,500

 To the nearest 
£2,500

To the nearest
£5,000

 To the nearest
£5,000

To the nearest 
£1,000 

To the nearest 
£1,000

To the nearest 
£1,000

To the nearest 
£1,000

- - - - - 78 - -

2.5 10 120 90 498 431 67 15

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- -

2.5 5 185 140 906 845 61 15

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

2.5 5 175 130 817 767 48 14

7.5 20 190 145 908 768 140 19

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

- - - - - - - -

5 15 100 90 450 344 89 12

5 10 55 170 997 710 71 6

5 10 155 115 603 540 63 15
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The benefits in kind relate to vehicles provided to Directors.

The remuneration report has been audited.

The Government actuary Department (GAD) factors for the 
calculation of Cash Equivalent Transfer Factors "CETVs") 
assume that benefits are indexed in line with CPI which is 
expected to be lower than RPI, as used previously; this will 
tend to produce lower transfer values.

E L E M E N T S  o F  r E M u N E r aT I o N
Salaries are renewed annually, taking into account 
external market levels and internal comparisons as well as 
individual’s responsibilities and overall performance against 
annually agreed objectives. The chief executive undertakes 
the appraisals of the Executive Directors and the chair 
undertakes the chief executive’s appraisal, the results 
of these appraisals are reported to the Remuneration 
Committee.

The basic salary is paid as a fixed monthly sum.

The chief executive has an element of performance related 
pay, set at up to15% of her annual salary.

p E N S I o N S
All Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the 
NHS Pension Scheme that provides salary-related pension 
benefits on a defined benefit basis.

E M p L oy M E N T  c o N T r ac T S
The policy of the Remuneration Committee is for the 
contracts of employment of Executive Directors to a 
maximum notice period of six months. Each contract 
expires on the pensionable age of the individual, which 
is the normal NHS retirement age, but is subject to 
earlier termination for cause or if notice is given under 
the contract. There is no entitlement to any additional 
remuneration in the event of early termination other than in 
the case of termination on the grounds of redundancy. 

r E M u N E r aT I o N  r E c E I v E d
The remuneration of the Board of Directors appointed or 
leaving during the year is included in respect of their period 
of membership only.    
 
details of remuneration and audited information
Details of Directors’ remuneration for the period ended 31 
March 2013 as set out in the table on pages 138 to 139.

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship 
between the remuneration of the highest paid director 
in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisations workforce. 

The calculation uses the basic salary of each employee, part 
time staff have had their salary grossed up to their full time 
equivalent salary. Agency staff costs have been assumed 
to be 70% staff costs and 30% commission. The staff 
cost element has been grossed up to the annual full time 
equivalent cost and has been included within the data.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in 
The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn NHS Foundation 
Trust in the financial year 2012/13 was £190,000 – 195,000 
(2011/12 £175,000 - £180,000); this was 8.6 (2011/12 7.8) 
times the median remuneration of the workforce, which 
was £22,412.In 2012/13 two members of the workforce 
received remuneration in excess of the highest paid 
director. Remuneration ranged from £4,532 to £243,750.

Both the members of the workforce whom were paid more 
than the highest paid director, were not direct employees 
of the Trust. Their agency rates, when grossed up to an 
annual salary equivalent, were higher than the highest paid 
directors’ salary.

  2012/13 2011/12

Midpoint of banded remuneration  

of highest paid director 

full year effect (£’000)  192,500 177,500

Median total remuneration  24,412 22,676

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 
performance related bonuses, benefits in kind as well 
as severance payments. It does not include employer 
pension contributions, the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions, overtime or shift allowances.

The median and lowest salary cost for the Trust is low 
compared to some other Trusts. This is as a result of the 
Trust not having outsourced non-clinical services, for 
example domestic and catering staff, whom remain our 
employees.   
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As required by HM Treasury per PES(2012)17, the Trust must disclose information regarding “off-payroll” engagements.

Number in place at 31 january 2012 2
Number of new engagements between 23rd 
august and 31 March 2013

2

of which:

Number that have since come on to the payroll 0

Number of new engagements which include 
contractual clauses giving the department the right 
to request assurance in relation to tax & National 
Insurance obligations

2

Number that have been re-negotiated /re-engaged to include 
contractual clauses allowing the Trust to seek assurance as to 
their tax obligations

0
Number for whom assurance has been requested and 
received

0

Number that have been re-negotiated /re-engaged to include 
contractual clauses allowing the Trust to seek assurance as to 
their tax obligations

0
Number for whom assurance has been requested and 
not received 

0

Number that have come to an end 2
Number that have been terminated as a result of 
assurance not received.

0

The Trust has introduced a contract for the provision of services for self-employed contractors. The contract includes 
clauses setting out the contractors obligations in respect of tax and National Insurance.

Chief Executive patricia wright 
28 May 2013



NHS foundation Trust

If you would like to receive a copy of this annual review in a 
different format, eg. Braille, large print, audio or translated, 

please contact Richard Humphries on 01553 613216

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital
Gayton Road, King’s Lynn, PE30 4ET

www.qehkl.nhs.uk
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